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Note on Source Material Used in the Preparation of the Report

(U) Over the course of'the its inquiry into the treatment of detainees in U.S. custody, the
Committee reviewed more than 200,000 pages of classified and unclassified documents,
including detention and interrogation policies, memoranda, electronic communications, training
manuals, and the results of previous investigations into detainee abuse. The majority of those
documents were provided to the Committee by the Department of Defense. The Committee also
reviewed documents provided by the Department of Justice, documents in the public domain, a
small number of documents provided by individuals, and a number of published aecondary
sources including books and articles in popular magazines and scholarly journals.

(U) The Committee interviewed over 70 individuals in connection with its inquiry. Most
interviews were of current or former Department of Defense employees, though the Committee
also interviewed current and/or former employees of the Department of Justice and the Federal
Bureau of Investigation. The Committee issued two subpoenas and held two hearings to take
testimony from subpoenaed witnesses. The Committee also sent written questions to more than
200 individuals, The Committee held public hearings on June 17, 2008 and September 25, 2008,

(U Military personnel referred to in the report are identified by their rank at the time the
events in question took place, :
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Executive Summary

“What sets us apart from our enemies in this fight.. is how we behave. In
‘everything we do, we must observe the standards and values that dictate that we -
treat noncombatants and detainees with dignity and respect. While we are
warriors, we are also all human beings.”

- General David Pelraeus

May 10, 2007

L

(U) The collection of timely and accurate inmtelligence is critical to the safety of 1.S.
personnel deployed abroad and to the security of the American people here at home. The
methods by which we elicit intelligence information from detainees in our custody affect not
only the reliability of that information, but our broeder efforts to win hearts and minds and attract
allies to our side, _

- (U) Al Qaeda and Taliban terrorists are tanght to expect Americans to abuge them, They
are recruited based on false propaganda that says the United States is out to destroy Islam.
Treating detainees harshly only reinforces that distorted view, increases resistance to
coopersation, and ¢reates new enemies. In fact, the April 2006 National Intelligence Estimate
“Trends in Global Terrorism: Implications for the United States” cited “pervasive anti U.S,
sentiment among most Muslims™ as an underlying factor fiseling the spread of the global jihadist
movement. Former Navy General Counsel Alberto Mora testified to the Senate Armed Services
Committee in June 2008 that “there are serving U. S, flag-rank officers who maintain that the first
and second identifiable causes of U.S. combat deaths in Itaq —~ as judged by their effectiveness in
recruiting insurgent fighters mto combat — are, respectively the symbols of Abu Ghraib and
Guantanarno.” ‘

(U) The abuse of detainees in U.S. custody cannot simply be attributed to the actions of
“a few bad apples” acting on their own. The fact is that senior officials in the United States
government solicited information on how to use aggressive techniques, redefined the law to
create the appearance of their legality, and authorized their use against detainees, Those efforts
damaged our ability to collect accurate intelligence that could save lives, strengthened the hand
of our enemies, and compromised our moral suthority. This report is a product of the
Committee’s inquiry into how those unfortunate results came about.
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Presidential Order Opens the Door to Considering Aggressive Techniques (U)

_ (L) On February 7, 2002, President Bush signed a memorandum stating that the Third
Geneva Convention did not apply to the conflict with al Qaeda and concluding that Taliban
detainees were not entitled to prisoner of war status or the legal protections afforded by the Third
Geneva Convention. The President’s order closed off application of Common Article 3 of the
Geneva Conventions, which would have afforded minimum standards for humane treatment, to
al Qaeda or Taliban detainees. While the President’s order stated that, as “a matter of policy, the
United States Armed Forces shall continue to treat detainees humanely and, to the extent
appropriate and consistent with military necessity, in 4 manner consistent with the principles of
the Geneva Conventions,” the decision to replace well established military doctrine, i.e., legal
compliance with the Geneva Conventions, with a policy subject to interpretation, impacted the
treatment of detainees in U.S, custedy. ‘

(U) In December 2001, mors than a month before the President signed his memorandum,
the Department of Defense (DoD) General Counsel’s Office had aiready solicited information on
detainee “exploitation” from the Joint Personne! Recovery Agency (JPRA), an agency whose
expertise was in Yraining American personnel to withstand interrogation techniques considered
illegal under the Geneva Conventions.

(1) JPRA is the DoD agency that oversees military Survival Evasion Resistance and
Escape (SERE) training. During the resistance phase of SERE training, U.S, military personnel
are exposed to physical and psychological pressures (SERE techniques) designed to simulate
conditions to which they might be subject if taken prisoner by enemies that did not abide by the
Geneva Conventions. As one JPRA instructor explained, SERE training is “based on illegal
exploitation (under the rules listed in the 1949 Geneva Convention Relative 1o the Treatment of
Prisoners of War) of prisoners over the lest 50 years.” The techniques used in SERE school,
based, in part, on Chinese Communist techniques used during the Korean war to elicit false
confessions, include stripping students of their clothing, placing them in stress positions, putting
hoods over their heads, disrupting their sleep, treating them like animals, subjecting them to loud
music and flashing lights, and exposing them to extreme temperatures. ¥ can also include face
and body slaps and unti] recently, for some who attended the Navy's SERE school, it included
waterboarding. ' :

(U) Typically, those who play the part of interrogators in SERE school neither are trained
interrogators nor are they qualified to be. Thase role players are not trained to obtain reliable
intelligence information from detainees. Their job is to train our personnel to resist providing
reliable information to our enemics. As the Deputy Commander for the Joint Ferces Command
(JFCOM), JPRA’s higher headquarters, put it: “the expertise of JPRA lies in training persontiel
how to respond and resist interrogations — not in how to conduct interrogations.” Given JPRA's
role and expertise, the request from the DoD General Counsel’s office was unusual. In fact, the
Committee is not aware of any similar request prior to December 2001. But while it may have
been the first, that was not the last time that a senior government official contacted JPRA for
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advice on using SERE methods offensively. In fact, the call from the DoD General Counsel’s
office marked just the beginning of JPRA’s suppart of U.S. govemment interrogation efforts.

Senfor Officials Seek SERE Techniques and Discuss Detainee Interrogations (U)

(U) Beginning in the spring of 2002 and extending for the next two years, JPRA
supported U.S, government efforts to interrogate detainees. During that same period, senior
government officials solicited JPRA’s knowledge and its direct support for interrogations. While
much of the information relating to JPRA’s offensive activities and the influence of SERE
techniques on interrogation policies remains classified, unclassified information provides a
window into the extent of those activities,

(U) JPRA’s Chief of Staff, Lieutenant Colonel Danicl Baumgartner testified thet in late
2001 or early 2002, JPRA conducted briefings of Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) personnel
on detainee resistance, techniques, and informaion on detainee exploitation. ‘

. (U) On April 16, 2002, Dr. Bruce Jessen, the semior SERE psychologist at JPRA,
circulated a draft exploitation plan to JPRA Commander Colonel Randy Moulton and other
senior officials at the agency, The contents of that plan remain classified but Dr. Jessen’s
initistive is indicative of the interest of JPRA’s senior leadership in expanding the agency’s role.

(U) One opportunity came in July 2002. That mounth, DoD Deputy General Counsel for
Inteliigence Richard Shiffrin contactsd JPRA secking information on SERE phiysical pressures
and interrogation techniques that had been used against Americans. Mr. Shiffrin called JPFRA
after discussions with William “Jim” Haynes II, the DoD General Counsel.

(U) In Iate July, JPRA provided the General Counsel’s office with several documents,
ineluding excerpts from SERE instructer lesson plans, a list of phyzical and psychological
pressures uged in SERE resistance training, and & memo from a SERE psychologist assessing the
long-term psychological effects of SERE resistance training on students and the effects of
waterboarding. The list of SERE techniques included such methods as sensory deprivation,
sleep disruption, stress positions, waterboarding, and glapping. It also made reference 1o a
section of the JPRA instructor mamua] that discusses *'coercive pressures,” such as keeping the
tights on at all times, and treating a person like an animal. JPRA’s Chief of Staff, Lieutenant
Colonel Daniel Baumgartner, who spoke with Mr. Shiffiin at the time, thou ght the General
Counsel’s office was asking for the information on exploitation and physical pressures to use,
them in interrogations and he said that JFCOM gave approval to provide the agency the
information. Mr. Shiffrin, the DoD Deputy General Counsel for Intelligence, confirmed that a
purpose of the request was to “reverse engineer” the techniques. Mr. Haynes could not recall
what he did with the information provided by JPRA.

(U) Memos from Lieutenant Colonel Baumgartner to the Office of Secretary of Defense

General Counsel stated that JPRA would “continue to offer exploitation assistance to those
government organizetions charged with the mission of gleaning intelligence from enemy
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detainees,” Lieutenant Colonel Baumgartner testified that he provided another gomnment

agency the samo information he sent to the DoD) General Counsel's office.

" (U) Mr. Haynes was not the only senior official considering new interrogation techniques
for use against detainees. Members of the President’a Cabinet and other senior officials attended
meetings in the White House where apecific interrogation techniques were discussed. Secretary
of State Condoleczza Rice, who was then the Hationnl Security Advisor, said that, “in the spring
of 2002, CIA sought policy approval from the Nationa) Security Council (NSC) to begin an
interrogation program for high-level al-Qaida terrorists.” Secretary Rice said that she asked
Director of Central Intelligence George Tenet to brief NSC Principals on the program and asked
the Attorney General John Ashcroft “personally to review and confirm the Jegal advice prepared
by the Office of Legal Counsel.” She also said that Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld

_participated in the NSC review of the CTA’s program.

(U) Asked whether she attended meetings where SERE training was discussed, Secretary
Rice stated that she recalled being told that U.S. military personnel were subjected in training to
“certain physical and psychological interrogation techniques.” National Security Council (N SC)
Legal Advisor, John Bellinger, said that he was present in meetings “at which SERE training was
discussed.” : :

" Department of Justice Redefines Torture (U)

(U) On August 1, 2002, just a week after JPRA provided the DoD General Counsel’s
office the list of SERE techniques and the memo on the psychological effects of SERE training,
the Department of Justice's Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) issued two legal opinions. The
opinions were issued after consultation with senfor Administration attorneys, including then-
White House Counsel Alberto Gonzales and then-Counsel to the Vice President David
Addington. Both memos were signed by then-Assistant Attomey General for the Office of Legal
Counsel Jay Bybee. One opinion, commonly known as the first Bybee memo, was addressed to
Judge Gonzales and provided OLC’8 opinicn on standards of conduct in interrogation required
under the federal torture statute. That memo concluded:

[Flor an act to constitute torture as defined in [the federal torture statute], it must
inflict pain-that is difficult to endure. Physics! pain amounting to torture must be
equivalent in intensity to the pain accompanying serious physical injury, guch as
organ failure, impairment of bodily function, or even death. For purely menial
pain or suffering to amount to torture under [the federal torture statute], it must
result in significant psychological harm of significant duration, e.g., lasting for
months Or éven years. ‘

(U) In his book The Terror Presidency, Jack Goldsmith, the former Assistant Attorney
Gengral of the OLC who succeeded Mr, Bybes in that job, described the memo's conclusions:
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Violent acts 'ara_:'x’t necessarily torture; if you do torture, you probably have a
defense; and even if you don’t have a defense, the torture law doesn™t apply if you
act under the color of presidential authority.

(U} The other OLC opinion issued on Augnst 1, 2002 is known commonly as the Second
Bybee memo. That opinjon, which responded to a request from the C1A, addressed the legality
of specific interrogation tactics. While the firll list of techniques remains classified, a publicly
released CIA document indicates that waterboarding was among those analyzed and approved.
CIA Director General Michael Hayden stated in public testimony before the Senate Intelligence
Committee on February 5, 2008 that waterboarding was used by the CIA. And Steven Bradbury,
the current Assistant Attorney General of the OLC, testified before the House Judiciary :
Committee on February 14, 2008 that the CIA’s use of waterboarding was “adapted from the

SERE training program.”

{U) Before drafting the opinions, Mr. Yoo, the Deputy Assistant Attorney General for the
OLC, had met with Alberto Gonzales, Counsel to the President, and David Addington, Counsal
to the Vice President, to discuss the subjects he intended to address in the opinions. In testimony
before the House Judiciary Committee, Mr. Yoo refused to say whether or not he ever discussed
or received information about SERE techniques 25 the memos were being drafted. When asked
whether he had discussed SERE techniques with Judge Gonzales, Mr. Addington, Mr. Yoo, Mr.
Rizzo or other senior administration lawyers, DoD General Counsel Jim Haynes testified that he
“did discuss SERE techniques with other people in the administration.” NSC Legal Advisor
John Bellinger said that “some of the legal analyses of proposed interrogation techniques that
were prepared by the Department of Justice... did refer to the psychological effects of resistance
minins'"

(U) In fact, Jay Bybee the Assistant Attorney General who signed the two OLC legal
opinions said that he kaw an assessment of the psychological effects of military resistance
training in July 2002 in meetings in his office with Jobn Yoo and two other OLC attorneys.
Judge Bybee said that he used that assessment to inform the Augnst 1, 2002 OLC legat opinion
that has yet to be publicly released. Judge Bybee also recalled discussing detainee interrogations
in 4 meeting with Attorney General John Ashcroft and John Yoo in late July 2002, prior to
signing the OLC opinions. Mr. Bellinger, the NSC Legal Advisor, said that “the NSC's
Principals reviewed CIA’s proposed program on several occasions in 2002 and 2003” and that he
“expressed concern that the proposed CIA interrogation techniques comply with applicable U.S.
law, including our international obligations ™

JPRA and CTA Inﬂuenee Department of Defense Interrogation Policies (U)

| (U) As scnior government lawyers were preparing to redefine torture, JPRA — responding
10 a request from U.S. Southern Command’s Joint Task Force 170 (JTF-170) at Guantanamo Bay
(GTMO) ~ was finalizing plans to train JTF-170 personnel. During the week of September 16,
2002, a group of interrogators and behavioral scientists from GTMO travelled to Fort Bragg,
North Carolina and aftended training conducted by instructors frorn JPRA’s SERE school, On
September 25, 2002, just days afier GTMO staff returned from that training, a delegation of
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senior Administration lawyers, including Mr. Haynes, Mr. Rizzo, and Mr. Addington, vigited
GTMO.

(U) A week afler the visit from those seaior lawyers, two GTMO behavioral scientists
who had attended the JPRA-led training at Fort Bragg drafted a memo proposing new
interrogation techniques for use at GTMO. According to one of those two behavioral scientists,
by early October 2002, there was “increasing pressure to et “tougher” with detainee
interrogations.” He added that if the interrogation policy memio did not contain coercive
techniques, then it “wasn't going to go very far.”

(U) JPRA was not the only outside organization that provided advice to GTMO on
agpressive techniques, On October 2, 2002, Jonathan Fredman, who was chief counsel to the
CIA’s CounterTerrorist Center, attended a meeting of GTMO staff, Minutes of that meeting
indicate that it was dominated by a discussion of aggressive interrogation techniques including
sleep deprivation, death threats, and waterboarding, which was discussed in relation to its use in
SERE training. Mr. Fredman's advice to GTMO on applicable legal obligations was similar to
the analysis of those abligations in OLC's first Bybee memo. According to the meeting minutes,
Mr. Fredman said that “the language of the statutes is written vaguely... Severe physical pain
described as anything causing permanent damage to major organs or body parts. Mental torture
[is] described as anything leading to permanent, profound damage to the senses or personality.”
Mr, Fredman said simply, “Tt is basically subject to perception. If the detainee dies you're doing
it wrong.”

(U) On October 11, 2002, Major General Michael Dunlavey, the Commander of JTF-170
at Guantanamo Bay, sent 2 memo to General James Hill, the Commander of U.S, Southern
Command (SOUTHCOM) requesting authority to use aggressive interrogation techniques.
Several of the techmiques requested were similar to techniques used by JPRA and the military
services in SERE training, including stress positions, exploitation of detainee fears (such as fear
of dogs), removal of clothing, hooding, deprivation of light and sound, and the so-called wet
towe] trestment or the waterboard. Some of the techniques were even referred to as “those used
in 11.8. military interrogation resistance training.” Lieutenant Colonsl Diane Beaver, GTMO’s
Staff Judge Advocate, wrote an analysis justifying the legality of the techniques, though she
expected that a broader legal review conducted at more senior levels would follow her own. On
October 25, 2002, General Hill forwarded the GTMO request from Major General Dunlavey to
General Richard Myers, the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. Days later, the Joint Staff
solicited the views of the military services on the request, '

(U) Plans to use aggressive interrogation techniques generated concerns by some at
GTMO. The Deputy Commander of the Department of Defense’s Criminal Investigative Task
Force (CITF) at GTMO told the Committee that SERE techniques were “developed to better
prepare U.S. military personnel to resist interrogations and not as a means of obtaining reliable
information” and that “CITF was troubled with the rationale that techniques used to harden
resistance to interrogations would be the basis for the utilization of techniques to obtain
information.” Concerns were not limited to the effectiveness of the techniques in obtaining
reliable information; GTMO's request gave rise to significant legal concerns as well,
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Military Lawyers Raise Red Flags and Joint Staff Review Quashed (U)

(U) In early November 2002, in 2 series of memos responding to the Joint Staff's call for
comments on GTMO’s request, the military services identified serious legal concerns about the
techniques and called for additional analysis.

(L) The Air Force cited “serious concerns regarding the Jegality of many of the proposed
techniques” and stated that “techniques described may be subject to challenge as failing to meet
the requirements outlined in the m:lrtary order fo treat detainees humanely...” The Air Force
also called for an in depth legal review of the request.

(L) CITF's Chief Legal Advisor wrote that certain techmiques in GTMO’s October 11,
2002 request “may subject service members to punitive articles of the [Uniform Code of Military
Justice],” called “the utility and legality of applying certain techniques” in the request
“queatmnabla," and stated that he could not “advocate any action, interrogation or otherwise, that
is predicated upon the principle that all is well if the ends justify the means and others are not
aware of how we conduct our business.”

(U) The Chief of the Army’s Imternational and Operational Law Division wrote that
techniques like stress positions, deprivation of light and auditory stimuli, and use of phobias to
induce siress “crosses the line of ‘humane’ treatment,” would “likely be considered
maltreatment™ under the UCMYJ, and “may violate the torture siatute.” The Army labeled
GTMO’s request “lepally insufficient” and called for additional review.

(U) The Navy recommended a “more detailed interagency legal and policy review” of the
request. And the Marine Corps expressed strong reservations, statmg that several techniques in
the request “arguably violate federal law, and would expose our service members to possible
prosecution.” The Marine Corps also said the request was not “legally sufficient,” and like the
other services, called for “a more thorough legal and policy review.”

(U) Then-Captain (now Rear Admiral) Jane Dalton, Legal Counsel o the Chairman of
the Joint Chiefs of Staff, said that her staff discussed the military services’ concerns with the
DoD General Counsel’s Office at the time and that the DoD General Counsel Jim Haynes was
aware of the services’ concerns. Mr, Haynes, on the other hand, testified that he did not know
that the memos from the military services existed (a statement he later qualified by stating that he
was not sure he knew they existed). Elians Davidson, the DoD Associate Deputy General
Counse] for International Affairs, said that she told the General Counsel that the GTMO request
needed further assessment, Mr. Haynes did not recall Ms. Davidson telling him that.

(U) Captain Dalton, who was the Chairman’s Legal Counsel, said that she had her own
concerns with the GTMO request and directed her staffto initiate a thorough legal and policy

review of the techniques. That review, however, was cut short. Captain Dalton said that General
Myers retuned from a meeting and advised her that Mr. Haynes wanted her to stop her review,
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in part because of concerns that people were going to see the GTMO request and the military
services’ analysis of it. Neither General Myers nor Mr. Haynes recalled cutting short the Dalton
review, though neither has challenged Captain Dalton’s recollection. Captain Dalton testified
that this occasion marked the only time she had ever been told to stop analyzing a request that
came to her for review. : :

Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld Approves Agpressive Technigues (U)

(U) With respect to GTMO’s October 11, 2002 request to use aggressive interrogation
techniques, Mr. Haynes said that “there was a sense by the DoD Leadership that this decision
was taking too long” and that Secretary Rumsfeld told his senior advigsors “I need a
recoppmendation.” On November 27, 2002, the Secretary got one. Notwithstanding the serious
legal concerns raised by the military services, Mr. Haynes sent  one page memo to the
Secretary, recommending that he approve all but three of the eighteen techniques in the GTMO
request. Techniques such as siress positions, removal of clothing, use of phobias (such as fear of
dogs), and deprivation of light and auditory stimuli were all recommended for approval.

(U) Mr. Haynes’s memo indicated that he had discussed the issue with Deputy Secretary
of Defense Panl Wolfowitz, Under Secretary of Defense for Policy Doug Feith, and General
Myers and that he believed they concurred in his recommendation. When asked what he relied
on fo make his recommendation that the aggressive techniques be approved, the only written
legal opinion Mr. Haynes cited was Lieutenant Colonel Beaver's legal analysis, which senior
military lawyers had considered “legally insufficient” and “woefully inadequate,” and which
LTC Beaver herself had expected would be supplemented with a review by persons with greater
experience than her own.

(U) On December 2, 2002, Sectetary Rumsfeld signed Mr. Haynes’s recommendation,
adding a handwritten note that referred to limits proposed in the memo on the use of stress
positions; *I stand for 8-10 hours a day. Why is standing limited fo 4 hours?”

(U) SERE school techniques are designed to simulate abusive tactics used by our
enemics. There are fundamental differences between a SERE school exercise and a real world
interrogation. At SERE school, students are subject to an extensive medical and psychological
pre-screening prior to being subjected to physical and psychological pressures, The schools
impose strict limits on the frequency, duration, and/or intensity of certain techniques.
Pgychologisis are present throughout SERE training to intervene should the need arise and to
help students cope with associated stress. And SERE school is voluntary; students are even
gl;ven a special phrase they can use to immediately stop the techniques from being used against

&m. .

(U) Neither those differences, nor the serious legal concerns that had been registered,
stopped the Secretary of Defense from approving the use of the aggressive techniques against

detainess. Moreover, Secretary Rumsfeld authorized the techniques without apparently
providing any written guidance as to how they should be administered.
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' SERE Techniques at GTMO (U)

(U) Following the Secretary’s December 2, 2002 authorization, senior staff at GTMO
began druﬂ:mg a Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) specifically for the use of SERE
' techmques in interrogations. The draft SOP itself stated that *The pmmse behind this is that the
interrogation tactics used at U.S. military SERE schools are appropriate for use in real-world
interrogations. These tactics and techniques are used at SERE school to ‘break’ SERE detainees.
The same tactics and techniques can be used to break real detainees during inIerrogation." The
draft “GTMO SERE SOP" described how to slap, strip, and place detainees in stress positions, It
also described other SERE techniques, such as “hooding,” “manhandlmg. and “walling”
detainees,

(U) On December 30, 2002, two instructors from the Navy SERE school arrived at
GTMO. The next day, in a session with approximately 24 interrogation personnel, the two
SERE instructors demonstrated how to administer stress positions, and various slapping
techniques. According to two interrogators, those who attended the training even broke off into
pairs to practice the techniques.

(U) Exemnplifying the disturbing nature and substance of the training, the SERE
instructors explained “Biderman’s Principles” - which were based on coercive methods used by
the Chinese Commnunist dictatorship to elicit false confessions from U.S. POWs during the
Korean War — and left with GTMO personne] a chart of those coercive techniques. Three days
after they conducted the training, the SERE instructors met with GTMO’s Commander, Major
Greneral Geoffrey Miller. Accordmg to some who attended that meeting, Major General Miller
stated that he did not want his interrogators using the techniques that the Navy SERE instructors
had demonstrated, That conversation, however, took place after the training had already
occurred and not all of the interrogators who attended the training got the message,

(U) At about the same time, & dispute over the use of agpressive techniques was raging at
GTMO over the interrogation of Mohammed al-Khateni, a high value detainee. Personnel from
CITF and the Federal Bureau of Investigations (FBI) had registered strong opposition, 10
interrogation techniques proposed for use.on Khatani and made those concerns known o the
DoD General Counsel’s office. Despite those objections, an interrogation plan that included
aggressive techniques was approved. The interrogation itself, which actually began on
November 23, 2002, a weck before the Secretary’s December 2, 2002 grant of blanket authority
forthe use of aggressive techniques, continued through December and into mid-January 2003,

(U) NSC Legal Advisor John Bellinger said that, on mwal occasions, Deputy Assistant
Attorney General Bruce Swartz raised concerns with him about allegations of detainee abuse at
GTMO. Mr. Bellinger said that, in turn, he raised these concerns “on several occasions with
DoD officials and was told that the allegations were being investigated by the Naval Criminal
Investigative Service,” Then-National Security Advisor Condoleezza Rice said that Mr.
Bellinger also advised her “on a regular bagis regarding concerns and issues relating to DoD
detention policies and practices at Guantanamo,” She said that as a result she convened 2 “series
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of meetings of NSC Principals in 2002 and 2003 to discuss various issues and concerns relating
io detainses in the custody of the Department of Defense.”

(U) Between mid-December 2002 and mid-January 2003, Navy General Counsel Alberto
Mora spoke with the DoD General Counsel three times to express hig concerng about
interrogation techniques at GTMO, at one point telling Mr. Haynes that he thought techniques
(hat had been authorized by the Secretary of Defense #oould rise fo the level of torture.” On
Japuary 15, 2003, having received no word that the Secretary’s authority would be withdrawn,
Mr. Mora went so far as to deliver a draft memo to Mr. Haynes’s office memorializing his legal
concerns about the techniques. In a subsequent phone call, Mr. Mora told Mr. Haynes he would
sign his memo later that day unless he heard definitively that the use of the techniques was
suspended. In a meeting that same day, Mr. Haynes told Mr. Mora that the Secretary would
rescind the techniques. Secretary Rumsfeld signed a memo rescinding authority for the
techniques on January 15, 2003.

(U) That same day, GTMO suspended its use of aggressive techniques on Khatani.
While key documents relating to the interrogation remain classified, published accourits indicate
that military working dogs had boen used against Khatani. He had also been deprived of
adequate sleep for weeks on end, stripped naked, subjected to loud music, and made to wear a
leash and perform dog tricks, Ina June 3, 2004 press briefing, SOUTHCOM Commander
General James Hill traced the source of techniques used on Khatani back to SERE, stating: “The
gtafF at Guantanamo working with behavioral scientists, having gone up to our SERE school and
developed a list of techniques which our lawyers Jecided and looked at, said were OK." General
Hill said “we began to use a few of those tachniques ... on this individual...”

(U) On May 13, 2008, the Pentagon anounced in a written statement that the Convening
Authority for military commissions u dismissed without prejudice the sworn charges against
Mohamed al Khatani.” The statement does not indicate the role his treatment may have played
in that decision.

DoD Working Group Ignores Military Lawyers and Relies on OLC (U)

(U) On January 15, 2003, the same day he rescinded authority for GTMO to use
aggressive techniques, Secretary Rumafeld directed the establishment of 2 *Working Group™to
review interrogation techniques. For the next few months senior military and civilian lawyers
tried, without success, to have their conoerns about the legality of aggressive techniques reflected
in the Working Group’s report. Their arguments were rejected in favor of a legal opinion from
the Department of Justice’s Office of Legal Counsel’s (OLC) Johm Yoo, Mr. Yoo's opinion, the
final version of which was dated March 14, 2003, had been requested by Mr. Haynes at the
initiation of ths Working Group process, and repeated much of what the first Bybec memo had
said six months earlier.

(U) The first Bybee memo, dated August 1, 2002, had concluded that, to violate the

fedmtll torture statute, physical pain that resulted from an act would have to be “equivalent in
intensity to the pain accompanying serious physical injury, such as organ failure, impajrment of
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bodily funetion, or even death.” Mr. Yoo's March 14, 2003 memo stated that criminal laws,
such as the federal torture statute, would not apply to certain military interrogations, and that
interrogators could not be prosecuted by the Justice Department for using mterrogntmn methods
that would otherwise violate the law, .

(U) Though the final Working Group report does not specifically mention SERE, the list
of interrogation techniques it evaluated and recormmended for approval suggest the influence of
SERE. Removal of clothing, prolonged standing, sleep deprivation, dietary manipulation,
hooding, increasing anxiety throngh the use of a detainee’s aversions like dogs, and face and
stomach slaps were all recommended for approval.

(U} On April 16, 2003, less than two weeks after the Working Group completed its
report, the Secretary authorized the use of 24 specific interrogation techniques for use at GTMO.
While the authorization included such techniques as dietary manipulation, environmental
manipulation, and sleep adjustment, it was silent on rany of the techniques inthe Working
Group report.  Secretary Rumsfeld’s memo said, however, that “If, in your view, you require
additional interrogation techniques for a particular detainee, you should provide me, via the
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, a wriiten request describing the proposed technique,
recommended safeguards, and the rationale for applying it with an identified detainee.”

(L)) Just a few months later, one such request for “‘additional interrogation techniques”
arrived on Secretary Rumsfeld’s desk, The detainee was Mohamedou Ould Slahi. While
documents relating to the interrogation plan for Slahi remain classified, a May 2008 report from
the Department of Justice Inspector General includes declassified mformation suggesting the
plan included hooding Slahi and subjecting him to sensory deprivation and “sleep adjustment.”
The Inspector General’s report says that an FBI agent who saw & draft ofthe interrogation plan
said it was similar to Khatani's ipterrogation plan. Secretary Rumsfeld approved the Slahi plan
on August 13, 2003. '

Aggressive Techniques Authorized in Afghanistan and Irag (1)

(U) Shortly after Secretary Rumsfeld's December 2, 2002 approval of his General
Counsel’s recommendation to authorize aggressive interrogation techniques, the techniques —
and the fact the Secretary had authorized them — became known 1o interrogators in Afghanistan.
A copy of the Secretary’s memo was sent ﬁ_'om GTMO 1o Afghanistan. Captain Carolyn Wood,
the Officer in Charge of the Intelligence Section at Bagram Airfield in Afghanistan, said that in
January 2003 she saw a power point presentation listing the aggresswe techniques that had been
anthorized by the Secretary.

(L) Despite the Secretary’s January 15, 2003 rescission of authority for GTMO to use
aggressive techniques, his initial approva! six weeks earhm' continued to influence interrogation
policies.

(LD On January 24, 2003, nine day.s after Secretary Rumefeld rescinded avthority for the
techniques at GTMO, the Steff Judge Advocate for Combined Joint Task Force 180 (CJTF-180),
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1J.8. Central Command’s (CENTCOM) conventional forces in Afghanistan, produced an
“Interrogation techniques” memo. While that memo remains classified, unclassified portions of
a report by Major General Georgs Fay stated that the memo “recommended removal of clothing
-~ a technique that had been in the Secretary’s December 2 authorization™ and discussed
“gxploiting the Arab fear of dogs” another technique approved by the Secretary on December 2,
2002, '

(U) From Afghanistan, the techniques made their way to Iraq. According to the
Department of Defense (DoD) Inspector General (1G), at the beginning of the Iraq war, special
mission unit forces in fraq “vsed a Janvary 2003 Standard Operating Procedure (S8OF) which had
been developed for operations in Afghanistan.” According to the DoD IG, the Afghanistan SOP
had been:

([influenced by the counter-resistance memorandum that the Secretary of Defense
approved on December 2, 2002 and -incorporated techniques designed for
detainecs who were identified as unlawfil combatants. Subsequent battlefield
interrogation SOPs included techniques such as yelling, loud music, and light
confrol, environmental manipulation, sleep deprivation/adjustment, stress
positions, 20-hour interrogations, and controlled fear (muzzled dogs)...

(U) Techniques approved by the Secretary of Defense in December 2002 reflect the
influence of SERE, And not only did those techniques make their way into official interrogation
policies in Iraq, but instructors from the JPRA SERE school followed. The DoD 1G reported that
in Septernber 2003, at the request of the Commandet of the Special Mission Unit Task Force,
JPRA deployed a team to Iraq to assist interrogation-operations, During that trip, which was
explicitly approved by U.S. Joint Forces Command, JPRA’s higher headquarters, SERE
instructors were authorized to participate in the interrogation of detainees in U.S. military
custody using SERE techniques.

(U) In September 2008 testimany before the Senate Armed Services Committee, Colonel
Steven Kleinman, an Air Force Reaervist who was a member of the interrogation support team
sent by JPRA to the Special Mission Unit Task Force in Iraq, described abusive intervogations he
witnessed, and intervened to stop, during that trip. Colonel Kleinman said that one of those
interrogations, which took place in a room painted all in black with a spotlight on the detainee,
the interrogator repeatedly slapped a detaince who was kneeling on the floor in front of the
interrogator. In another interrogation Colonel Kleinman said the two other members of the
JPRA team took a hooded detainee to a bunker at the Task Force facility, forcibly stripped him
nakad and left him, shackled by the wrist and ankles, to stand for 12 hours. ‘

(U) Interrogation techniques used by the Special Mission Unit Task Force eventually
made their way into Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) issued for all U.8. forces in Iraq. In
the summer of 2003, Captain Wood, who by that time was the Interrogation Officer in Charge at
Abu Ghraib, obtained a copy of the Special Mission Unit interrogation policy and submitted it,
virtually unchanged, to her chain of command as proposed poliey.

UNCLASSIFIED

xxiil



UNCLASSIFIED

(L) Captain Wood snbmitted her proposed policy around the same time that a message
was being conveyed that imterrogators should be more aggressive with detainees. In mid-August
2003, an email from staff at Combined Joint Task Force 7 (CITF-7) headquarters in Iraq
requested that subordinate units provide input for a ‘wish list” of interrogation techniques, stated
that “the gloves are coming off.” and said “we want these detainees broken,” Atthe end of
August 2003, Major General Geoffrey Miller, the GTMO Comsmander, led  teanyto Iraq to
assess interrogation and detention operations. Colonel Thomas Pappas, the Commander of the
205 Military Intelligence Brigade, who met with Major General Miller during that visit, said
that the tenor of the discussion was that “we had to get tougher with the detainees,” A Chief
Warrant Officer with the Iraq Survey Group (18G) said that during Major Generel Miller’s tour
 of the 18Gs facility, Major General Miller said the ISG was “running 8 country club” for
detainees. ‘ ‘

(U) On September 14, 2003 the Commander of CITF-7, Lieutenant General Ricardo
Sanchez, issued the first CITF-7 interrogation SOP. That SOP authorized interrogators in Iraq to
use stross positions, environmental manipalation, sleep management, and military working dogs
in interrogations, Lisutenam General Sanchez issued the September 14, 2003 policy with the
knowledge that there were ongoing discussions about the legality of some of the approved
techniques. Respondingto legal concerns from CENTCOM lawyers about those techniques,
Lieutenant General Sanchez issued 8 new policy on October 12, 2003, eliminating many of the
proviously authorized aggressive techniques, The new palicy, however, contained ambiguitics
with respect to certain techniques, cuch a8 the use of dogs in interrogations, and led to confusion
about which techniques were permitted. '

(U) In his report of his investigation into Abu Ghraib, Major General George Fay said
 that interrogation techniques developed for GTMO became “confused” and were implemented at
Abu Ghraib. For example, Major General Fay said that removal of clothing, while not included
in CJTF-7's SOP, was “imported” to Abu Ghraib, could be “raced through Afghanistan and
GTMO,” and contributed to an environment at Abu Ghraib that appeared “10 oondonie depravity
and degradstion rather than humane ireatment of detainees.” Major Qeneral Fay said that the
policy approved by the Secretary of Defense on December 2, 2002 contributed to the uge of
aggressive interrogation techniques at Abu Ghraib in late 2003. :

OLC Withdraws Legal Opinion - JRCOM Jssues Guidance on JPRA “Offensive” Support

(U) As the everts at Abu Ghraib wers unfolding, Jack Goldsmith, the new Assistant Attomey
General for the Office of Legal Counsel was presented with a “short stack™ of OLC opinions that
were described to him as problematic. Included in that short stack were the Bybee memos of
Angust 1, 2002 and Mr. Yoo's memo of March 2003. _After reviewing the memos, Mr,
Goldsmith decided to rescind both the so-called first Bybee memo and Mr. Yoo's memo. In late
December 2003, Mr. Goldsmith notified Mr. Haynes that Do could no longer rely on Mr.
Yoo's memo in determining the lawfulness of interrogation techniques. The change in OLC
gnidance, however, did not keep JPRA from making plans to continue their support to
interrogation operations. In fact, it is not clear that the agency was even aware of the change.
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(U) In 2004, JPRA and CENTCOM took steps to send aJ PRA training team to
Afghanistan to assist in detainee interrogations there, In the wake of the public disclosure of
detainee abuse at Abu Ghraib, however, that trip was cancelled and JFCOM subsequently issued
policy guidance limiting JFRA’s support to interrogations. _

(U) On September 29, 2004 Major General James Soligan, JFCOM’s Chief of Staff

issued a memorandum referencing JPRA's support to interrogation operations. Major General
Soligan wrote: :

Recent requests from [the Office of the Secretary of Defense] and the Combatant
Commands have solicited JPRA support based on knowledge and information
gained through the debriefing of former U.S. POWs and detainees and their
application to U.S. Strategic debriefing and interrogation techniques. These
requests, which can be characterized as ‘offensive’ support, g0 beyond the
chartered responsibilities of JPRA... The use of resistance to interrogation’
knowledge for “offensive’ purposes lies outside the roles and responsibilities of
JPRA. |

(U) Lieutenant General Robert Wagner, the Deputy Commander of JFECOM, later called
requests for JPRA interrogation support wioconsistent with the unit’s charter” and said that such
requests “might create conditions which tasked JPRA to engage in offensive operational
activities outside of JPRA’s defensive mission.” :

(U) Interrogation policies endorsed by senior military and civilian officials authorizing
the use of harsh interrogation techniques were a major cause of the abuse of detainees in U.S.
custody. The impact of those abuses has been significant. Ina 2007 international BBC poll,
only 29 percent of people around the world said the United States is a generally positive
influence in the world. Abu Ghraib and Guantanamo have a lot to do with that perception. The
fact that America is seen in a negativé light by so many complicates our ability to aitract allies to
our side, strengthens the hand of our enemies, and reduces our ability to collect intelligence that
can save lives. .

(U) It is particularly troubling that senior officials approved the use of interrogation
techniques that were originally designed to simulate abusive tactics used by our enemies against
our own soldiers and that were modeled, in part, on tactics used by the Communist Chinese 10
elicit false confessions from U.S. military personnel. While some argue that the brutality and
disregard for human life shown by al Qaeda and Taliban terrorists justifics us treating them
 harshly, General David Peiracus explained why that view is misguided. Ina May 2007 letier to
his troops, General Petracus said “Our values and the laws governing warfare teach us to respect
human dignity, maimain our integrity, and do what is right. Adherence to our values
distinguishes us from our enemy. This fight depends on securing the population, which must
understand that we - not our enemies - occupy the moral high ground.”
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Senate Armed Services Committee Conclnsfons

Conclusion 1: On February 7, 2002, President George W. Bush made a written determination
that Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions, which would have afforded minitmim
standards for humane treatment, did not apply to al Qaeda or Taliban detainees. Following the
President’s determination, techniques such as waterboarding, udity, and stress positions, used in
SERE training to simulate tactics used by enemies that refuse to follow the Geneva Conventions,
were authorized for use in interrogations of detainees in U.8. custody. |

Conclusion 2: Members of the President’s Cabinet and other serior officials participated in
meetings inside the White House in 2002 and 2003 where specific interro gation techniques were
discussed. National Security Council Principals reviewed the CIA’s interrogation program
during that period. |

Conclusions on SERE Training Technigues and Interrogations

Conclusion 3: The use of techniques gimilar to those used in SERE resistance training — such

as stripping stadents of their clothing, placing them in stress positions, putting hoods over their
heads, and treating them {ike animals — was at odds with the commitment to humane treatment of
detainees in U.S. custody. Using those techniques for interrogating detainees was also
inconsistent with the goal of collecting accurate intelligence information, as the purpose of SERE
resistance training is to increase the ability of U.S. personnel to resist abusive interrogations and
the techniques used were based, in part, on Chinese Communist techhiques used during the
Korean War to elicit false confessions.

Conclusion 4: The use of techniques in interrogations derived from SERE resistance traiming
created a serious risk of physical and psychological harmto detainees. The SERE schools
employ strict controls to reduce the risk of physical and psychological harm to stadents during
training. Those controls include medical and peychological screening for students, interventions
by trained psychologists during training, and code words to ensure that students can stop the
application of a technique at any time should the need arise. Those same controls are not present
in real world interrogations. |

Conclusions on Senlor Offigls) Consideration of SERE Techplques for Interpogations

Conclusion 5: In July 2002, the Office of the Secretary of Defense General Counsel solicited
information from the Joint Persommel Recovery Agency (JPRA) on SERE techniques for use
during interrogations. That solicitation, prompied by requests from Department of Defense
General Counsel William J. Haynes I, reflected the view that abusive tactics similar to those
used by our enemies should be considered for use against detainees in U.S, custody.

Conclusion 6: The Central Intelligence Agency’s (CIA) interrogation program included at least
one SERE training tecimique, waterboarding. Senior Administration lawyers, including Alberto
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Gonzales, Counsel to the President, and David Addington, Counsel to the Vice President, were
consulted on the development of legal analysis of CIA interrogation techniques. Legal opinions
subsequently issued by the Department of Justice’s Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) intetpreted
legal obligations under U.S. anti-torture laws and determined the legality of CIA interrogation
techniques. Those OLC opinions distorted the meaning and intent of anti-torture laws,
rationalized the abuse of detainees in U.8. custody and influenced Department of Defense
determinations as to what interrogation technicques were legal for use during interrogations
conducted by U.S. military personnel.-

Concl on JPRA Offensive Activh

Conclusion 7: Joint Personnel Recovery Agency (JPRA) efforts in support of **offensive”
interrogation operations went beyond the agency’s kniowledge and expentise. JPRA’s support to
U.S. government inferrogation efforts contributed to detainee abuse. JPRA's offensive support
also influenced the development of policies that authorized abusive interrogation techniques for
use against detainees in U.8. custody.

Conclusion 8: Detainee abuse occurred during JPRA’s support to Special Mission Unit (SMU)
Task Force (TF) interrogation operations in Traq in September 2003. JPRA Commander Colone] .
Randy Moulton’s authorization of SERE inatructors, who had no experience in detainee.
inmerrogations, to actively participate in Task Force interrogations using SERE resistance training -
techniques was a serious failure in judgment. The Special Mission Unit Task Force
Commander’s failure to order that SERE resistance training techniques not be used in detainee
interrogations was a serious failure in leadership that led to the abuse of detainees in Task Force
custody. Iraq is a Geneva Convention theater and techniques used in SERE school are
inconsistent with the obligations of U.8. personne] under the Geneva Conventions.

Conclusion 9: Combatant Command requests for JPRA “offensive” interrogation support and
U.S. Joint Forces Command (JFCOM) authorization of that support led 1o JPRA operating
outside the agency’s charter and beyond its expertise. Only when JFCOM’s Staff Judge
Advocate became aware of and raised concerns about JPRA’s support to offensive interrogation
operations in late September 2003 did JFCOM leadership begin to take steps to curtail JFRA’s
woffensive™ activities. It was not until September 2004, however, that JFCOM issued a formal
policy stating that support to offensive interrogation operations was outside JPRA’s charter.

Conclusions on GTMO's Reqnest for Aggressive Techniques

Conclusion 10: Interrogation techniques in Guantanamo Bay’s (GTMO) October 11, 2002
request for authority submitted by Major General Michael Dunlavey, were influenced by JPRA
training for GTMO interrogation personnel and included tschniques similar to those used in
'SERE training to teach U.S. personnel to resist abusive cnemy interrogations, GTMO Staff
Judge Advocate Lieutenant Colonel Diane Beaver's legal review justifying the October 11, 2002
GTMO request was profoundly in error and legally insufficient. Leadets at GTMO, including
Major General Dunlavey’s successar, Major General Geoffrey Miller, ignored warnings from
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DoD’s Criminal Investigative Task Force and the Federal Bureaw of Investigation that the
techniques were potentially unlawful and that their use would strengthen detainee resistance.

Concluston 11: Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff General Richard Myers's decision to aut
short the Jegal and policy review of the October 11, 2002 GTMO request initiated by his Legal
Counsel, then-Captain Jane Dalion, undermined the military’s review process. Subsequent
conchusions reached by Chairman Myers and Captain Dalton regarding the legality of
interrogation techniques in the request followed & grossly deficient review and were at odds with
conclusions previously reached by the Army, Air Force, Marine Corps, and Criminal
Investigative Task Force. . :

Conclusion 12; Department of Defense General Counsel William J. Haynes 1I's effort to cut
ghort the legal and policy review of the October 11, 2002 GTMO request initiated by then-
Captain Jane Dalton, Legal Counsel to the Chatrman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, was
inappropriate and undermined the military’s review process. The General Counsel’s subsequent
review was grossly deficient. Mr. Haynes's one page recommendation to Secretary of Defense
Donald Rumsfeld failed to address the serious legal concerns that had been previously raised by
the militery services about techniques in the GTMO request. Further, Mr. Haynes's reliance on a
legal memo produced by GTMO’s Staff Judge Advocate that senior military fawyers called
“Jegalty insufficient” and uwoefitlly inadequate” is deeply troubling.

Conclusion 13: Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld’s authorization of aggressive
interrogation techniques for use at Guantanamo Bay was & direct cause of detainee abuse there.
Secretary Rumsfeld’s December 2, 2002 approval of Mr. Haynes’s recommendstion that most of
the techniques contained in GTMO's October 11, 2002 request be authorized, influenced and
contributed 1o the use of abusive techniques, including military working dogs, forced mudity, and
stress positions, in Afghanistan and Iraq.

Conclusion 14: Department of Defense General Counsel William J. Haynes I1's direction to the
of Defense’s Detainee Working Group in early 2003 to consider a legal memo from

John Yoo of the Department of Justice’s OLC as authoritative, blocked the Working Group from
conducting a fair and complete legal analysis and resulted in a report that, in the words of then-

at of the Navy General Counsel Alberto Mora contained “profound mistakes in its
legal analysis.” Reliance on the OLC memo resulted in a final Working Group report that
recommended approval of several aggressive techriques, including removal of clothing, sleep
deprivation, and slapping, similer to those used in SERE training to teach U.8. personnel to resist
abusive interrogations.

Copclusions on Interrogations in Irag and AM.

Conclusion 15: Special Mission Unit (SMU) Task Force (TF) interrogation policies were
influenced by the Secretary of Defense’s December 2, 2002 approval of aggressive interrogation
techniques for use st GTMO. SMU TF interrogation policies in Iraq included the use of
aggressive interrogation technigues stich as military working dogs and stress positions. SMU TF
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policies were a direct cause of detainee abuse and influenced interrogation policies at Abu
Ghraib and elsewhere in Iraq.

Concluslon 16: During his assessment visit to Iraq in August and September 2003, GTMO
Commander Major General Geoffrey Miller encouraged a view that interrogators should be more
aggressive during detainec interrogations,

Conclusion 17; Interrogation policies approved by Lieutenant General Ricardo Sanchez, which
included the use of military working dogs and stress positions, were & direct cause of detainee
abuse in Irag. Licutenant General Sanchez’s decision 10 issue his September 14, 2003 policy
with the knowledge that there were ongoing discussions as to the legality of some techniques in
it was a serious error in judgment. The September policy was superseded on October 12, 2003
as a result of legal concems raised by U.8, Central Command. That superseding policy,
however, contained ambiguities and contributed 1o confusion about whether aggressive
techniques, such as military working dogs, were authorized for use during interrogations.

Conclnsion 18: U.S. Central Command (CENTCOM) failed to conduct proper oversight of
Special Mission Unit Task Force interrogation policies, Though aggressive interrogation
techniques were removed from Combined Joint Task Force 7 interrogation policies after
CENTCOM raised legal concerns about their inclusion in the September 14, 2003 policy issued
by Lieutenant General Sanchez, SMU TF interrogation policies authorized some of those same
techniques, including stress positions and military working dogs.

Conclusion 19: ‘The abuse of detainees at Abu Ghiraib in late 2003 was not simply the result of a
few soldiers acting on their own. Interrogation techniques such as stripping detainees of their
clothes, placing them in stress positions, and using military working dogs to intimidate themn
appeared in Iraq only after they had been approved for use in Afghanistan and at GTMO.
Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld’s December 2, 2002 authorization of aggressive
imterrogation techniques and subsequent interrogation policies and plans approved by senior
military and civilian officials conveyed the message that physical pressures and degradation were
approptiate treatment for detainees in U.S. military custody, What followed was an erosion in
standards dictdting that detainees be treated hzmanely.
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1.  Early Influences on Interrogation Policy (U)

A.  Redefining the Legal Framework For the Treatment of Detainees (U)

(U) From the time of their ratification until the invasion of Afghanistan in 2001, the
United States government had accepted the terms of the Geneva Conventions and the U.S,
military had treined its personnel to apply the Conventions during wartime. Soon after the
launch of Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF), however, Administration lawyers constructed a
new legal framework that abandoned the traditional U.S. application of the Geneva
Conventions.! ' |

(U) On January 9, 2002 attorneys at the Departmert of Justice wrote 8 memorandum to
Department of Defense (DoD) General Counset William “Jim” Haynes IL, advising him that the
Third Geneva Convention did not apply to the conflict with al Qaeda or the Taliban in

_ Afghanistan,’ The attorneys wrote the memo with the understanding that the Defense
Departenent had established a long-term detention sité at the U.8. Naval Base, Guentanamo Bay,
Cuba (GTMO) for al Qaeda and Taliban members captured by U.8, military forces or transferred
from U.S. allies in Afghanistan.’

(U) On January 18, 2002, White House Counsel Alberto Gonzales advised the President
of the Department of Justice (DoJ) opinion.* Afier being briefed by Judge Gonzales, the
President concluded that the Third Geneva Convention did not apply to the conflict with af
Qaeda or to members of the Taliban, and that they would not receive the protections afforded to
Prisoners Of War (POWs).?

! According to Jack Goldsmith, Special Counsel in the Department of Defense (2002-2003) and Assistant Attormey
General, Office of Legal Counsel (2003-2004); “never in the histary of the Unitad States had lawyers had such
extraordinary influence over war policies as they did after 9/11. The lewyers weren't necessarily expert on al
Qaeds, or Islamic fuindsmentalism, or imalligsnce, or intemational diplemacy, or even the requirements of national
security, But the Iawyers—especially Whits House and Justice Department lawyers—ssemed to “own’ issues that
had profound national security and political and diplomatic consequences.” These Administration lawyers
“dominated discussions on detention, military commissions, interrogation, GTMO, and meny ether controversial
terrorism policies.™ Jack Goldxmith, The T Pragidency: Law and Judgment Inmide the Bush Administration
(New York: W.W. Norton & Company 2007) et 130-3] (hereinafier “Goldsmith, The Terror Presidency™).

? Memo from Deputy Assistant Attorney General John Yoo and Special Counsel Robert Delalunty of Defense
General Counsel William J. Haynes I1, Application of Treativs and Laws to al Qarda and Taliban Detainesy
{Jamuary 9, 2002). ‘ ‘
 Ibid.; Department of Defensz Nows Briefing (December 27, 2001), available at

http:/Arww. defnsolink, mil/Transcripts/Transeript aspx ? TranacriptiD=2656 (Secretary of Defense Danald Rumsfeld
announced plans to hold detainees at the U.5. Naval Station et Guantaname Bay, Cuba in & news conference).

* Memo from Whits House Counsel Alberto Gonzales to President George W. Bush, Decixion Re Application Of
The Geneva Camwntion an Prisoners Of War To The Cornflict With Al Qaeda And The Taliban (Jarumry 25, 2002).

? In 8 memo to the President, White House Counsel Gonzzles noted “T understand thet you decided that the [Third
Creneva Convention] does not apply [to the conflicts with al Qacda or the Taliban] and, “sccordingly, that al Queda
nd Taliban detainees are not prisoners of war™ under the [ Third Geneva Convention]. Se¢ Momo from White
Houss Counsel Alberto Gonzales to President George W, Bush, Decision Re Application Of The Geneva Convention
ont Frisoners Of War To The Conflict With Al Qaeda And The Taliban (January 25, 2002).
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(U) On January 19, 2002, Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld instructed the
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, General Richard Myers, to inform all Combatant
Commanders that al Qaeda and Taliban memhers are “not entitled to prisoner of war status”
under the Geneva Conventions.’ Secretary Rumsfeld added that combatant commanders should
“treat [detainees] humanely and, to the extent appropriate and consistent with military necessity,
in a manner consistent with the ptinciples of the Geneva Conventions of 1949, Secretary
Rumsfeld also instructed that his order be transmitted to the subordinate command at
Guantanarmo Bay for implementation. On January 21, 2002 the Chairman informed the
combatant commanders of the new policy.® '

(U) During the next few weeks — after Secretary of State Colin Powell asked the
President to reconsider his decision — Administration attorneys debated the rationale for denying
legal protections under the Geneva Conventions to members of al Qaeda and the Taliban.® On
January 25, 2002, Judge Gonzales argued in a memorandum to the President that the war on
tervor had “render(ed] obsolete Geneva’s strict limitations on questioning of enemy prisoners and
render[ed] quaint some of its provisions . . " He recommended that the Prasident stand by his
order to set aside the Geneva Conventions, '

(U) On February 7, 2002, President Bush signed a memorandum stating that the Third
Geneva Convention did not apply to the conflict with al Qaeda and concluding that Taliban
detainees (designated as “unlawful combatants” in the memorandum) were not entitled to POW
status or the legal protections afforded by the Third Geneva Convention.’! While the President
also found that Common Article 3 (requiring humane treatment) did not apply to either al Qaeda
or Taliban detamees, his order stated that as “a matter of policy, the United States Armed Forces

¢ Mamo from Secretary of Defenss Donald Rumsfeld to Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff Geners] Richard
Myers Status.of Taliban and Al Qaeda (Jerumry 19, 2007), ‘

7 Ibid.
! Cable from the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff Richard Myers to U.S. Militery Unified Commends and
Services (unuary 21, 2002),

? Mamo from White House Counsel Alberto Gonales to Pratident George W. Bush, Decision Re Application Of
The Geneva Convention on Prisaners Of War To The Conflict With Al Qaeda And The Talban (Januzry 25, 2002).

¥ Judge Ganzales dismissed as *unpersussive™ fegal and policy erguments that such an order would reverse
longstanding U.S. pelicy and prectice; undermine the protections afforded to U.S. of coalition forces captured in
Afghanistan; limit presccution of enemy forces under the War Crimes Act (which only spplies if the Geneva
Conventions spply), provoke widespreéad intemational condamnatian, even if the U.S. complies with the core
humanitarian principles of the treaty as a matter of policy; may encourage other countries to look for “technical
loopholes™ to avaid being bound by the Geneva Conventions; muy discoursge allies from tuming over terrorists to
the LLS. or providing legal assistance to the U.S.; may undermine U.S. military culture which emphasizes
mgintaining the highest standard of conduct in combat: and could introcucs an element of uncertainty in the stats of
edversaries. According to Gonzales, the “positive” consequences of satting aside the Third Geneva Convention
included “presarving fleadbility”™ in the wer end “substantially reduc(ing] the threat of domestic criminal prosecution
under the War Crimes Act” Memormdum from White Bouse Counsel Alberto Ganzales to President George W.
Bush, Decision Re Application Qf The Gengva Convention on Priscners Of War To The Congflict With Al Qaida And
The Taliban (Jenuary 25, 2002).

" Memo from President Georgn W. Bush, Humane Treatment of ul Queda and Taliban Detainees (Febragry 7,

2002).
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shall continue to treat detainees hmﬁmely and, to the extent appropriate and consistent with
military necessity, in & manner consistent with the principles of the Geneva Conventions.” '?

(U) The President's policy statement was directed at the United States Armed Forees,
The Committes is unaware of a similar Presidential policy stutement governing other agencies’
treatment of detainees.. A February 2, 2002 State Department memo reflected that
Administration lawyers invoived in the discussion about the application of the Third Geneva
Convention to the Taliban and al Qaeda had “all agree[d] that the CIA is bound by the same legal
restrictions as the U.8. military.™ The memo also stated, however, that “CIA lawyers
believe{d] that, to the extent that the [Third Geneva Convention's} protections do not apply asa
matter of Jaw but those protections are applied as a matter of pulic!, it is desirable to
circumnscribe that policy so as to limit its application to the CIA™* According to the memo,
wother Administration lawyers invelved did not disagree with or object to the CIA's view.”"
Months later, in an October 2, 2002 meeting with DoD officials at Guantanamo Bay, Chief
Counsel to the C1A's CounterTerrorist Center (CTC) Jonathan Fredman reportedly stated that the
“CIA rallied” for the Conventions not to apply.'¢ |

(U) Several military officers, including members of the Judge Advocate General (JAG)
Corps, have described difficulties in interpreting and implementing the President’s February 7,
2002 order. A former Staff Judge Advacate (SJA) for the Joint Forces Comnmand (JFCOM)
stated that he thought the President's order was a tough standard for the Department of Defense
(DoD) to apply in the field because it replaced a well-established military doctrine (legal
compliance with the Geneva Conventions) with a policy that was subject to interpretation.'” The
President’s order was not, apparently, followed by any guidance that defined the terms
“humanely” of “military necessity.” As a resulf, those in the field were left 1o interpret the
President’s order. B

B.  Department of Defense Office of General Counsel Seeks Information from the
Joint Personnel Recovery Agency (JPRA) (U)
(U) As Administration lawyers began to reconsider U.S. adherence to the Geneva

Conventions, the DoD Office of the General Counsel also began secking information on
detention and interrogation. In December 2001, the DoD General Counsel’s office contacted the

12 Memo from President George W. Bush, Humane Treatmant of al Qaeda and Taliban Detainees (Februsry 7,
2002). ‘ : o

BThe State Depertment memo reflected the vicws of lawyers from the Department of Sustice, Department of
Defense, Department of State, White Hovse Counsel’s office, Offies of the Vice President, Joint Chiefs of Staff, and
the Centre} ntelligence Agency. Memorandum from State Department Legal Adviser Williem Tafl, IV to White
House Counsel Alherto Gonzales, Commants an Four Paper on the Geniva Convention (Febraary 2, 2002),

¥ Ibid,

“ - '

Thid, ‘
18 otnter Resistance Strategy Mueting Mimutes {undatsd) at 4, artached to email from Blaine Thomas 10 Sam
MecCahon, and Mark Fallon (Qctober 24, 2002) (hereinafier “Counter Resistance Strategy Mecting

7 Committee staff interview of Demiel Donovan (November 28, 2007).
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Joint Personnel Recovery Agency (JPRA), headquartered af Fort Belvoir, Virginia, for
information about detainee “explojtation.”!® :

(U) JPRA is an agency of the Department of Defense under the command authority of the
U.S. Joint Forces Command (JFCOM). Part of JPRA's mission is 1o oversee military Survival
Evasion Resistance and Escape (SERE) training.'® In the “resistance” phase of SERE training,
students are subject to physical and peychological pressures (SERE techniques) designed to
simulate conditions to which they might be subject if captured by an enemy that did not abide by
the Geneva Conventions. Exposing 1.8, military personnel to these physical and psychological
pressures in a highly controlled environment squips them with the skills needed to increase
resistance to hostile interrogations. Among the physical and psychological pressures used at
SERE schools are stress positions, sleep deprivation, face and abdomen slaps, isolation,
degradation (such as treating the student like an animal), and “walling.” Until November 2007,
waterboarding was also an approved traimng technique in the U.S. Navy SERE school,?

The SERE schools employ a number of strict controls to limit the physical
or psychological impact of these techniques on their students.”’ For example, there are limits on
the frequency, duration, and/or intensity of certain techniques. Instructors are algo required 1o
consider the extensive medical and/or psychological screening records of each student before
administering any technique.” Students are even given a  phrase they can use to make the
instructor immediately cease application of all pressures.

18 wpryeploitation™ is  term thet JPRA usea to describe the means by which captors use prisoners for their own
tactical or siratepic neads, Inte ion process. Other examples of exploitation

Hon is only one part of the explojtation

Hearng to K sting Lo The lrcatment of Letamess, Senste Commttas
ot Armed Services, 110® Cong. (August 3, 2007) (Testimony of Terrence Russell) st 32 (hereinafter “Testimony of
Terrence Russell (Angust 3, 2007)™); Fax cover shest from Lt Col Danicl Baumgartner to Richard Shiffrin
{December 17, 2001), :

* Overtight of SERE training is only part of JFRA’s mission. JPRA i3 responsible for coordinating joint personnel
recovery cepabilities, Parsanne] recovery ia the term used to describe efforts o obtain the releass or recovery of
captured, missing, or isolated parsonns] from uncertain or hoatile envirenments and denied areas.

¥ Joint Personnel Recavery Agency, Physical Pressures Used In Resistance Training and Against American
Prisconers and Deiinees (undated), attached to Memo from Lt Col Danie! Baumgariner to Office of tha Secretary of
Defense General Counsel (July 26, 2002) (hereinafter “Physical Fressures Used In Resistance Training and Against
American Prisoners and Detainees™). '

2 Responses of Jerald Ogrisseg to Questions For the Record (July 28, 2008); Testimony of Terrence Russell (August
31 m?) It 123. !

B R esponses of Jerald Ogrisseg to Questions for the Record (July 28, 2008) (*Militery SERE training students arc
screened multiple times prior to participating in twaining to ensurs thet they are physical and psychologically heslthy.
They get screened prior to entering the service to ensure thet they don't have certain disorders. Students are
required 10 get screened by military doctors at their home beses prior to traveling for SERE treining to ensure that
they meet the physical and paychological standards for participating in treining. Most SERE achools also mandate
that students compléte sereemng questionnaires sfter they mrive et SERE school as a final safety check and for
additional help or interventions if nceded, to include being restricted from experiencing particular training
procedures. Furthermore, the students arrive with their medicq] records i hand or svailable electronically to
document their entire medical history, end indications of prior psychological diagnoses since their original military-
entry physicals. These procedures are used not only to gereen people out of participsting in training, but also for
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(U) SERE instructors are themselves psychologically prescreened priot to hiring, and
must submit to a nearly year-long training process, annual psychological screening, and
extensive monitoring and oversight during practical exercises. These requirements are designed
to pravenztd instructor behavioral drift, which if left unmonitored, could lead to abuse of
students. :

(U) JPRA’s expertisc lies in training 1).S. military personnel who are at risk for capture,
how to respond and resist interrogations (2 defensive mission), not in how to conduct
interrogations (an offensive mission). ® The difference between the two missions is of critical
importance. SERE instructors play the part of interrogators, but they are not typically trained
intetrogators. SERE instructors are not selected for their roles based on language skills,
intelligence training, or expertise in eliciting information.”®

The risk of using SERE physical pressures in an interrogation context,
instead of in the highly controlled SERE school environment, was highlighted by the semior
Army SERE psychologist LTC Morgan Banks in an email to personnel at Guantanameo Bay,
Cuba. He stated: : : ;

Because of the danger involved, very few SERE instructors are allowed to
actually use physical pressures. It is extremely easy for U.8. Army instructors,
training U.S. Army soldiers, to get owt of hand, and to injure students. The
training, from the point of the student, appears to be chaotic and out of control. In
reality, everything that is occurring [in SERE school] is very carefully monitored
and paced; no one is acting on their own during training. Even with all these

identifying peopls who could be provided preventative interventions in arder to increase their probebfility] of
success in training, ™)

D The Origina of Aggressive Interrogation Techniques: Part T of the Committee’s Inquiry Into the Treatment of
Detainees in U.S. Custody, Senste Comumittee on Armed Services, 110® Cong. (June 17, 2008) (hercinafter *SASC
Hearing (Fune 17, 2008)"); FASO Detachment Brunswick Instruction 3305.C (January 1, 1998),

% According to Dr. Jerald Ogrisseg, the former Chief of Psychology Services at the Air Force SERE school snd
current JPRA Chief Human Factors, instructors are constantly menitored by other JPRA personnel, commend ataff,
and SERE psychologists to minimize the potential for students to be injured. These oversight mechanisms are
designed to ensure that SERE instructors are complying with opetating instructions and to check for signs that
instructors do not suffer from morsl disengagement (e.g,, by becoming too abaarbed in their roles as interrogators
and starting o view U.S. military SERE stidents aa prisoners or detainees). These oversight mechanisms are also
designed to watch students for “indicetions that they are not coping well with training tasks, provide corrective
interventions with them befere they become overwhelmed, and if need be, re-motivate students wha hiive become
overwhelmed to enable them to succesd.” Responses of Jerald Ogrisseg to Questions for the Record (July 28,

- 2008Y, Cotmittes staff interview of Jerald Ogrisseg (June 26, 2007), o
3 Depetrient of Defense Office of the Inspector General, Review of DaD-Directed Investigations of Detainee
Abuse (1) (August 25, 2006) at 24 (hereinafter *DoD IG Report™), )
% A trained interrogstor is expected to be familiar with the social, political and economic institutions and have an
understanding of the geography, history and language of “target™ countries, Additionally, the more proficient en
interrogntor is with langusges the “better he will be able to dovelop rapport with his source™ and “follow up on
sourte leads to additions] informetion,” Army Field Manual (FM) 34-52, 1-14,
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safepuards, injuries and acmdenia do happen The mk with real detainees is
increased exponentially,

(U) Despite the differences between the simulated interrogations at SERE school and real
- world interrogations of detainees, in December 2001, the DoD» General Counsel’s office sought
JPRA’s advice on the “exploitation” of detainees. The Committee is not aware of JPRA
activities in support of any offensive interrogation mission prior to that request from the General
Counsel’s office. In response to the request, JPRA Chief of Staff Lt Col Daniel Baumgartner
sent Deputy General Counsel for Intelligence Richard Shiffrin a memorandum on the

“exploitation process" and a cover note offering further JPRA assistance on “exploitation and
how to resist it.”® :

- The memorandum outlined JPRA's view on “obtaining useful intelligence
information from enemy prisoners of war” (EPWs),”

(U)- The memo provided the JPRA perspective on how t.hen' SERE school staff
wonld handle the “initial capture,” “movement,” and “detention” of pnmners ° It also provided
advice on interrogation and recommended various approaches, including the use of undefined
“deprivations,”*

The memo cautioned, however, that while “[p]hysical deprivations can and
do work in altering the prisoners’ mental state to the point where they will say things they
normally would not say,” use of physical deprivations has “several major downfalls,"** JPRA
warned that physical deprivations were “not as effective” a means of petting information as
psychological pressures, that information gained from their use was “less reliable,” and that their
usé “tends to increase resistance postures when deprivations are removed.”” JPRA also warned
that the use of physwal deprivations has an “intolerable public and political backlash when
d:scovered

G JPRA Collaboration with Other Government Agencies (0GAs) (U)

I i December 2001 or 2002, a retired Air Force SERE
poychologis, Dr, James Mitchell, SRS »: od his forme:

colleague, the senior SERE psychologist at JPRA, Dr. John “Bruce” Jessen, to review documents

* Email from LTC Morgan Banks to MAJ Paul Burney andjEIRIIIEC iober 2, 2002).
 Faxt cover sheet from LTC Deniel Baumgartner to Richard Shiffrin (December 17, 2001).

”Emlaﬂnﬁm?mnnt 1, sttached to fax from LTC Danie! Baumgartner to Richard Shiffrm (December 17,
2001),

1.3

M 1hid, at 3-4.
" Thid. at 4.
? hid

M Thid,



describing al Qaeda resistance training.” The two psychologists reviewed the materials,-
and generated a paper on al Qaeda resistance capabilities

and countermeasures to defeat that resistance.

‘-On February 12, 2002, Dr, Jessen sent the paper to JPRA Commander Colonel
John “Randy” Moulton, who in turn, emailed the paper to his chain of command at JFCOM with
a recommendation that it be forwarded to the Joint Staff for dissemination.”® In his email, Col
Moulton wrote: ' ‘

While JPRA is not in the business of strategic debriefing (interrogation), we do
apply the most sophisticated techniques available in order to better prepare our
[personnel] for resistance. Afler over 30 years of training we have become quite
proficient with both specialized resistance and the ways to defeat it.”’

- (— Col Moutton also recommended in his email that 2 JPRA team travel to
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba to “provide instruction on basic and advanced techniques and methods”
that JPRA had found effective in countering resistance in students at SERE courses,*® Col
Moulton suggested that JPRA create a “short course” to teach relevant U.S: personnel about

© “interrogation from the resistance side.” poting that JFR A had already received an informal
request to conduct training for the whose yﬂrsonnel were
supporting interrogation operations at Guantanamo Bay Afghanistan.” The JPRA
Commander described the potential collaboration between JPRA and as 3 “win-win
opportunity.” ‘ '

In a subsequent email to Brigadier General (BG) Galen Jackman, the
Operations Chief at United States Southern Command (SOUTHCOM), Brigadier General (Brig
Gen) Thomas Moore, JRCOM's Director for Operations and Plans (J3), stated that J'RA was
“prepared to support [SOUTHCOM] in any potential collaboration,” but that they would not
 assist without an official request fram SOUTHCOM or GTMO.*

B e R AR paper and Col Moulton's recommendations were further
circulated by email from JFCOM 1o officers at the Joint Staff and to several Combatant
Commands, including those with responsibility for Afghanistan, Iraq, and Guantanamo Bay. "

¥ Committes staff interview of Bruce Jessen (July 11, 2007); Email from Cal John R ) Moulton to MAJ
Jack Holbein, BGen Thomas Mocre, CAPT Darryl Fengya. and (February 14, 2002).
% Email from Bruce Jessen to Col Randy Moulton (February 12, 2002). _ '

¥ Email from Col Randy Moulter to MAT Jack Holbein, BGen Thomas Moore, CAPT Darry] Fengye, [
(February 14, 2002).

 Thid.
* Ibid ; Memo from Col Mary Moffitt (via BG Ronald Burgess) to BGen Thomas Moare (undated) at 1.

* Email from Col Randy Moulton to MAT Jack Holbein, BGen Thomas Moare, CAPT Darryl Fengys, [
(February 14, 2002).

** Emai] from BGen Thomas Moors to BG Galen Jackman et al. (February 14, 2002).

“* Emeil from LTC Michael McMsahon to Lt Col Steven Ruchl, COL Jim Sikes, COL Danicl Bolger, Steve Wetzel,
CAPT Bill Pakomy, COL Cos Spofford, COL Edward Short, Col Kevin Kelley (February 14, 2002).
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D. JPRA Support to the Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) (U)

Jebruary 2002, the Defense Intelligence Agency’s (DIA)—

sent an official request for support to JACOM's I3, Brig Gen Moore.®

In response to the request, two JPRA
chologist Bruce Jessen and JPRA instructor Joseph Witsch

o¢ ‘crash’ course on
COM." The JPRA team also
leadership and GTMO interrogation

were discussed. ¥ Dr. Jessen said
about how JPRA could assist.

interrogation™ for the “next crew (rotation) going
participated in a separate video teleconference wi

that he and Mr, Witsch went to make a “pitch” to

Witsch stated that he worked with Dr. Jessen to develop a set of briefing
slides for the training,®® The Department of Defense provided the Committee with slide
presentations that appeared to have been produc fi ch 8, 2002 trainipg. Mr.

i ified that two slide presentations (1)
Based on Recently Obtained Al Qaeda Documents” and (2) “
appeared to be the same as those used by JPRA in the March 8, 2002 trainin 5 Dr. Jessen told
the Committee that he did not recognize the slides as those that he presented but that the
vast maj;::rity of the slides were consistert with what he would have taught at the training
5E3510N.

Exploitation” —

The “Al Qaeda Resistance Contingency Training” presentation described methods
used by al Qaeda to resist interrogation and exploitation and JE

© Moo from Col Mty Moffit (via BG-Rorid Burgess) to BGen Thomas Moors (undated),

“ Ihid, |

8 Eynail from Bruce Jessen to Col Randy Moulton (March 12, 2002); see also SASC Hearing (June 17, 2008)
(Testimony of Lt Col Daniel Baumgartner) (“DIA accepted [JPRA's] help . .. with their deploying groups” and
IPRA instruction “centeved on resistance techniques, questioning techniques, and generel information on how
axploitation warks. ™)

% Email from Jim Perma to Christophar Wirts, Bruce Jessen, and Joseph Witsch-(February 20, 2002).

47 Emgil from Bruce Jessen to Col Randy Moulton (March 12, 2002).

# Committes staff interview of Bruce Jassan (November 13, 2007). | |

# Hparing to Receive Information Relating To Tha Treatment of Detainces, Senate Committee on Armed Services,
110® Cong. (September 4, 2007) (Testimony of Joscph Witsch) at 20 (hersinafier “Tegtimony of Joseph Witsch
(September 4, 2007)"). ‘

 Testimony of Joseph Witsch (September 4, 2007) at 20.
8 commitiee staff intetview of Bruce Jessen (November 13, 2007).




The presentation also described countermeasures to defeat al Qaeda resistanc includin

Mr. Witsch testified to the Committee

that the countermeasures identified in the slides were “just an interpretation of what we were
doing at the time and what we constantly did when we trained SERE students.”*

The presenation on detaines “exploitation” described phases of exploitation
and includad instruction on initial capture and handling, conducting interrogations, and long-
term exploitation.*® The exploitation prescntation also included slides on “isolation and
degradation,” “sensory deprivation,” “physiological pressures,” and “psychological pressures.
At SERE school, each of these terms has special meaning,

The - instructor guide describes “isolation” as ‘a main building block
of the axplmtahon process” and says that it “allows the captor total control over personal inputs
to the captive.”>’ With respect to degradation, the guide contains examples of the methods used
by SERE mstructors to take awa}' T.hc pursnnal dlgmty’ of students at SERE school.”

nié

Mr. Witach, the JPRA instructor who led the March &, 2002 training, told the Committee that
stripping could also be considered a degradation tactic.®

| ch could not recall what the JPRA team discussed as part of the instruction
to relating to degradation,®" -

r Joint Personnel] Rncamy Agmcy Al Qaeda Resistance Contingency Training: Cmﬂugmqr Trdmng Jor
Persormel Based on Recently thaWd Al Qaeda Documents (lmdatnd)

 Ihid,
* Testimony of Joseph Witach (September 4, 2007) at 46.
% Joint Personmel Recovery Agency, Explottation (undeted).

nﬂuq Ancther slide describing captot motives states: establish sbsoluts control, induce dependence to meet
icit compliance, shape cooperation. Joint Personnel Recovery Agency, Exploftation (undsted). In other
JPRA materials, techniques designed to achieve thess goals include isolation or solitary confinement, induced
physical weakness and exhaustion, degradetion, conditioning, sensory deprivation, sensory overload, disruption of
sleep and biorhythms, end menipulation of diet. Fhysical Pressures Used In Resistance Training and Against
American Prisonars and Detainges.

7 Level C Pescetime Governmental Detention Survival JPRA Instroctor Gmdn. Fxploitation: Threats and
Pressures, Module 6.0, Leason 6,1, para 5,3.1 {Version GO1.1).

** Ihid, et para 5.3.3.

® hid,

® Testimany of Jossph Witach (September 4, 2007) at 22,
[ 1 Ibid.
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| - JPRA materials also describe “sensory deprivation™ and its place inthe
exploitation process.” In testimony to the Committee, Mr. Witsch described hooding (placing a
hood over the head of a student) and white umse (such as radio static) as sensory deprivation
‘methods used on students in SERE school.® In materials prowded to Department of Defense
lawyers in July 2002, JPRA explained that “[w]hen a subject ig deprived of sensory input for an
[un]interrupted period, for approximately 6-8 hours, it is not uncommon for themto expmence
visual, auditory and/or tactile hallucinations. If deprived of input, the brain will make it up. e

! Mr. Witsch could not recall the discussion of “sensory deprivation™ at the-
training,

(U) When used in the context of simulated interrogations conducted at SERE school,
JPRA uses the term “physiological pressures” synonymously with approved physical pressures. o

. Mr. Witsch could pot recall what the discussion of “physiological and psychological
prossures” ot IR’ He said that he provided personnel with & “vision of how
we (JPRA) prepare, train, and equip our personnel” in SERE school. ® Mr. Witsch could not
recall if physical pressures were discussed at the training. ® Dr. Jessen, the senior SERE
psychologist who also provided instruction to-parsonnel said that physical pressures were
not discussed at the March 8, 2002 lrmmug.

Following the training, Dr. Jessen sent an email to Commander
Col Randy Moulton stating that the JPRA team “provided instruction to personnel on
the content of US Level “C™ Resistance to Interrogation training and how this knowledge can be
used to exploit al Qaeda detainees.”” Ievel “C" training includes the physical and
psychological pressures used at SERE school. Dr. Jessen also stated, however, that the JPRA
team provided suggestions on “howto explmt al Qaeda defainees for intelligence within the
confines of the Geneva Conventions.”™ Dr. Jessen told the Committee, however, that he would

€ Piysical Pressures Used In Resistance Trairing and Against American Prisoners and Datainees.

© Testimony of Joacph Witsch (September 4, 2007) st 23-24, |

;Pl%s;cul Pressures Und In Resistance Training and Against American Prisoners and Detainess; Sea Section II
% Testimony of Joseph Witach (September 4, 2007) at 22.

% Committée staff intarview of Bruce Jessen (July 11, 2002).

¢’ Testimony nf Joseph Witach (S:ptnmber 4, 2007,

® Thid. st 44, -

 1hid, et 25..

™ Committee staff interview of Bruce Jessen (Tuly 11, 2002).

™ Email from Bruce Jessen to Col Randy Moulton (March 12, 2002).

2 Thid.
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not have known at the time if isolation, degradation, sensory deprivation, or other topics
referenced jn the slides would have been within the confines of the Geneva Conventions,

Days later, Dr. Jessen sent Col Moulton another email with his thoughts about
additional training for interrogators. Dr. Jessen explained that for fiture training, one day would
be sufficient to “cover the basics of DOD Level “C’ Resistance training and the special '
contingency information” that they addressed Ml However, he said that if he added “role-
play” to the curriculum, he would need at least four days.” ‘

Dr. Jessen stated; “My impression is
requires a more ‘exploitation oriented’ approach than the students received. [JPRA's Personnel
Recovery Academy (PRA))] instructors do this better than anyone. If JPRA provided role play it
would be manpower intensive, require more time and space (rooms) and video monitor
equipment (which PRA has).”” Dr, Jessen recommended that he come up with a course
curriculum with input from others, if JPRA planned to “go[] this direction.””¢

E. JPRA Recommendations for GTMO (U)

' training was not the first time JPRA provided advice to GTMO
personnel. Just before training, JPRA prepared 2 memo on “Prisoner Handling
Recommendations” at GTMO for Col Cooney, the Executive Officer for the Directorate of
Operations (J3) at SOUTHCOM. 77 The memo had been drafted by Dr. Jessen, the senior SERE
psychologist, and Christopher Wirts, the Chief of JPRA’s Operational Support Office (0S0).”
The memo noted that its recommendations were based on a “limited understanding of the
procedures and conditions that exist{ed]” at the detention facility at Guantanamo Bay.””

I G T /PRA memo contained specific recommendations for GTMO,
including that GTMO “enforce the strictest *base line’ prison behavior policy possible within
[Rules of Engagement]” by imposing and enforcing punishment consequences more restrictive

in base line mies, and
| % JPRA also recommended that GTMO tailor punishment to maximize
cultural andesirability and tailor rewards to maximize cultural desirability.

™ Dr. Jessen told the Committes that, at the time, he did not know that the scope of the Geneve Conventions
protections were different for Prisoners of War than they were fer al Qaeda or Taliban detainees. Committes staff
interview of Bruee Jessen (November 13, 2007).

™ Email from Bruce Jessen to Col Randy Moulton et al. (March 18, 2002).
™ Thid .

B hid |

™hema for Col Cooney, Prisoner Handling Recommendations (February 28, 2002), sttached to email from Bruce
Jessen to Joseph Witsch (March 13, 2002).

™ Email from Bruce Jessen to Joseph Witsch (March 13, 2002). Commmittss staff interview of Bruce Jessen
(November 13, 2007). :

® Memo far Col Coaney, Prisoner Handling Recommendations (February 28, 2002).

¥ Memo far Col Cooney, Prisoner Handling Recommndations (February 28, 2002), ettached to email from Bruce
Jeasen to Joseph Witsch (March 13, 2002). ‘ :
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F. Colonel Herrington'’s Assessment of GTMO (U)

(U) At the time of the JPRA memo, GTMO wazs secking assistance from other quarters as
well. In March 2002, Commander of Joint Task Force 170 (JTF-170) Major General (MG)
Michael Dunlavey invited Colonel Stuart A. Hetrington (Ret.), an experienced Army intelligence
officer, to Guantanamo Bay to conduct an assessment of operations at the facility.”! Following
his three day assessment visit, COL Herrington submitted a formal written report on March 22,
2002 to MG Dunlavey 8 well as to the Command st SOUTHCOM and the Army Deputy Chief
of Staff for Intelligence.®

(U) At the time of COJ, Herrington's visit, the mission at Guantanamo was onderthe
control of two different task forces, each commanded by a different Major Gmnral JTF-170 for
intelligence exploitation and JTF-160 for detention and security operations.® COL Herrington
noted in his assessment that there was “unanimity among ali military and interagency
participants in TF-170 that the security mission is sometimes the tail wagging the intelligence
dog" and stated:

To effectively carry owt its intelligence exploitation mission, TF 170 and its
interagency collaborators need to be in full control of the detainees’ environment.
Treatment, rewards, punishment, and anything else associated with a detaince

* should be centrally orchestrated by the debriefing team responsible for obtaining
information from that detainee,*

(1) COL Hermrington also expressed concern that actions (positive or negative) which
guards might take as routine, such as singling a detainee out for a shakedown or providing an
extra chaplain’s visit, might impact the ability of interrogators and debriefers from sefting the
tone of the questioning sessions.™

(1) COL Herrington found that facilities and procedures at GTMO for handling detainees
posed serious problems. He said that design flaws at GTMO’s current and plarmed detention
sites hampered intelligence collection, noting that the “open’ facilities, for example, facilitated
communications ammiong the detainees and d:scourag:d detainee cooperation by permitting
detainees to support each other’s resistance efforts.

n COL Herrington had acquired experience in intarrogation end debriefing during mora than thirty years of military
service. Memo from COL Stuart Herrington to MG Michael Dunlnvey, Report of Visit deccam:nmdatfm

(March 22, 2002) et 8.

# Ses COL Herrington, Report afmrmﬂmmmmdaum COL Hermington also provided an additional list of
“suggestions™ for MG Dunlavey and his J2, LTC Ron Buikema. See Memo from COL Stuart Hemington to MG
Michas! Dunlavay, Suggestiony (March 25, 2002) :

P JTF-160 was established st Guantansmo Bay in the mid-1990s to support relief and migrant processing centers for
Haitian and Cuban migrants.,

™ COL Herrington, Report of Visit and Recommandations st 1-2.
¥ 1bid, st 2.
* Mhid. at 3.



. ()] COL Herrington also warned that certain security procedures in place at the time
could have a negative impact on imelligence colleutmn, stating:

The austere nature of the facilities and the rigorous security movement procedures

(shackles, two MPs with hands on the detainee, etc.) reinforces to detainees that
they are in prison, and detracts from the flexibility that debriefers require to
accomplish their mission. . . These views have nothing to do with being “soft” on
the detainees. Nor do they challenge the pure security gains from such tight
comtrol. The principal at work is that optimal exploitation of a detainee cannot be
done froma cell . ..¥

(U) Specifically, COL Herrington recommended that MPs not be in the room during
- interrogations and warned that, while shackling a detainee might make sense from a security
standpoint, it could be counterproductive to intelligence collection:

Shackling one of the detainee’s feet to the floor during interrogation might make
sense from a security perspective (although, with one or two MPs present, it is
arguable overkill). However, such shackling is ither a) humiliating, or b) sends a
message to the detamee that the debriefer is afiaid of him, or c) reminds him of
his plight as a prisoner.®

(U) COL, Hcmngton observed that most of the interrogators at GTMO lacked the
requisite trnunng in strategic elicitation or the experience required to be effective with the
detainees.™ He said that, of the 26 interrogators present at the time, only one had enough Arabic
language experience to interrogate without an interpreter.”

Il A memo written by Colonel Mike Fox (SOUTHCOM’s Director of Intelligence
Operations) just a month after COL Herrington's r also discussed how conditions at GTMO
inhibited succesaful interrogations.

¥ Thid. ut 4.

* COL Herringtan also identified additional deficiencies in intelligence collection, which he said could be improved
by arming GTMO with the ability to trmlntn and review relevant documents onsite md monitor interrogations
wng video tnnlnmlngy Ibld.

¥ Thid at 6.

* COL Herrington* smpmnlsommmdmommmgmmmplmwh:chmuy}ﬂvemmdmdﬂamwm:
lans intellipence vajue being sent to FTMD and those with more valuable detainees being set free, COL Herington,
Report of Visit and Recommendations at 6.,

" COL, Mike Fex, JTF-170 Methods and Techniques Info Paper (Apsil 22, 2002)
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G.  JPRA Prepares Draft Exploitation Plan (U)

(U) As experienced intelligence officers were making recommendations to improve
intelligence collection, JPRA officials with no training or experience in intelligence collection
were working on their own exploitation plan. In April 2002, senicr SERE psychologist Bruce
Jessen drafied an exploitation plan and circulated that plan 1o Commander of the JPRA, Col
Randy Monulton, and the senior civilian leadership of the organization,*

The exploitation plan drafted by the senior SERE psychologist contained
recommendations for JPRA. involvement in the detainee exploitation process at an undisclosed
facility. '

The “Exploitation Draft Plan,” which was circulated on April 16, 2002,
stated that its objective was to “[hjold, manage and exploit detainees to elicit critical

formation.” The plan proposed an “exploitation facility” be established at 2| [N
limits to non-essential pergonne.

ICRC., or foreign observers.””® The plan also described the fundamentals

exploitation of sslect al Qaeda detainees,”™

- @ T first option was for JPRA to field, deploy, direct, and sustain an
entire interrogation team.®® The plan recommended that JPRA not pursue this course stating,
“No — Too much of & manpower drain and we [JPRA] are not prepated to provide this kind of
support infrastructure,”” A second option was for JPRA 1o field a “lead captivity/ exploitation
expert (JPRA Senior SERE Pychologist) to advise and support” the exploitation process and to

¥ Thid.
™ Thid.
$4 veil from Dr, Bruce Jessen to Christopher Wirts, Mike Dozier and Rendy Moulton (Agpril 16, 2002).

# Joint Persannel Recovery Agency, Exploitation Draft Plan (undsted), attached to email from Bruce Jassen to Col
lem Moulton, Chiristopher Wirts, and Miks Dorier (Agril 16, 2002) (hereinafter “JPRA, Exploitation Draft
o)

* Ihid

ﬂm
? Toid.




have a “sponsor” provide all other personnel and direct the process. This option was also
rejected as “ineffective,” noting that if JPRA could “direct” the exploitation process, there would
bea

“good chance of [JPRA] making a real difference,” but “if not,” there are “too many other
responsibilities to expend . . . energy on."'%

— The third option was described as follows:

JPRA fields and deploys core captivity/exploitation team — This team directs the
process under the lead of the JPRA Senior SERE Psychologist and receives all
additional specified support from a sponsor ~ Those sponsor individuals who
dirsctl%lassist in the exploitation process will receive training from the JPRA
cadre.

While this option was recommended as the “[b]est match of expertise
and capability,” the plan cautioned that JFRA “needfed] to be careful in establishing this
relationship™ and that JPRA should retain “the authority to direct the entire process or current
mistakes will be repeated (GTMO, lack of experience of in-theater interrogators, ineffective
captivity handling and facility routine) — [The] JPRA plan should be implemented from the start
of detention through holding, transport, and exploitation.”' %

- Dr. Jessen’s draft exploitation plan described the means by which JPRA would
implement that recommendation, and included requirements for an undisclosed exploitation
facility and the means by which detainees would be transported and held there.'®

A section of Dr. Jessen’s draft exploitation plan also identified “Critical
Operational Exploitation Principles” for interrogation operations. Those principles included:

(The only restricting factor should be the Torture Convention), 7]
latitude and ‘ i i ion for concessi

1% thid.

192 Ihid,

W2 Thid. | : ,

1 The plan also described requirements for the management of the facility identicel to those included in the

“Priscner Handling Recommetxiations” previously prepared by JPRA for SOUTHCOM.  Ibid.; Memo for Col
Cooney, Prisonsr Handling Recommendations (February 28, 2002).

1 YPRA, Exploitation Dregt Flan (emphasis pdded).
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| When asked about the plan, which his email referred to as “my” plan,
Dr. Jessen said that there are elements that he did not draft.'” For example, he told the
Committee that he did not believe that the Torture Convention was the only controlling authority
for exploitation Rules of Engagement.'® Dr. Jessen, however, did not reject the idea of having
JPRA support the exploitation process. Dr. Jessen said that he knew how to set up training
programs, had observed numerous “interogations” at SERE school, and thought that some JPRA
instructors could make excellent interrogatars.'” He also told the Comumittee that he supported
having SERE psychologists observe interrogations and provide advice and assistance 10
interrogators, but that that he did not support having SERE psychologists in the interrogation
booth with interrogators and detainees,

(U7) Upon receiving the plan, JPRA Commander Col Randy Moulton asked Dr. Jessen to
craft a briefing to “take up for approval,” which included “why we (USG) need it, how it falls
within our chartered responsibilities (or if not, why we should do it) and then make a
recommendation™® Col Moulton testified to the Committee that he did not recall any
subsequent JPRA briefings for U.8. Joint Forces Command on Dr. Jessen’s draft exploitation
plan and did not remember whether or not the plan wag implemented.m ‘

II. Development of New Interrogation Authorities (U)
A CIA’s Interrogation Program and the Interrogation of Abu Zubaydah (U)

(U) Abu Zubaydah was captured by Pakistani and CIA forces on Masch 28, 2002,
According to former CIA Director George Tenet, once Zubaydah was in custody, the CIA “got
into holding and interrogating high-value detainees” (HVDs) “in a serious way."'1? Then-
National Security Advisor Condoleezza Rice said that “in the spring of 2002, CIA sought policy
approval from the National Security Council to begin an interrogation program for high-level al-
Qaida terrorists.™"! Then-NSC Legal Adviser John Bellinger said that he asked CIA 10 have the
proposed program reviewed by the Department of Justice and that he asked CIA to seck advice
not anly from DoJ’s Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) but also from the Criminal Division.'"* Ms.
Rice said that she asked Director of Central Intelligence George Tenet to brief NSC Principals on
the proposed CLA program and asked Attorney General Ashcroft “personally to review the

10 Tha Department of Defense confirmed that the “Exploitation Draft Plan® in the Committes’s posscssion wes, in
d;ﬁ:nﬁmehedmm-lm'sm 16, 2002 email, making it the same document Dr, Jessers referred to as “my initia)
plan.” |

198 Committee staff interview of Bruce Jessen (July 11, 2007).
197 Commiittes staff intarview of Bruse Jessan (November 13, 2007).
10 p2mai] from Col Randy Motlton to Bruce Jassen, Christopher Wirts, Mike Dozier (April 17, 2002).

'® Yha Authorizstion of Survival Bvasion Resistance and Escaps (SERE) Techniques for Interrogations in Irag: Pert
I of the Committea’s Inquiry Into the Trestment of Detainces in 1.8, Custody, Senate Comnrttes on Armed
Services, 110* Cong, (September 25, 2008) (hereinafter “SASC Hearing (Septarmber 25, 2008)").

1 Gaorge Tenet, &Wmm (New York: Harper Collins Publishers 2007) at 241.
W Condoleezza Rice answers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Senator Carl Levin (September 12, 2008)
12 John Bellinger answers to July 31, 2008 written questicns from Senator Carl Levin (Scptember 12, 2008).
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legality of the proposed program.'® She said that all of the meetings she attended on the CIA's
interrogation program took place at the White House and that she understood that DoJ’s lepal
advice “was being coordinated by Counsel to the President Alberto Gonzales.”™ ™

(U) According to President Bush, the agency developed an “alternative set” of “tough”
interrogation techniques, and put them to use on Zubaydah and other HVDs."*> Though virtually
all of the techniques that were used on Zubaydah remain classified, CIA Director Michael
Hayden confirmed that waterboarding was used on Zubaydah.'!® Assistant Attorney General for
the Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) Steven Bradbury testified before Congress that the “CIA’s
use of the waterboarding procedure was adapted from the SERE training program.”"” When -
asked whether she was present for discussions about physical and/or psychological pressures
used in SERE training, Secretary Rice recalled “being told that U.S. military personnel were
subjected in training 1o certain physical and psychological interrogation techniques.” '* Mr.
Bellinger, the NSC Legal Advisor, stated that he was “present in meetings at which SERE
training was discussed ™"’ '

(U) Public reports have identified a retired U.S. Air Force SERE lgsychulogixt, Dr. James
Mitchetl, as having participated in the CIA’s intetrogation of Zubaydsh.'™® Dr. Mitchell, who
retired from the Air Force in 2001, agreed to speak to the Committee about his time at DoD.

113 G peretary Rice said that in 2002-2003, she *participated in s rumber of discussions of specific interrogation
techniques proposed for use by the CTA " Candoleczza Rice snswers to July 31, 2008 written questions from
Senator Car] Levin (Scptumba-_ 12, 2008), ‘ .

114 Thid.

138 In a Septembér 6, 2006 speech, President Bush stated that since September 11, 2001, & “small mumber of
suspected terrorist leaders end operatives captured during the wur have been held and questioned outside the United
States, in g sepamte program opersted by the Cenitral Intelligence Agency.™ The President stated that the CLA used
“gn alternative set of procedures” in interrogating the detainees. According to the President, the CIA techniques
“were tough, and they were safs, and lawful, and neccssary.” ‘The President identified Abu Zubaydah ss one
detaines who was subject to the CLA"s shemative techniques. Fress Briefing with President George W. Bush
(September 6, 2006); ser also Tenet, At The Center Of The Storm st 241.

16 Corrent and Projected National Secarity Thrests, Senats Select Committes on Intelligence, 110 Cang. (February
5| zma)' '

Y7 Justice Department’s Office of Legal Counsel, House Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommitiae on the
Canstitution, Civi) Rights, and Civil Libertics, 110 Cang. (February 14, 2008).

¥ Condoleszzs Rice answers to July 31, 2008 written questions frem Senator Carl Levin (September 12, 2008).
1 John Bellinger answers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Sepator Carl Levin (September 12, 2008).

18 Jane Mayer, The Experiment, The New Yorker (Faly 11-18, 2005); June Mayer, The Black Sites, The New Yorker
(August 13, 2007) ("According to an syewitnaess, one peychologist advising on the trestment of Zubaydsh, James
Mitchell, argued that ke neaded to be reduced to a state of *Jeaned helplessness,” (Mitchall disputes this
chamcterization).™); Katherine Eban, Rorschach and Awe, Vanity Fair Online (Tuly 17, 2007), available at
hitp//www, vanityfair. com/politics/features/2007/0 7 ortare 200707,

1 Committee staff interview of James Mitchell (July 10, 2007); Letter to Senator Carl Levin (June 22, 2007).

]
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(U) An unclassified version of a May 2008 report by the Department of Justice (Dol)
Inspector General (IG) confirmed that FBI agents “initially took the lead in interviewing
Zubaydah st the CIA facility,” but that “CIA personnel assumed control over the interviews”
when they arrived at the facility.'¥

12 (o mittoe stafT interview of FBI Special Agent (December 21, 2007).

B mhid,

134 Thid, _

# 1ol IG Report at 68, | , :

136 (s mmittes staff interview of James Mitchell (Tuly 10, 2007), Committes staff interview of FBI Special Agent
(December 21, 2007).

7 committes steff interview of FBI Special Agent (December 21, 2007).

im m

|




(U) The FBI Special Agent told the DoJ Inspector General that he alzo “raised objections
to these techniques to the CIA and told the CIA it was ‘borderling tarture, "' According to the
unclassified DoJ Inspector General’s report, a second FBI agent present did not have a “*moral
objection’” to the techniques and noted that he had “undergone comparable harsh interrogation
tnclnﬁqueﬁ %m part of the U.S. Army Survival, Evasion, Resistance and Escape (SERE)
training.” |

(U) According to the DoJ Inspector General’s report, FBI Counterterrorism Assistant
Director Pat I>* Amuro gave the instruction to both FBI agents to “come home #nd not participate
in the CIA interrogation.” The first FBI Special Agent left immediately, but the other FBI agent
remained until early June 2002.'* The report said that around the time of Zubaydah's
imterrogation, FBI Director Robert Mueller decided that FBI agents would not participate in
interrogations involving techniques the FBI did not normally use inthe United States, even
though the OLC had determined such techniques were legal.'** Then-National Security Advisor
Condoleczza Rice said that she had a “general recollection that FBI had decided not to
participate in the CIA interrogations” but “was not aware that FBI personnel objected to
interrogation techniques used or proposed for use with Abu Zubaydah ” ***

B.  JPRA Assistance to Another Government Agency (U)

As interrogation of Abu Zubaydah was ongoing,
The Chief of JPRA’s Operaticnial Support

Office (0SQ), Christopher Wi ittes that he had five or fewer meetings with.
where they discussed interrogations.'*® |

13 17 5, Department of Justice, Office of the Inspector Genersl, A Review of the FEI s Involvement in and
Observations of Detainee Interrogations in Guantanamo Bay, Afxhanixtan, and Irag (May 2008) st 68 (hercinafter

“Dol IG Report”),
W bid, ot 69,
. M Committee staff interview of FBI Special Agent (December 21, 2007).

9 D 1G Report st 69; ss also Counter Resistancs Strategy Musting Mirutes at 4, (Months later, in an Octobes 2,

2002 meeting with DoD officials at Guantanamo Bay, Chief Counsel to the CIA’s CotmtarTeryurist Center (CTC)
y Jonathan Fredmen confirmed that “fwlhen the C1A has wented to use more aggressive techniques in the

past, the FBI has pulled their personnel from theater.™) .

™ Dol 1G Repoart at 73, ‘ ‘ :

% Condoleszzn Rics answers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Senator Carl Levin (September 12, 2008).

% Cammittea staff interview of Chri (Gamuary 4, 2007), see also JPRNDSO,.

Opsretions for JFRA support to anticy (October 3, 2002), The memo states, hes made

informal requests for JPRA suppart to to wae exploitation/intarrogation techniques . . . Five
betwe ‘

separate meetings have been conducted and JPRA representatives. . .*
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-mlwim in the first six months of 2002, JPRA assisted with the

preperation of scat 10 interrogate a high level al Qacda operative, ¥’ Ina June -

20, 2002 memo to JPRA's Commander Randy Moulton, JPRA’s Deputy Commander Col John

Prior, characterized the assistance ﬁ “iraining” and noted that the psychologist had suggested
%

vexploitation strategiea” to officer.”
Dr. Bruce Jessen, JPRA's senior SERE psychologist, told the Committes

who was an route to an interrogation.'®® He said he w
and pre-mission preparation for a group of

but that he did not discuss
HPRA also conducted traini
officers.””” OnJune 17, 2002 sertl & request to the Joint Staff seeking DoD

 JPRA training.'* That request was drafted by an
and Mr. Wirts, JPRA's OSO Chief.'? DoD) General Counse! Jim
request for JPRA training at

Haynes told the Committes that he had been made aware of &

Jeast as early as late summer 2002,
ssked that JPRA provide traiving [N o-

topica m deprivation tachniques,” “exploitation and questioning

techniques,” and “developing countermeasures to resistance techniques,”'* The training was
intended to “prepare [ officers for rotations in Afghanistan and alsewhers.'

In responsa to that request, JPRA Deputy Commander Col John Prior
recommended to the JPRA Commander:

e from Gol John Price I1a PRA/CC (Cal Randy Moultond, Reguest from I for Interrogation
Training Support (June 20, 2002). ‘

. mIbid.
v [ eitialty, the scninr SERE prychologiat could nat pecall f he provided this assistance o the
while ha we still warking st JPRA or if the essistance had rholeR JFRA. Afer he left JPRA in 2002,

the serior SERE piychologist bogan warking s a contractor but wis restricted from discussing the
nature of his work with the Committos. Comruittas staff interview of Bruce Jeasen (November 13, 2007).

[l Moo trom Foeal Point to Joint S L
m Spocial Activitics Branch, (U) Reguest for JFRA Personnel for Training (June 17, 2002) (herei
Requext for JPRA Parsomel for Treiring (funs 17, 2002)").
o N Rovuexi for JFRA Personnsl for Training (e 17, 2002).
1 [ Fex covar shoet from [ Christopher Wirts (vie Colin Junkins) (fune 18,200 |
A ¢ mmittos stafT intarview of William J, Heynea 11 {April 25, 2008) st 40.
WA 2¢cuest for JPfs Parsonnel for Training (June 17, 2002). Tna dref of the request written
by JPRA's OSO Chief Christopher Wirts and sent to 14, 2002, Mr. Wirts Mentified the samé topics
for training. Mr. Wins explained to his point of contact that their shility to support the request was
Wm. Jessan's svailability, who Mr. Wirts described as “critical in srovi £ that
i# requiring ™ Momo [rom Christopher Wirts (ﬁz.Fw
Support 1o Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) (June 14, \
YN 7equext for JFRA Personml for Training (hme 17, 2002).




Because of the urgent need to extract information from captured al Qaeda
operatives, and because JPRA has the sole repository of the reguired skill
JPRA personnel should provide this expertise and training to

To preveat compromise and inadvertent modification of JPRA's charter,
personnel will avoid linking JPRA directly to this training,

.. . Having the true exploitation and captivity environment experts and specialists,

JPRA may be called upon in extremis to actually participate in future exploitation
of foreign prisoners; this request would clearly fall outside JFRA’s chartered

responsibilities; if this request is made, JPRA would require a SecDef policy
determination . . !4 ‘ o

-Col Pfiqr’s memo stated that the JFCOM 1.3 or his office had bﬁ“MWd of
B =i port requests. ™ A Joint Staff Action Processing Form indicated that request
was endorsed by JPRA, JFCOM, Joint Staff, and the Office of the Undersecretary of Defense for

Policy and approved on June 27, 2002.1%

’ In advance of the training, JPRA dav_eloﬁed a two day lesson for -
Il covering the “full spectrum [of] exploitation,” including both explanations and
demonstrations of physical pressures that were approved for use at JJRA’s SERE school. 19 Ay

the time, JPR A-approved techniques included body slaps, face slaps, hooding, stress positions,
walling, immersion in water, stripping, isolation, and sleep deprivation, among others, !

The two day training took place at- headquarters on July 1.2, 2002."%
According to a July 16, 2002 after action miemo d for Col Moulton, the training covered

Time was also set aside for who had
recently been conducting interrogations in Afghanistan to discuss their experiences. Other time
was spent covering the physical and psychological pressures used at SERE school. Dr. Gary

v [ Memo from Col Join Pricr 110 JPRA/CC (Col Randy Modton), Reguest from IR for Interrogation
Training Support (Tune 20, 2002). ‘ : . ‘ .

! Mema from Col John Prior I to JFRA/CC (Col Randy Moulte), Requmfmmmar Interrogation
Treining Support (Tune 20, 2002). Although Col John Priar told the Committee that he could not recall the June 20,
2002 memo, JPRA Commander Col Rendy Moulton recalled réceiving it st the time. Since the Committse’s
interview of Col Prior, the Depertment of Defense has provided the Committee witha copy of the memo that was
sigmed by him,

18 scint Statf Action Procassing Form, (1) JFRA Personnel for Training (Juné 27, 2002).

49 Testimony of Joseph Witsch (September 4, 2007) st 63-64, 69.

% Ibid, at 64-69.

i3l o from Joseph Witsch to Col Randy Moulton and Christopher Wirts, Explaitation Training far-
Culy 16, 2002). - : ‘

1% Hhid.
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Percival, a JPRA instfuctor at the training, said that in their demonstration of ph?'sical pressures,
TPRA instructor Joseph Witsch acted as the “beater” while he was the “beatee.™ 3

- In addition to explaining and demonstrating the physical pressures used at SERE
school, the JPRA personnel also provided instruction on waterboarding. 54 |

(U) At the time, waterboarding was only used by the U.8. Navy SERE school and its use
was prohibited at the JPRA, Ammy, and Air Force SERE schools.'* The U.8. Navy has since
abandoned its waterboarding at its SERE schaols. ‘None of the JPRA personnel who provided
the assistance had ever conducted waterboarding and would not have been qualified to do so at

SERE school. ¢

' -— The July 16, 2002 after action memo stated thaimal
personnel were also present for the training.'s’ According to the memo, ersonnel
“requested and were granted time to present the legal limits of physiological and psychological
pressures that were acceptable at the present time.” 158 The afier action memo described the legal
briefing: ‘ , :
Their 30-40 [minute] brief was very supportive. Basically, I were 1014
they could use all forms of psychological pressure discussed and all of the
physiological pressures with the exception of the “water board.” They were
advised that should they feel the need to use the water board, they would need
prior approval. They were also briefed on the ramifications for participating in
torture, which under international law is defined as a ‘capital crime’ and could
result in a death sentence if convicted. An eye opener (0 say the Jeast.'

The JPRA instructors who conducted the training did not recall [ 12 wyers
providing any further guidance about how to seck approval for use of the waterboard in an
interrogation.'® . : o :

| (U) However, Chief Counsel to the_ Jonathan
Fredman later described an approval process for the use of aggressive interrogation techniques

19 Committes staff interview of Gary Percival (Tuly 25, 2007)
1 Tastimony of Joseph Witsch (September 4, 2007) ot 65.

1% Memo from Dr. Percival to JPRA CC (Col Moulton), Camments on Physical Pressures wsed for CoC Trairing
(hme 18, 2004).

1% Testimony of Joseph Witsch (September 4, 2007) at €9.

3 o from Joseph Witsch to Col Randy Moulton and Christopher Wirts, Explailation Traring forlJi
(Fuly 16, 2002). '

¥ Thid. |

1% 1hid. (emphasis in original).

180 testimony of Joseph Witsch (September 4, 2007) st 75,
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reportedly explaining that “[t]he CIA makes the call internally on most of the tjrpm of
techniques,” but that “[s]ignificantly harsh techniques are approved through the DoJ. ¢

- In his after action memo from- {raining, JPRA instructor Joseph Witsch
stated that “the training seemed well received and beneficial for the majority of the personnel
present.”'® He observed that some of the class participants had “little to no[ ] experience” in
interrogation and others had “recently returned from conducting actual interrogations in
Afghanistan,™© o

I SR 1 his memo, Mr. Witsch also commented on JPRA’s future support to

interrogations, writmg: _
I believe our miche lics in the fact that we can provide the ability to exploit
personne} based on how our enemies have done this type of thing over the last
five decades. Our enemies have had limited success with this methodology due to
the extreme dedication of [American] personnel and their harsh and mismanaged
application of technique. The potential exists that we could refine the process 10
achieve effective manipulation/exploitation. We must have a process thai goes
beyond the old paradigm of military interrogation for tactical information or
criminal investigation for legal proceedings. These methods are far too fimited in
scope to deal with the new war on global terrorism.™®

- Mr. Witsch recommended that JPRA. develop two courses for future JPRA
customers - & basic course and an advanced course to deal with “senior, hardeore, and resistance
trained detainees.”'® The courses, he said, will need “immediate attention and will require a
total role reversal from current methodology and our standard approaches to training. It will take
a cross section of SERE experienced personnel —SERE instructors, psychologists, MDs and
intelligence personnel to effectively develop this tew approach to captive handling and -
manipulation.”' %

C Semior SERE Psychologist Detailed From Department of Defense to Other
Government Agency (U)

[0 July 2002, after the IPRAtmininPthe gemior SERE =~
paychologist, Dr. Bruce Jessen was detailed to for several days.'" At the conclusion of

9 Counter Resistance Strategy Meeting Minutes at 4.

Nﬁlﬁrg Josgh Wiich o Col Ry Mol nd Chiscph Wirts, Exploitation Training forfJ]J}

¥ Thid

™ Thid

b1 4] Ibi d.

18 Thid, : ‘
%7 ¢ ommittes stafT mterview of Bruce Jessen (July 11, 2007).

23



g’om the Department of Defense and began working as an

this assignment, Dr. Jessen retired
independent contractor t

(U) Dr. Jessen did tell the Committee that, in some circurnstances, physically coercive
techmiques are appropriate for use in detainee interrogations. He said that the use of physically
coercive techniques may be appropriate when (1) there is good reason to believe that the
individual has perishable imelligence, (2) the techniques are lawful and authorized, (3) they are
carefully controlled with medical and psychological oversight, (4) someone (who is not
otherwise involved in the interrogation) can stop the use of the techniques, and (3) the techniques
do not cause long-term physical or psychological harm. '™ Dr. Jessen acknowledged that
empirically, it is not possible to know the effect of a technigue used on a detaines in the long-
tetm, unless you study the effects in the long-term. However, he said that his conclusion about
the long-term effects of physically coercive techniques was based on forty years of their use at
SERE school,'”

(U) Subsequent to his retirement from DoD, Dr. Jessen joined Dr. Mitchell and other
former JPRA officials to form a company called Mitchell Jessen & Associates. Mitchell Jessen
& Associates is co-owned by seven individuals, six of whom either worked for JPRA or one of
the service SERE schools as employees and/or contractors,'’ As of July 2007, the company had
between 55 and 60 mployees, several of whom were former JPRA employses. o

D. D@m«mx of Defense General Counsel Seeks Information on SERE
Technigues From JPRA (U)

(1) Jugt weeks after the JPRA provided assistance to the OGA, DoD Deputy General
Counsel for Intelligence Richard Shiffrin contacted JPRA Chief of Staff Daniel Baumgartner
secking a list of exploitation and interrogation techniques that had been effective against
Americans./™ In testimony to the DoD Inspector General (1G), Mr. Shiffrin stated that he made

158 Thid
18 Thid ; Letter to Chairman Levin (Tune 22, 2007). ‘ :

™ Committse staff interview of Bruce Jeasen (November 13, 2007). Lawyers for Dr. Mitchell informed the
Committee that he shares the same view g3 his colleague, Dr. Jessen, , -

7 rommitiee staff interview of Bruce Jeasen (November 13, 2007).

;’;ﬂc_lgmmm staff interview of Jamea Mitchell (Tuly 10, 2007); Committee staff interview of Bruce Jeasen (July 11,

1T Committee staff interview of James Mitchell (Fuly 10, 2007); Committee staff interview of Christopher Wirts
(January 4, 2008). ‘

1" Erail from Lt Col Dan Baumgartner to Col Randy Moulton et al. (July 23, 2002).
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the request after several conversations with General Counsel Jim Haynes,'™ Mr. Shiffrin later
said that everything he asked for from JPRA was to respond to requests from Mr, Haynes. 1% Mr,
Haynes testified to the Committee that he could not remember “specifically” asking Mr. Shiffrin
for information on SERE techniques, but that he “asked generally” about that subject sometime
in the summer of 2002, He also said that he remembered being “interested” in that information,
and that if he had roquested it, he would have requested it through Mr. Shiffri 17 Although Mr.
Haynes did not say why he was interested in this information, when asked whether he had
discussed “SERE techniques with [] Messrs, Gonzales, Addington, Rizzo, Yoo, or any of the

other senior lawyers” he met with “regularly,” Mr. Haynes testified to the Commitice that he
udid discuss SERE techniques with other people in the administration.™ ™

(U) JPRA Chief of Staff Lt Col Danicl Baumgartner said that when the request from the
. General Counsel’s office came in, he called Col Moulton and Brig Gen Thomas Moore, the

JFCOM Director for Operations (J3), and received permission to provide the requested
- formation to the General Counsel’s office.'”” JPRA initially responded to the General
Counsel’s inquiry on July 25, 2002 with a memorandum signed by Lt Col Baumgariner.'®

The JPRA memorandum stated that “JPRA has arguably developed into the
DoD’s experts on exploitation.™ It continued:

Recognizing the typical training for strategic debriefers in the intellipence
community did not include either SERE training (as a student) or grounding in
explojtation strategy and asgociated interrogation techniques, JPRA offered
assistance 1o intellipence organizati charged with i jew] em
detainees, JPRA

will brief the Criminal Investigative Task
Foree (CITF) next Tuesday to determine their requirements,'®"
162

(U) JPRA attached several lesson plans on exploitation and interrogation to the memo..
In closing, the memo stated: '

3 Dol 1G, Interview of Richard Shiffrin (July 24, 2006) at 6.

1 Committee steff interview of Richard Shiffrin (May 22, 2007).

Y77 SASC Hearing (June 17, 2008).

'™ Thid.

I® Commities staff interview of Lt Col Daniel Beumgartner (Augnst 8, 2007); e¢ also email from Col Moulten to

HHW 30, 2006) (*We [JPRA] initially received a call from OSD General Counscil (sic) requesting
ormation resistance techniques used against U.S. POWSs. I believe this was early on in Operation Enduring

Frecdom, We were requestad to provide that informetion within hours and were suthorized by JFCOM to forward it

to OSD. . . . Oce we understood what OSD/GC was looking for, we provided af] list of tachniques.”)

190 \femo from Lt Col Deniel Esumgertner to Office of the Secretary of Defense Genernl Counsel, Exploitation
(Faly 25, 2002). | _

™ Thid at 1.
™ 1hid. et 2-3.
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The enclossd documents provide a thorough academic grounding in exploitation
and were built on What has been effective against Americans in the past. The
ability to exploit, however, is a highly specialized skill set built on training and
experience.  JPRA will continue to offer exploitation assistance to those
governmental organizations charged with the mission of gleaning intelligence
from enemy detainess.'® '

(U) The memorandum and its attachments were delivered to the Deputy General Counsel
Richard Shiffrin by a JFRA employee and were emailed to relevant personmel at both JPRA and
Brig Gen Moore's office at JFCOM.'* DoD General Counsel Jim Haynes did not recall whether
or niot he saw the memo at the time, but said that “in all likelihood,” he would have received the
memo, and that the timing of the memo coincided with his recollection of his meeting with JFRA

pemonnal.m

(U) According to Lt Col Baumgartner, prior to the July 25, 2002 memo being delivered
to the General Counsel’s office, Mr. Shifftin called him to ask for additional information,
including a list of techniques used by JPRA at SERE school. Mr. Shiffrin testified to the
Committee that he was “under pressure” from Mr, Haynes to get the material 10 his office as
quickly as possible.'*

(U) Lt Col Baumgartner said that he thought the General Counsel’s office was asking for
information on exploitation and physical pressures to use them in interrogations. Mr. Shiffrin
confirmed that one of the jpurposes for seeking information from JPRA was to “reverse-
engineer” the techniques.” Lt Col Baumgariner said that he wanted to be helpful, but that he
told Mr. Shiffrin that JPRA's techniques were designed to show Americans the worst possible
treatment that they may face, and that any recommendation for the use of techniques on
detainees would require Administration approval.'®

(U) On July 26, 2002, JPRA completed a second memorandum with three attachments to
respond o the additionsl questions from the General Counsel’s office. The memo stated that
“JPRA has arguably developed into the DoD)'s experts on exploitation and as such, has
de\‘r;:gged a :}gnber of physical pressures to increase the psychological and physical stress on
m . .H .

10 (id. at 2: ser also email from Lt Col Daniel Beumgartnar to Col Randy Moulton et al. (uly 25, 2002) (Thenking
“the *exploitation answer stuckee’ team” for “an outstanding job enswering [] Mr. Hanes (sic) snd Mr. Schiffren
(sic) {OSD Dep GC for Intal) an their question ‘what exploitation techniques have worked against Americans?™)

M Brail from Lt Col Daniel Boumgartmer to Col Randy Moulton et sl., copying Darrell Venture (JFCOM
Directorate of Operations) (July 25, 2002).

18 Committes staff interview of Witliam I, Haynes II (April 25, 2008) at 51, 35.
" SASC Hearing (Fune 17, 2008).

17 1hid,

1 Committes staff interview of 1t Col Daniel Baumgartner (Awgust 8, 2007).

180 ) famo from Lt Col Beumgartner to Office of the Secretary of Defense General Counsel, Exploitation and
Physical Pressures (July 26, 2002) at 1.
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In the memo, JPRA informed the General Counsel's office that it had

already “assist[ed] in the training of interrogator/exploiters from other governmental agencies
charged with OEF exploitation of enemy detainecs.”’® The memo also stated:

Within JPRA’s evolving curriculum to train interrogators/exploiters many
interrogation approaches are taught along with corresponding options for physical
pressures to enhance the psychological setting for detainee interrogation. Several
of the techniques highlighted (Atch 1) as training tools in JPRA courses, used by
other SERE schools, and used historically may be very effective in inducing
fearned helplessness and “breaking’ the OEF detainees” willto resist.™?

The first attachment to the July 26, 2002 memo was“Physical Pressures used in
Resistance Training and Against American Prisoners and Detainees.”>> That attachment '
inchuded a list of techniques used to train students at SERE school 10 resist interrogation. The
list included techniques such as the facial slap, walling, the abdomen slap, use of water, the
attention grasp, and stress positions.’® The first attachment also listed techniques used by some
of the service SERE schools, such as use of smoke, shaking and manhandling, cramped
confinement, immersion in water or wetting down, and waterboarding.

JPRA’s description of the waterboarding technique provided in that first
attachment wes inconsistent in key respects from the U.S. Navy SERE school’s description of
waterboarding. According to the Navy SERE school’s aperating instructions, for example, while
administering the techmique, the Navy limited the amount of water poured on a student’s face to
two pints, However, the JPRA attachment said that “up to 1.5 gallons of water” may be poured
onto & “subject’s face.” While the Navy’s operating instructions dictated that “{n]o effort will be
made to direct the stream of water into the student’s nostrils or mouth,” the description provided
by JPRA contained no such limitation for subjects of the technique. While the Navy limited the
use of the cloth on a student’s face to twenty seconds, the JPRA's description said only that the

cloth should remain in place for a “short period of time.” And while the Navy restricted anyone
frorn placing pressure on the chest or stomach during the administration of this technique,
JPRA's description included no such limitation for subjects of the technique.,'™

Attachment one also listed tactics derived from JPRA SERE school lesson plans
that were designed to *induce control, dependency, complia[njee, and cooperation,” including
isolation or solitary confinement, induced physical weakness and exhaustion, degradation,

196 n, -

Thid.
19 ) femo from 1t Col Buumpartaer to Office of the Secretary of Defense Geners] Counsel, Exploitation and
Physical Prassures (Tuly 26, 2002) at 1.

153 SPRA, Physical Pressures Used In Rasistance Training and Against Amaricen Prisoners and Dataineés, attachad
to memo from Lt Col Baumgartnsr to Office of the Secretary of Defonse Gencral Counscl {Fuly 26, 2002).

¥ Ihid.
194 Compare FASG Detachment Bronswick Instruction 3305.C (Tenuary 1, 1998) at .5 with Physical Pressures
Used In Resistance Trairing and Against American Prisoners and Detainees ot 3-4.
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conditioning, sensory deprivation, sensory overload, disruption of sleep and biorhythms, and
manipulation of diet,'™

(U) DoD General Counsel Jim Haynes told the Committee that afthough he could not
recall if he had seen the spacific list of SERE physical pressures sent to his office on July 26,
2002, he knew that he had seen a list of physical pressures used in JPRA resistance training,'*®

- Mr. Haynes also recalled that he may have been “asked that information be pivento
the Justice Department for something they were working on,” which he said related to a program
he was not free to discuss with the Committee, even in a classified setting.'”’

(U) A second attachment to the July 26, 2002 JPRA memo to the General Counsel’s
office was entitled “Operational Issues Pertaining to the use of Physical/Psychological Coercion
in Interrogation.”™® In attachment two, JPRA stated that the memo did not purport to address
the “myriad legal, ethical, or moral implications of torture; rather, [the memo focused o;’g the key
operational considerations relative to the use of physical and psychological pressures.”

(U) Attachment two described operational risks associated with using “physical and/or
psychological duress” (a phrase that JPRA used interchangeably with “torture” throughout most
of attachment two) in interrogations,”® The attachment said that one risk was that the use of
these methods would increase the “prisoner’s level of resolve to resist cooperating.™” JPRA
explained that “[o]nce any means of duress has been purposefully applied to the prisoner, the
formerly cooperative relationship caznnot be reestablished. In addition, the prisoner’s level of
resolve to resist cgoc;peming with the interrogator will likely be increased as a result of barsh or
brutal treatment.”

(U) According to sttachment two, another risk to using techniques that increase physical
and psychological duress was that it created doubts about the reliability and accuracy of
information obtained.?® JPRA explained in attachment two that “[i}f an interrogator produces
information that resulted from the application of physical and psychological duress, the
reliability and accuracy of this information is in doubt. In other words, a subject in extreme pain
may provide an answer, any answer, or many answers in order to get the pain to stop.” 2

Y% Phwsical Prassures Used In Resistance Traiving and Agoing American Prisoners and Detdinees.
% Committes staff interview of William J, Haynes Il (April 25, 2008) at 87.
% Thid. at 88.

1% IPRA, Operational Issues Pertaining to the Use of Physical/Psychological Coercion in Interrogation (undated),
attached to memo from It Col Baumgartner to Offica of the Secretary of Defense General Counsel (July 26, 2002).

129 Ibid-
% Thid,
30! Thid,
22 Thid,
™ Thid.
2 thid,
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(U) A third operational risk was the potential impact that the physical and psychological
duress could have on treatment of U.S. pmonne:l.m JPRA explained in attachment two that:

Another important aspect of the debate over the use of torture is the consideration
of its potential impact on the safety of U.S. personnel captured by curront and
future adversaries. The unimended consequence of a U.S. policy that provides for
the torture of prisoners is that it could be used by our adversaries as justification
for the torture of captured U.8, personnel. While this would have little impact on
those regimes or organizations that already employ torfure as a standard means of
operating, it could serve as the critical impetus for those that are currently
weighing the potential gains and risks associated with the torture of U.S, persons
to accept torture as an acceptable option. 206

(U) The third attachment to JPRA’s July 26, 2002 memao Was a memo from the Chief of

. Psychology Services at the Air Force SERE school, Jerald Oprisseg, on the “Peychological
Effects of Resistance Training,**"’ That memorandum, which was generated in response to 2
specific request from the General Counsel’s office, described available evidence on the long-
term peychological effects of Air Force SERE training on U1.8. personnel and commented from a
psychological perspective on the effects of using the waterboard. ,

(U) JPRA Chief of Staff Danie] Banmgartner said that when the General Counsel’s office
requested a memo on the psychological effects of resistance training, he called Dr. Ogrisseg at
the Department of the Air Force's Air Education and Training Command.”® Dr. Ogrisseg said
that 1.+ Col Baumgartner asked his opinion during the phone call about his thoughts on
waterboarding the enemy.”® Dr, Ogrisseg recalled asking, “wonldn't that be illegal7®
According to Dr. Ogrisseg, Lt Col Baumgartner replied that people were asking “from above”
about using waterboarding in real world intmgaﬁom.m Dr., Ogrisseg recalled tetling Lt Col
Baumgartner, “aside from being illegal, it was a completely different arena that we in the
Survival School didn’t know anything about.”** :

(L)) Subsequent to that call, Dr. Ogriss;ag reviewed the data on the effects of Air Forcs
SERE resistance training on students and produced his memo, concluding that “if there are any
long-term psychological effects of [U.8. Air Force Resistance Training], they are certainly

™ Thid

™ Tid, |

7 Dr. Jerald Ogrisseg, Psychological Effects of Resistance Traiming (July 24, 2002), sttached 1o mema from Lt Col
Deniel Boumgartner to Offics of the Secretary of Defenss General Counsel (July 26, 2007) (hereinaftar
“Peychological Effects af Resistance Trabning”).

W1y Jerald Ogrinscs, the Chief of Paychology Services st the Department of the Air Foree's Air Education and
Training Command, told the Committee that he had accepted s position st JPRA prior to writing the memao but hed
yet to officially change jobs. Committes staff imerview of Jerald Ogrisseg (June 26, 2007).

% SASC Hearing (fune 17, 2008),
40 fhid,
B 1 thd.
21 hid . ‘
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minimal.” 2* The memo attributed this conclusion to efforts the Air Force SERE program
undertook 1o minimize the risk of temporary psychological effects of resistance training
becoming longderm effects.”* The Air Force minimized the risk by, among other things,
performing three extensive debriefings during training. Dr. Ogrisseg said that “affording
students these opportunities to discuss their training experiences in open group environments
mitigates the risk of tuing a ‘dramsatic’ experience into 2 “raumatic’ experience.” 5 Hetold
the Commuttes that there are numerous controls in place at SERE school to ensure that the
training does not become “traumatic” for its studerits. 6

(U) Dr. Ogrisseg said that Lt Col Baumgartner also asked him “to comment on both the
physical and psychological effects of the waterboard,” which he described in his memo as an
“igtense physical and psychological stressor” used at the U.S. Navy SERE school.#? Although
Dr. Ogrisseg had not used the waterboard himself, he had observed its use in a visit to the Navy
SERE School, He stated that, based on that visit, he did not believe that the “water[] board
posed  real and serious physical danger to the students” who experienced it at the SERE school,
stating that the “Navy had highly qualified medical personnel immediately available to intervene,
and their shudents had a1l been medically screened pior to training. Psychologically, however,
the water]] board broke the students” will to resist providing information and induced
helplessness.” 4 :

(U) Dr. Ogrisseg said that he was surprised when he found out {ater that Lt Col
Baumgartner had forwarded his memo to the Generel Counsel’s office along with a list of the
physical and psychological techniques used in SERE school. 2! Dr. Qgrisseg said that his
analysis was produced with students in mind, not detainees. He stated that the conglusions in his
memo were not applicable to the offensive use of SERE techniques against real world detainees
and he would not stand by the conclusions in his memo if they were applied to the use of SERE
tesistance training techniques on defainees. ‘

(U) In a written response to a question posed by Senator Carl Levin after the
Committee’s June 17, 2008 hearing, Dr, Ogrisseg elaborated on that point noting several
“important differences between SERE school and real world interrogations that would limit [the]

2 peycholegical Effects of Resistance Training

M Peychological Effects of Resistance Traiving at 1.

m hid '

16 Comwittae staff interview of Jerald Ogrisseg (hunc 26, 2007).

07 GASC Hearing (fune 17, 2008). Psychalogical Effects of Resistance Training st 2.

’“! When providing this memo to the Geners! Counsel's office, Lt Col Baumgariner stated: “While there is
1ot much empirical dats on the long term effects of physical pressures used in SERE schocls (which fall well short
of causing *grave paychological damage"), the psychological staff at the Air Force SERE school makes some
interesting observations [} that suggest training techniques can be very effertive in producing compliance while not
causing any long term damage.” Memo from Lt Col Baumgartner to Office of the Searetary of Defense General
Counsel, Exploitation and Physical Pressures (July 26, 2002), Psychological Effects of Resistance Training st 2.

2% Committee staff interview of Jerald Ogrisseg (June 26, 2007).
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conclusions [in his memc] to the SERF. school training population.™ 20 Among those differences
Dr. Ogrisseg identified were (1) the extensive physical and psychological pre-screening -
processes for SERE school students that are not feasible for detainees, (2) the variance in injuries
between a SERE school student who enters training and a detainee who arrives at an

~ interrogation facility after capture, (3) the limited risk of SERE instructors mistreating their own
personnel, especially with extensive oversight mechenisms in place, compared to the risk of
interrogators mistreating non-country personnel, (4) the voluntary nature of SERE training,
which can be terminated by a student at any time, compared to the involuntary nature of being a
detainee, (5) the limited duration of SERE training, which has a known starting and ending point,
compared to the often lengthy, and unknown, period of detention for a detainee, and (7) the
underlying goals of SERE school (to help students learn from and benefit from their training)
and the mechanisms in place to ensure that students reach those goals compared to the goal of
interrogation (to elicit information). ‘

(1) In addition, Di. Ogrisség also stated that, since writing his memo in July 2002, he had
reviewed studies about the effects of near death experiences, and that he had become concerned
about the use of waterboarding even as a training tool.”! The U.S. Navy SERE school
abandoned its use of the waterboard in November 2007.

(U} Lt Col Baumgartner testified to the Committee that, subsequent to sending his iwo
mermnos anid their attachments — including the list of SERE techniques - to the General Counsel’s
office, another government agency asked for the same information. Lt Col Baumgartner said
that he provided that information to the OGA.*®

.In his interview with the Committee, Lt Col Baumgartner said that ll personnel had
cortacted him requesting a copy of the same information that had been sent 1o the DoD General

Counsel. Li Col Baumgartner recalled speaking to an attomey and a psychologist at
about the request and sending the information to ﬂamm |

E  TheDepartment of Justice Changes the Rules (U)

(L) On August 1, 2002, less than a week after JPRA sent the DoD General Counsel’s
Office its memoranda and attachments, the Department of Justice issued two legal opinions
signed by then-Assistant Attorney General for the Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) Jay Bybee.

(U) Before drafting the Augusi 1, 2002 opinions, Deputy Assistant Attorney General for
the OLC John Yoo had met with Counsel to the President Alberto Gonzales and Counsel to the
Vice-President David Addington to discuss the subjecta that he intended to address. ™ Then-

IO Dr. Ogrissog elso explained that *[wihile long-term psychological harm cen oceur from relatively brief
distressing expeariences, the likelihood of psychological harm is generally increased by more lengthy and uncertain
detentions.” Responses of Dr, Jerald Ogrisseg to Questicns for the Record (July 28, 2008).

" 2 Committes staff interview of Jerald Ogrisseg (June 26, 2007).
¥ SASC Hearing (hunc 17, 2008): \ |
1 Committes staff interview of Lt Col Daniel Baumgartmer (August 8, 2007),

™ According to Mr. Addington, he met “regularly” with a group of Iawyers that included DoD Geneml Counael Jim
Haynes, White House Counsel Alberto Gonzales, and the CIA General Counsel John Rizen. This group that met
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National Security Advisor Condoleezza Rice said that she understood that the Department of
Justice's le%asl advice to the CIA “was being coordinated by Counsel to the President Alberto
Gonzales.” '

(U) The first of the two August 1, 2002 OLC memoranda, known to many as the “First
Bybee” memo, presented OLC's narrow interpretation of what constituted torture under U.S.
law. The memo stated that the federal anti-torture stahste of 1994 prohibited “only extreme acts”
and that in order to constitute torture, physical pain would have to be equivalent in intensity to
that accompanying “serious physical injury, such as organ failure, impairment of bodily
. functions or even death.”*** For menta] pain to rise to the level of torture, according to the
memo, it would have to result in “siFMﬁcam psychological harm of significant duration, e.g.,
lasting for months or even years.”%’ The First Bybee memo also found that the federal anti-
torture statute may not be applicable to interrogations ordered by the President if he acted
pursuant to his Constitutional commander-in-chief powers. Further, the memo argned that even
if the federal anti-torture statute could be construed to apply 1o such interrogations, the defenses
of necessity and self-defense could potentially eliminate criminal iability under the statute.”*

(U) The First Bybee memo also effectively dispensed with the “specific intent”
requirement of the federal anti-torture statute by narrowly defining that requirement. The federal
anti-torture stanse states that, in order to constitute torture, an act must be “specifically intended
to inflict severe physical or mental pain or suffering. "3 The First Bybee memo stated that in
order “for a defendant to have acted with specific intent, he must expressly intend to achieve the
forbidden act.”™® Under that interpretation, to violate the law, a person must expressly intend to
commit torture and the memo stated that “knowledge alone that a particular result iz cerfain to
oceur does not constitute specific intent.” \ '

regularly ~ which Mr. Addington said was referred to as the “War Council™ by Mr. Haynes — slzo included OLC
lawyers John Yoo and Tim Flanigan. According to Mr. Addington, the group of lawyers met about a “range of
issues.” including interrogation of enemy combatants in the war on terror. When Mr. Haynes was asked whether he
had discussad “SERE techniques with [] Mesars. Gonzales, Addington, Rizzn, Yoo, of any of the other sanior
lawyers” he met with “regularly,” Mr. Haynes tzstified to the Committee thet he “did discuss SERE techniques with
ather people in the sdminjstration. ™ These conversations ocourred prior to the December 2, 2002 approval of
aggressive interrogation techniques, including those derived from SERE, by the Secratary of Defense. Ses From the
~ Department of Justice to Guantanamo Bay: Administration Lawyers and Administration Intarrogation Rulea, Part
TIL, House Committee on the Tudiciery, Subcommittoe an the Constitution, Civil Rights, and Civil Liberties, 110"
Cong. (June 26, 2008) (Testimony of David Addington);, SASC Hearing (ume 17, 2008) (Testimony of William J,
Haynes IT); The Temor Presidepcy at 22. ‘
85 Condoleczza Rice answers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Senator Carl Levin (September 12, 2008).

3% The memo was Jeaked to the preas in June 2004 and was rescinded by the OLC later that month. Memo from
Assistant Attomey General Jay Bybee to White House Counsal Alberto Gonzales, Standards of Conduct for
* Interrogation under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2340-23404 (August 1, 2002). ' '

7 Thid.,
8 Thid. |
B 18 U.8.C. § 2340(1) (2008). .

0 Memo from Assistant Attorney General Jay Bybee to Whita House Counsel Alberto Gonzales, Standar&saf
Conduet for Interrogation under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2340-23404 (August 1, 2002), :
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(U) Jack Goldsmith, who succeeded Jay Bybee as Assistant Att&mey General of the OLC
in 2003, described the First Bybee memo’s conclugions and their effect: :

[Vliolent acts aren’t necessarily torture; if you do torture, you probably have a
defense; and even if you don’t have a defense, the torture law doesn't apply if you
act under color of presidential authority. CIA interrogators and their supervisors,
under pressure to get information about the next attack, viewed the opinion as a
‘golden shield,” as one ClA official later called it, that provided emormous
comfoﬂ. 231 L

(U) The second August 1, 2002 OLC legal opinion was also signed by Assistant Atiomey
General Jay Bybee.® According to a declaration made to the United States District Court for
the Southern District of New York by the Information Review Officer for the CIA, the so-called
“Second Bybes” memo is an 18-page legal memorandum from the OLC to the Office of General
Counsel of the CIA containing “information relating to the CIA’s terrorist detention and
interrogation program” and “advice to the CIA regarding potential interrogation methods.™ 3
According to the filing, the CIA requested the legal guidance from the Department of Justice. **
A February 1, 2005 letter from the Justice Depariment to Senator Arlen Specter, then-Chairman
of the Senate Judiciary Commitiee, stated that the Second Bybee memo gave the CIA “specific
advice concerning spesific interrogation practices, concluding that they are lawful.” % And the
unclassified report of the Department of Justice Inspector General explained that the opinion
analyzed “specific techniques approved for use on Zubaydah includ[ing] waterboarding . . .

John Bellinger, the NSC Legal Advisor, said

B0 Former Assistart Attomey General for the OLC Jack Goldsmith, who rescinded the memo, criticized the Fimt
Bybes memo a5 lagally flawed, redundant and cne-sided, terdentiows in tone, urmecesserily narvow in ita defmition
of torture, and widely broader than necessary in its asseasment of Presidential euthorities. The Terror Presidency at
143-51.

2 The Secand Bybee merio has been withheld from the Committee.

3§50k Docl, of Marilyn A. Dom, § 56, American Civil Liberties Union, et al v. Dapartment of Defenss, et ak., No.
04-Civ, 4151 (January 5, 2007). ‘ o '

4 ginth Decl. of Matilyn A. Dom, ] 62, American Civil Liberties Urdon, et al v. Départment of Defense, et al., No.
04-Civ, 4151 (January 5, 2007). ‘ |

B ] aner from Assistant Attomey General William E. Moschella to Chairman of the Senate Judiciary Committee
Arlen Specter (February 1, 2005); se¢ also The Tarror Presidency et 150-151 (According to Jack Goldsmith, the
First Byboe memo “pmlyudthummmwmﬂmmm untied to any concrets practices™ and then the Second
Bybeo Memo, “upplied this abstract analysis 1o approve particular™ interogation techniques.)

™ Dol I Report st 101, f. 73; se¢ alto From the Department of Justics to Guantanamo Bay: Administration
Lawyers and Administration Intetrogstion Rules, Part T, House Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittes on the
Constitution, Civil Rights, and Civil Liberties, 110 Cong. (June 26, 2008) (prepared testimany of John Yoo)
(“OLC was asked to svaluste the legality of intesrogation methods proposed for use with Zubeydah.™)

T Dol 1G Repart.
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that he “expressed concern that the proposed CIA interrogation techniques comply with
applicable U.S. law, including our international obligations. B

(U) The Committee has been denied the Second Bybee memo and does not know which
specific interrogation practices, other than waterboarding, wete analyzed in the memo. A '
heavily redacted version of the Second Bybee memo, released on July 24, 2008, provides no
further details about the specific imtarogation practices that were analyzed by the OLC.2 The
‘unredacted sections only make ¢lear shat the OLC applied its analysis in the First Bybee memo t0
a set of (redacted) facts at issue inthe Second Bybee memo.”* And while public sources have
suggested that the OLC’s analysis applied to Zubaydah, then-Deputy Assistant Attorney General
John Y oo suggested.in recent testimony that it “perhaps” applied to others “gimmlarly situated."*"

(U) According to Acting CIA General Counsel John Rizzo, the techniques that the OLC
analyzed in the Second Bybee memo were provided by his office. In his testimony before the
Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, Mr. Rizzo stated that his office was “the vehicle” for
getting tl_}::s2 interrogation practices anatyzed in the Second Bybe¢ memo.to the Department of
Justice.”

-Lt Col Baumgartner, the JFRA Chief of Staff, recalled sending a copy of the same
information that he had sent to the DoD General Counsel — including the list of SERE technicques
and Dr. Ogrisseg’s memo on the pszchological effects of Air Force SERE training and on
waterboarding — 10 attorney.?® Mr. Haynes, the DoD General Counsel, recailed that in the
context of reviewing the list of SERE techniques provided to his office, that hie may have been

“ 1& that information be given to the Tustice Department for gomething they were working
onrll - . '

(U) With respect to the issues addressed in Dr. Ogrisseg’s memo relating to the
paychological effects of resistance training, Mr. Haynes said that he knew that there was a

% yopn Bellinger answers to July 31, 2008 writien questions fros Senator Carl Levin (September 12, 2008).
9 The remainder of the Second Bybee mema hes not been released publicly.

40 Deputy Assistart Altomey General for the OLC John Yoo, who participeted in the drafting of the Second Byboe
meme, addedthnmthecomdoftthubuydahhmogaﬁm applicetion of the fedaral anti-torturs statute to the
facts “depend[ed] not just on the pearticular interrogation method, but an the subject’s physical and mental
gondition " From the Department of Justice to Guantanamo Bay: Administration Lawyers and Administration
Intarrogation Rules, Part III, House Committes on the Aliciary, Subcommittee on the Constination, Civil Rights,
and Civil Liberties, 110% Cong. (June 26, 2008).

24 Eram the Department of Justice to Guantanama Bay: Administration Lawyers and Administration Interrogation
R_nlu._Pm't Houss Cammittes on the Judiciary, Subcomrmittee on the Constihution, Civil Rights, and Civil
T iberties, 110% Cong. (Tune 26, 2008).

2y ominstion of John Rizzo to be CIA General Counsel, Sendte Selact Comugittes on Intelligence, 110* Cag.
Gune 19, 2007,

39 Committse staff interviaw of Lt Col Denicl Boumgartner (August 8, 2007).
34 (s cmmittoe staff intarview of Willim J. Haynes T1 (April 25, 2008) st 88.
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government inferest 1 that subject, but that he did not know if that information was used as
support in any OLC legal analysis, and if he did know, he did not recall ¥

(U) Then-NSC Legal Advisor John Bellinger said that some of the legal analysis of
proposed interrogation technigues prepared by the &mm of Justice referred to “the
psychological effects of military resistance training” © 10 fact, Jay Bybes, the Assistant
Attorney General who signed the two August 1, 2002 opinions, said that he saw an assessment of
the psychological efects of military resistance training in July 2002 in meetings in his office
with John Yoo and two other OLC attorneys. Judge Bybee said the assessment — which to the
best of his recollection had been provided by the C1A — informed the August 1, 2002 OLC legal
opinion that has not been reloased publicly.”’ In bis June 26, 2008 testimony before the House
Judiciary Committee, John Yoo refused to say whether or not he ever discussed or recgived

- nformation about SERE techniques a5 the Angust 1, 2002 memos were being drafted.”™

(U) While Judge Bybee said that he did not recall “any written advice provided to any
povernmental agency prior to August 1, 2002, on the meaning of the standards of conduct
required for interrogation under the federal anti-torture statute or o specific interrogation
methods” the August 1, 2002 memos wete not the only ogcasion on which DOJ provided legal
advice on the CIA’s interrogation program.** John Bellinger, the NSC Legal Advisor, said that
te understood that in 2002 and 2003, the OLC provided “ongoing advice 1o CIA regerding CIA’S
interrogation program.”*’ And then-National Security Advisor Condoleezza Rice said that she
was present at “several” meetings in the White House at which Mr. Yo provided legal advice.”
Ms. Rice said that she asked Attorney General John Asheroft “personally to review and confirm”
DoJ's legal guidance.” o

F. JPRA's Special Program In Support aj-(U)

1 August 2002 Training Proposal @)

OLC issued its two legal

‘ On Augnst 12 2002 awwknndahnlfaﬁerﬂm
opinions, the“mﬂ JPRA Chief of Staff Li Col

Baumgartner and JPRA OS0 Chief Christopher Wirts a draft memorandum outlining the ]I

W Thid. at 104, 106; see alzo Redartad version of Memo from Assistant Attomey General Jay 'Bybee. Interrogation
of [mdacrcd] (Auguat 1,2002) (In the \mredacted sections of the Second Bybee memo, the mema states. “Yowr
review of the literature neovered no empirical data on the use of these procedures, with the exception [redacted].”)

4 Yo Bellinger snswers to July 31, 2008 itten questions from Senstor Carl Lavin (September 12, 2008).

7 Juy Bybee nswers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Senator Carl Levin (October 14, 2008).

248 prom the Departmant of Justice to Guantanama Bay: Administration Lawyers and Administration Intemrogation
Rulu.PntIgLHm Committee on the Judicisry, Subcummitwnontlemﬁﬁunm Civil Rig’rxu,mdt:ivil
Libesties, 110® Cong, (Juns 26, 2008).

0 oy Bybee answers to Fuly 31, 2008 written questions from Senstor Catl Levin (October 14, 2008).

1 1ok Bellinger answers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Senstor Carl Levin (September 12, 2008).

1 Condoleezza Rice nswers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Senator Casl Levin (September 12, 2008).



The draft requirement continued:

[Tinformaticn that your or iation has already provided, coupled with our
officers’ experience confirms our opinion that JPRA assets are more than capable
of uroviding the necessary training that we need to start our ipitiatives. Basically,
w consisting
of academic training and practical exercises aimed at learning both interrogation
and resistance 10 interrogation techniques.**

- -- draft described four areas of *
ectives,’

“Resistance Traiming,” including academic lessons in interrogation and resistance to
interrogation techniques, such as psychological or physiological pressures; (3) “Practice
Interrogations/Resistance 1o [T}nterrogations/{Fleedback,” including practice on “[pJhysical
pressures techniques and training™; and (4) “Review and Training of Resistance Training
Operating Instructions.”*¢ :

Memo fom to Chief of Staff, JPRA (Lt Col Danic] Baumgariner Chiaf, Mission Support

(Christopher Wirts), Reguext for Truimng Support (August 12, 2002) (hereinafter to JPRA, Request for
Training Support (August 12, 2002)").

24 hid (emphasis added).
M Thid
oo PRA, Request for Training Sipport (August 12, 2002, Mz Wigs sai did not have the
ise to tench *legal perspectives™ and in his discussions with abowt the training
indicated that JPRA would not be expected to teach that topie, Committee stafY interview of Christophar
Wirts (January 4, 2008).

o [ 52RA, Regquest for Training Support (Angust 12, 2002).
23
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(U) The Operating Instruction used 10 implement DOD directive 1300.7 are those

instructions that JPRA uses to implement its SERE-school training prograi.

2 JPRA Creates Project 228 (U)
Also orﬂguat 12, 2002, a meeting was held at JPRA headquarters "0
discuss future JPRA sup&gn (. actions to obtain actionable intelligence from Detained

t
Unlawful Combatants,” ™ A memo from JPRA™s Co Col Randy Moulton describing

{hat meeting reported that the JPRA training performed 1o date had been well-received
i coupled with feedback from

Wﬁon and training that JPRA has provided
confirmed that JPRA assets are more than ble of providing the necos
mi 10 their initiative. "

Col Moulton directed his team to develop a Concept of Operations
(CONOF) for continued support, stating that the JPRA CONOP would be gtaffed through the
Joint Staff and Office of the Secretary of Defense “10 ensure proper oversight and approval prior
1o exccution of the plan.”*% A draft of that CONOP, circulated later in the yeas, described how
JPRA planned to fulfill requirement for training, including how they would facilitate
the practice int -ation sessions —i.e, with JPRA members “portray[ing] resisters of different
skill levels” and interrogators udemongtratfing] the ability to use exploitation methods and
concepts taught , . . as well as usfing] authorized physical pressures.” M Among the risks

0 Thid.

3 Thid, (cmphasis in criginal).

3 hid. ,

’mlﬁnm JPRA/CC. (Col Randy Moulton) to 1pra 1/7eRA JJJ support 1 Project 228 (Angust 13,
7 [hid,

3 Thid

™ \emo from JFRA 050, .Carmp: of Operations for JFRA support to mﬂidpahd-nquiﬁmmu (Octaber

3, 2002),
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described in that CONOE was “ipjury [to JPRA pﬁi;ﬂlﬂﬂ.nel] as a result of physical pressures

administered by- during the training."?
(L7 At the August 12, 2002 meeting, JPRA created a special progr which i';_’galled
‘Project 22B, to “limit JPRA distribution of sensitive activities in support n;h”

_ Tn his memo, Col Moulton wrote that protecting information associated with these
_activities was “of paramount concern” to and noted that anticipates a
congressional investigation o this activity at some time in the future.”

L Guantanamo Bayasa «Battle Lab” for New Interrogation Techniques ')

JERA was also developing a plan 10 support Department of Defense

imerrogation operations at Guananamo Bay (GTMO). Inthe summer of 2002, following &

request from the Army’s Special Operations Command (USASOC) 10 develop a training Té jmen
for GTMO interrogation personnel, JPRA modified the training plan it had developed fcr‘

J <o produce a plan to train the GTMO persomnel. In September, PRA sent 8 tearn of
instructors, including two instructors who had discussed and demonsirated SERE physical
pressures toioﬁ‘icers in July, to Fort Bragg, North Carolina to provide instruction at a
four day conference attended by the GTMO personnel.

(U) Just weeks afler the JPRA training at Fort Bragg. two GTMO personnel who attended
the Fort Bragg training drafied a memo proposing the use of physical and paychological
pressures in interrogations at GTMO, including some pressules used at SERE schools to teach
U.8. soldiers how to resist interrogation by enemies that do not follow the Geneva Conventions.

On October 11, 2002, Major General Michael Dunlavey, Commander of GTMO's
Toint Task Force 170 (JTF-170), submitted a modified version of that memo for approval by his
Chain of Command. On December 2, 2002, Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld approved many of
those techniques for use in interrogations at GTMO.

A GTMO Stands Up a Behavioral Science Consultation Team (BSCT) (U)

(U) In June 2002, members of the Army’s 85° Medical Detachment’s Combat Stress
Control Team deployed to Guantanamo Bay. Uﬁ arrivﬁ three members of the team —
psychiatrist Major Paul Burney, peychologist and a psychiatric technician
were informed that MG Michael Dunlavey, the Commarider of JTF-170, had assigned them 1o
support interrogation operations as part of a newly created Behavioral Science Consultation
Team (BSCT) at the JTF. This assignment came as & SUrprise 1o MAJ Burney and
because, when they were deployed, the two understood that their mission would be to care for

m Thid. .
m:; from JPRA/CC (Col Randy Moulton) to FPRA nera Jsurport ol project 228 (puguat 13,
7 Thid,
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11.8. soldiers dealing with deployment-related gtress.?™ In 2 written statement provided to the
Commitiee, MAJ Bumey described the assignmenit:

Three of us;_ [the enlisted psychiatric technician], and 1, were
hijacked and smmediately in processed into Joint Task Force 170, the military
intelligence command on the island. It tums oul we Were assigned to the
inferrogation element because joint Task Force 170 had authorizetions for &
psychiatrist, a psychologist, and a psychiatric techrician on its duty roster but
nobody had been deployed to fill these positions. Nobody really knew what we
were s;;spposed 10 do for the unit, but at least the duty roster had its positions

filled.”

(L) MG Dunlavey told the Committee that he was in the hospital for much of the month
of Junic and did not know who initiated the o ation of the JTF-170 BSCT."¢

(U Prior to their arrival st GTMO, neither MAJ Bumney oI sz 20y training
to suppert interrogations and there was no standard operating procedure in place for the team at
GTMO.2"" MAJ Burn¢y 10ld the Committee that the team was “very aware of how little we
knew about the whole spectrum of ‘Setention and interrogation, we decided We needed help.”™

B,  Behavioral Science Consultation Team (BSCT) Personnel Contact the Army
. Special Operations Command (USASOC) (U)

_ (U) Shortly after arriving at GTMO, the BSCT contacted the Chief of the Psychological
Applications Directorate (PAD; ot the U.S. Army's Special Operations Command (USASOC),
LTC Loui¢ “Morgan” Banks.?” At the time, LTC Banks was also the senior Army SERE
psychologist. The BSCT psycholngi_ had 1
GTMO but told the Committet that he was ynaware at the time of the connections LTC Banks
had with the Army’s SERE School.

Tt tervientof MAT Paul Bumey (Augest 21, 2007); Commitc? — |
(September 12, 2007

17 (ritten statement of MAJ Paul Bumey (August 21, 2007).

% copmmities salf intzeview of MG Mishael Dunlavey (Novemiber 30, 2007).

sm ] A standard operting procsdure wes defiod in November 2002, severs! months sl the BSCT was

i » []

mw@wcﬂwﬂmmpﬁﬁlﬂmﬂj&sfm further interrogation; and providing
consultaticn/training on specific behavioral science interviewing and observationsl techniques that promete
productive intevrogation. Ths November sop also stated i i

and providing feedbeck to immmnhdatainubdmior, flow of the intamogation

7 Writtan statement of MAY Pmal Burnoy (August 21, 2007).
™ (s ommittee staff intervicw oI 3cptowber 12, 2007)
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. -LTC Banks told the Committee that it was apparent to him that the BSCT lacked the
proper training for the mission and that, when asked to help, he felt obliged to agsist, ™ LTC
Banks contacted the Joint Persomnel Recovery Agency (JPRA) for assistance in organizing
raining for the BECT. After speaking to ol Moutton, the JPRA Commander, LTC Banks
informed the BSCT that JFRA was willing to modify its prior interrogation
training sessions to suit the BSCT's needs.

(U) BSCT members told the Commitiee that they sought the training 1o better understand
e interrogation process.” They also told the Committee, however, that GTMO's Director for
Intelligence (J-2), LTC Jerald Phifer, approved their ip with the expectation that the BSCT
would learn about and bring back interrogation techniques that could be considered for use in
intetrogations at GTMO; a point that the LTC Phifer confirmed in his testimony to the
Department of the Army Inspector General (Arty 1G).2* The Staff Judge Advocate at GTMO, -
LTC Diane Beaver, confirmed LTC Phifer’s account, but said that MG Dunlavey told staff he
had been considering a request for authority to use additional interrogation techniques and that
MG Dunlavey’s purpose in sending the staff to the training was to “find out what could be

used." %

MAJ Burney said that hé o e LTC Barks “aware that there was
interest within JTF-170 1o see if we could use ‘SERE tactics’ to fry to elicit information from
detainecs.™ I to1d the Commitiee that he believed that the two discussed the GTMO
command’s interest in obtaining a list of resistance training techniques with LTC Banks.”®’ The
JPRA Operational Support Office Chief Christopher Wirts, told the Committee that he believed
that he and LTC Banks also tatked about the need to demonstrate physical pressures used in
SERE schools at the Fort Bragg training.m LTC Banks, however, told the Committee that he
Jid not recall a discussion of physical pressures at the training and that he was sorprised when he
tater leamned that the BSCT had expected to become familiar with resistance training techniques
used in SERE school while at the training session.”®

 commities sialf imerview of LTC Morgan Benks (July 2, 2007).

" id

2 Erail from LTC Morgan Banks to MAJ Paul Bumey (haly 15, 2002).

2 commitie sttt irnerview of [N S vterbex 12, 2007, Commitct sl interview of MAJ Pul
Bumsy (August 21, 2007). :

:; Army Ig,llngiew of LTC Jereld Phifer (March 16, 2006} at &, Army IG, Interview of MAT Paul Bumey (April

M g AGC Haaring (June 17, 2008).
6 Written statament of MAJ Poul Bumey (August 21, 2007)at 4.

#? Committes staff interview o Sentember 12, 2007), Committes staff i ,
Bumey (Augnst 21, 2007). f—‘:"l’“ . 2007), Committos staff interview of MAJ Paul

8 Commitiee staff interview of Chistopher Wiris (Jarmary 4, 2008).
# (ommittee staff interview of LTC Margan Banks (July 2, 2007),
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(U) At the time, there was a view by some at GTMO that i rierrogation operations had not
yielded the amticipated intelligence.m MAJ Bumney testified to the Army 1G regarding

interrogations:
[This is my opinion, even though they were giving information and some of it was

useful, while we were there a large part of the time we were focused on ryingto establish

a link between Al Qaeda and Iraq and we wete not being successful in establishing a link

between Al Qaeda and Iraq; The more frustrated people got in not being ableto establish

this link ... there was MOofe and more pressure to resort 1o measures that might produce

more immediate results.

Jll The GTMO Interrogation Control Element (ICE) Chief, David Beckeg toldthe
Committee one point, inetrogation personnel were required to question_
but that he was unawaré of the source of that
requirement,”” Others involved in JTF-170 interrogation operations agreed that there Was

ssure on interrogation peraonn!g} to produce intelligencs, but did not recall pressure 0 identify

links between Irag and al Qaeda

| q“M.r Becker told the Committee that during the summer of 2002, the JTF-170
Commander, MG Dunlavey, and his Director for Tnelligence (J-2), LTC Phifer, had urged him
{0 be more aggressive in terrogations.”®* Mr, Becker also 1old the Committee that MG
Dunlavey and LTC Phifer repeatedly asked him during this period why he was not using stress
positions in interrogations, even though the August 2002 Standard Operating Procedure for JTF-
170 expressly prohibited the use of the technique.” MG Dunlavey told the Committee that he
&id not recall asking his staff why they wer¢ not uging stress positions of telling them that they

should be more aggressive.

- Mr, Becker also told the Committee that, on geveral occasions, MG Dunlavey had
advised him that the office of Deputy Secretary of Defense Wolfowitz had called to express
concerns about the insufficient intelligence production at GTMO.®" Mr, Becker recalled MG
Dunlavey telling him after one of these calls, that the Deputy Secretary himself said that GTMO

2% aroy 16, Inerview of MAJ Paul Bumey (Apei 28, 2006) 3L Committec staff interview T
(September 12, 2007)
¥ Army 1G, Interview of MA Paul Bumey (April 28, 2006) ot 5.

292 The 1CE Chief told the Commitice that interropators identified only “8 eouple of nebulous links.™ Clommittes
«iaff interview of David Becket (Sepietber 17, 2007). '

2 committee salf interview Of LTC Jerald Phife (un 27, 2007 Committes staff interview R
(September 12, 2007).
290 Commitiee staff imerview of Devid Bockot (Septemnoer 17, 2007).

s [ 117012 Inserrogation Section Standard Operating Procaduires (Augist 2, 2002) (emphasis in original)
interrogated will “remain gented and secured to the fioor. DETAINEES WILL NOT BE PLACED

(Deteinees being

N STRESS POSITIONS™), see also Commitiee steff interview of David Backer (September 17, 2007).
26 (\ommittac staff interview of MG Michae] Dunlavey (November 30, 2007).

1 Committec staif interview of David Becker (Septarnber 17, 2007).
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should use more aggressive interrogation techniques.”™ MG Dunlavéy told the Committee that
he could not recall ever having a phone call with Deputy Secretary Wolfowitz or his staff.

C U.5. Southern Command Seeks External Review of GTMO (U)

- Just as the JTF-170 BSCT was reaching out to LTC Banks for assistance,
SOUTHCOM was looking for advice to improve GTMO operations. In June 2002, Major
General Gary Speer, the Acting Commander of SOUTHCOM, requested that the Joint Staff
conduct an external review of intelligence collection operations at Guantanamo Bay.'” In
response, the Joint Staff directed COL John P. Custer, then-assistant commandant of the 8.
Army Intelligence Center and School at Ft. Huachuea, Arizona, to lead a review team.

I COL Custer’s team visited GTMO in August znd cubmitted its findings to the Joint
Staff on September 1 1's assessment six morths earlier, the

0,2002.2" Like COL Herringto
Custer review identified a sumber of issues hamperi GTMO's intelligence collection misgio

JICOL Custer also noted deficiencies in interrogation approaches used by ITF-170,
stating that: ' ‘

COL Custer recommended that SOUTHCOM, in coordination with JTF-170, provide
written guidance “delineating what 1ools and measures are available and permissible to leverage
control over the detainees while providing acceptable guidelines for quustioning.“m He also
recommended combining the FBI's Behaviorel Analysis Unit and the JTF-170 BSCT to use both
military and law enforcement approaches to create an environment that would be “gonducive to
extracting information by exploiting the detainee’s vulnerabilities.™*

8 fhid. . |
29 s ommittee staff interview of MG Michss] Durlavey (November 30, 2007).

son I COx. chn Cster Bl CICS Ecternal Review of Guanianamo Bay Intelligence Operations (Uj (Scptectber
5002) (hereinafier “Custer Report”), see also Bricfing Slides, GTAO Review: Joint Staff External Review of
ntelligence Operations at Guaniamamo Bay, Cuba (Sepsember 10, 2002).

’I;‘“Cmtcr’a seam included subject matter experts fom Fort Huachucs, the Joint Staff, and Office of the Secretary of
CNse,

%% 1y/ith respect 1o personnel, Custer cited 8 dearth of linguists, noted o lack of cultural training am interrogators,
mdcalladﬁwmﬁremiuim“wmﬂlﬂymdmmd." Custar Report st 2. e

32 fhid at 1.
304 thid, at 12,
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- In his report, COL Custer referred to GTMO as ?‘Amerim’s “Battle Lab™ in the

plobal war on terTor, observing that “our nation faces an entirely new threat framework,” which
amist be met by an investment of both human cepital and infrastructure. 306

(U) Several witnesses expressed concerns 10 the Commitice about using the term “Battle
Lab” to describe operations at GTMO.3" Tn written answers to questionnaires from Senstor Carl
Levin, COL Britt Mallow, the Commander of the Criminal Tnvestigative Task Force (CITF),

stated:

MG Dunlavey and later MG Miller referred to GTMO as a “Battle Lab” meaning
that interrogations and other procedures there were to some degree experimental,
and their lessons would benefit DOD in other places. While this was logical in
terms of leamning lessons, I personally objected to the implied philosophy that
interrogators should experiment with untested methods, pasticularly those in
which they were not trained. 8

CITF' s Deputy Commarider, Mark Fallon, echoed the CITF Commander’s concern. -
Mr. Fallon stated that CTTF did not concur with the Battle Lab concept because the tagk force
wdid not advocate the application of unproven techniques on individuals who were awaiting
wrials™® He emphasized that the CTTF position was that “there wero maty risks associated with
this concept . . . and the perception that detainees were used for some ‘experimentation’ of new

unproven techniques had negative connotations.™

(Uy MG Dunlavey told the Committee he did not think he would have used the term 10
describe GTMO.*! MG Miller told the Committee that hglgid not recall using the term and that

it would be inappropriate 10 apply it 1o an operational unit
D.  GTMO Personnel Attend Training or Fort Brogg )

(U) On September 16, 2002, less than a week after COL Custer gubmitted his report to

the Joint Chiefs of Steff, seven personnel from JTF-170 at GTMO, including three members of

 the BSCT and four interrogatars, armived at Fort Bragg for training organized by LTC Banks and
JPRA. They were joined by a CIA psychologist and several Army personnel.** Joint Forces

;Ihid. at 2. .
W7 Cammittes taff interviews of MAJ Sam McCahon (Juns 15, 2007y, COL Britt Mallow (May 7, 2007); Timothy
Tames (May 18, 2007). .

" Resporuses of COL Britt Mialow to questionnaire of Senstor Carl Levin (September 15, 2006). Two other
witnesses also told the Commitiac that the tarm “Battle Lab” was used by Major General Dunlavey to deacribe
TMO operstions, Committes sisff interview of LTC T d Phifer (fune 27, 2007y, Committee staff interview of
Tim James (May 18, 2007). : - \

0 2 peperises of Mark Fallon to questionmaire of Seasior Carl Levin (November 15, 2006).
. M hid S

M Committeo staff interview of MG Michac! Durilavey (November 30, 2007

2 (sommittes staff infarview of MG Geoffrey Miller (December 5, 2007).

13  famo from Joseph Witsch to Col Rendy Moulton, Cel John Atkins, Lt Col Baumgartner end Christopher Wirts,
: - USASOC Requirement to Provide Exploitation Instruction in Support of Operation Enduring Freedom
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Command (JFCOM) was formally notified on September 5, 2002 that JPRA intended to provid
_ training support 10 Army psychologists, but did not mention Guantanamo Bay or interrogation. 1

(U) JPRA sert senior SERE psychologist Gary Percival, who had recently assumed that
position after Dr. Jessen's depasture, and two instructors to conduct the training at Fort Bragg.

-Dr. Percival and one of the two trainers, Joseph Witsch, had been instructors at the
exploitation training for i in July, where they had discussed and demonstrated physical
pressures.’t® In testimony before the Committes, the other JPRA trainer, Terrence Russell
stated that the team had designed the training to provide attendees 2 “familiarization with the
academic or the theoretical application of exploitation from a SERE perspective.”* A
contemporaneous email from JPRA Operational Suppont Office (050) Chief Christopher Wirts,
who was involved in planning the trainming, explained that it was intended to be “aimilar in nature
1o what we did for OGA on the last iteration.” 37 None of the three instructors sent by JPRA 10

Fort Bragg was a trained interrogator. '3

According to a JPRA plan of instruction dated Auﬁst 28, 2002, the first dai_ of
'training included instruction on the stages ©

The next three days of trainin in the plan of instruction included

JERA developed a number of jons to support the trainin -
including one mﬂ!w
ad that “the

A slide from that presentation stal
“exploitation process is fairly simple but neds to be adhered to [to] be successful ifthe goal is to

increase the likelihood of obtaining useful intelligence information from enemy prisoners. . . 320
The presentation listed a numbet of *Critical Operational E loitation Principles.” includin

“The “Principles” listed in the Fort Bragg {raining presentation

I(C:E;J Dézs)%umw 24, 2002) (hereinafter “USASOC Requirement 10 Provide Exploitation Instruction (September

M JpR A to USCINCSOC, Request JPRA Support, DTG: 052135ZSEP02 (September 5, 2002).

ruamu from Joseph Witsch 1o Col Randy Moulton and Christopher Wirts, Explotsation Traning forll
Officers (July 18, 20072); Committce staff interview of Dr. Gary Percival (Tuly 25, 2007.

36 Tegtimony of Terrence Russell (August 3, 2007) at 79.
7 Greil fram Christopher Wirts to JPRA Staff (August 8, 2002).
W Testimony of Joseph Witach (September 4, 2007) at 14; Testimony of Terrence Russell (Augnst 3, 2007) at 25.

319 ) femorsndumn £rom Joseph Witach to JPRA/CC, JERA/CD, JERA/COS, PRA/OSO, Plan of Instruction (FOI)
for USASOC Training Sugport (U} (Awgust 28, 2002). .

Joint Personnel Recovery Agency, Exploitation qf Captive, presentation to GTMO perseonnel st Fort
Bragg (Scptember 2002) (hereinafter “TPRA, Expioitation of Captive™). ‘

I hid, mt 4.
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were substantially the same 38 those described in the Exploitation Draﬁzlglan, circulated by Dr.
Jessen in April, which described 8 JERA-directed exploitation process.

Though GTMO was & facility that dealt with detainees after they had been
removed from the battlefield, the presentation also included information on “Tactical
estioning.” stating that ical interrogators should

the JPRA instructor

who acted as Tearn Chief for the training, testificd to the Commitiee: -

Rough handling is you would pull the petson up 1o their feet, you would move
thern rapidly in the direction that you werée going to take them... basically, they
have no control. They would feel like the person that has them is in total control
of them. That's what we mean by rough handling**

Presentation slides used for the trainin also listed a

pumber of other ‘
recommendations for hmdlini detainees including —

3% \r, Witsch testified to the Copumittee that he did not
know what was meant by those statements and he could not recall any digcussion about what
punishmends might be culturally undesirable for Arab of Islamic detainees.’™

The presentation gtated that “all daily activities should be on random

schedules” and should, among other things «digrupt prisoner sleep eycles™” Mr. Witsch said
that denying detainees the ability to predict and determine their schedules “keeps them somewhat

off guard and guesEing™ "

A second JFRA presentation delivered at Fort Bragg described methods
to deal with detainees who weré trained to esist intertogation.” The presextation, entitled
wCounter Measures 10 Defeat al Qasda Resistance Contingency Training Based on Recently
Obtained AL-QAIDA Documents™ listed several countermeasures to deal with resistant
Jetainees including “invasion of personal space by female.**® Mr. Witsch explained that “[i]n a
1ot of cases, it's uncomfortable for a male 10 have a female in their space. 1t could also be looked
ot as uncomforiable having a female i front of an Arab. . . What thisisisa form of pressure in

' B Compure JPRA, Exploitation of Capiive with JPRA, Explaitation Draft Plan.

1 JpRA, Exploitation f Capti.

34 agring to Receive Information Retating To The Treatment of Detainces, Scnate Committee on Armed Services,
110% Cong: (September 6, 2007) (Testimony of Joseph Witach) ¢ 12, 34 (hereinaficr “Testimony of Joseph Witsch
(September 6, 20077). . ,

3 JERA, Exploitation of Captive.

5 Testimony of Joseph Witech (September 6, 2007) st 16.
7 JpRA, Explotation of Captive.

28 Tegtimony of Joseph Witsch (September 6, 2007) at 18.
5 fhid at25.

10 PR A, Counter Meanures 1o Defeat al-Qa ‘ida Resistance, presentation to GTMO personnel at Fort Bregs
(September 2002) (hereinaftor * Counter Measures to Defeat al-Qa ida Resistance”).
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that situation.™® He testified that JFRA might have become aware that the invasion of the

personal space by 2 female might makeagz Argh detainee uncomfortable while conducting

research in preparation for the training.

The presentation on countermeasures to defeat al Qaeda resistance also

explained that “[i]f the prisoner believes that Americans are ;mmoral barbarians and what he sees
courters those beliefs then his core beliefs have been shaken and he is more likely to cooperate, .
.. If his core beliefs are reinforced by his treatment he is more likely to stick to his resigtance.”>
Mr, Witsch told the Committee that it was “hard to say” what the effect o

g reglatance — W er it wou e more of

would have on a
less likely to oooperate-.m

(U) In his testimony to the Army IG, MAJ Burney, the GTMO BSCT psychiatrist who
attended the training, stated that JPRA personnel at Fort Bragg, s described some of the stuff that
they would do in SERE school as far as keeping people in some sort of solitary confinement for a
period of time” or «finding out what their fears were before they came 50 that they would try and
use those against them, whether it was fear of spiders, of the dark or whatever. . M3 An

intmogaﬁlﬁr from GTMO who attended the training also recalled a discussion about the use of

phobias.

Members of the GTMO BSCT who attended the Fort Bragg training

racalled discussions with the JPRA instructors about how they administered physical .

Pressures. 37 MAJ Burney told the Committee that snstructors talked about techniques the SERE
schools used to teach resistance 10 interrogation, such as walling, and exposing students to cold
until they shiver. 40l the Committee that hooding and hitting in a way that was not
injurious were both mentioned at Fort Bragg.™ An interrogator from JTF-170 who attended the
{raining also recalled a Jiscussion about the use of phygical pressurcs.m ‘

(U) That same intm'ugatoi' said that the instructors spoke about using existing procedures
at GTMO 1o enhance interrogations ! For example, the intesrogator told the Committee that
there was a discussion with JPRA personne] that military working dogs, already present at

M Testimony of Jaseph Witsch (September 5, 2007) &t 265,

3 Thid. at 27.

0 1um A Countar Measures to Dafeat al-Qu ida Resistance.

4 Testimony of Toseph Witsch (Septesiber 6, 2007) at 30 '

B3 Army 1G, Interview of MAJ Paul Bumey (April 28, 2006) et 14.

4 (ommittee staff interview of GTMO Interrogator (ovember 6, 2007).
# Tegtimeny of Jossph Witach (September 4, 2007) 8t 92

D8 ~ommittee staf? interview of MAJ Paul Bumey (Augnst 21, 2007).

8 s ommittee saf? interview of [N seorember 12, 2007).
M0 (sommittac #aff intervisw of GTMO Inferrogator (November 5, 2007).
Ml lhld-
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GTMO for security, could enhance detaince exploitation. Similarly, the interrogatot gaid that the
instructors pointed out that hoods, goggles, and ear wrnffs were already in use with detainees at
GTMO for security purposes, and that existing processes utilizing those techniques could also be

used to enhance interrogations. The interrogator also recalled requesting additional JPRA
training for GTMO personnel onthe use of physical pressures.

(U) Neither LTC Banks nor any of the JFRA instructors from the Fori Bragg training
could recall if there were discussions of physical pressures. %? 1 TC Banks told the Committee
that using physical pressures dcsi?ed-for students at SERE school in actual interrogations would
almost always be unproductive.** For example, he told the Committee that slapping a person
would harden their resisiance.

(U) Despite the apparent instruction on physical pressures, MAJ Bumey told the Army
{G that instructors at Fort Brags believed that the techniques used in SERE training should not
be brought back for use at GTMO and that “interrogation tactics that rely on physical pressures
or torture, while they do get you information, do not tend 1o get you accurate information or
reliable information " Tna written statement provided to the Committee, MAJ Burney
ceiterated that point, stating that “[i]t was stressed time and time again that psychological
investigations have proven that harsh interrogations do not work. At best it will get you
information that a prisoner thinks you want to hear to make the interrogation stop, but that
information is strongly likely to be false." ™

During the Fort Bragg training, the GTMO personnel also discussed
conditions at GTMO that they felt were hampering intelligence collection efforts. In his after
action report summarizing the training, JPRA instructor and training Team ChiefJ Witsch
described of those conditions that

M. Witsch also stated in his after action report that “[a] lot of interrogation
techniques used in the past are no jonger effective against the individnal detainees because they
have developed an awareness and courtermeasurcs to deal withthem.”*’ Mt. Witsch added that
soms of the interrogators had becoms wfrustrated ovet the controls placed on their ability to
extract actionable information,” such s restrictions on bringing detainees together in a room to
confront inconsistencies or on interrogating detainees for #12-15-20 hours at atime.™>** While
Mr, Witsch noted that rapport building had proved to be the most cffedtive interrogation
technique in eliciting information and that the positive treatment of detainees at GTMO was

7L 70 Banks added thet he was not present for ol of the rsining sessions Comittos staff inferview of LTC
Morgan Banks (June 15, 2007); Testimeny of Terrence Russell (August 3, 2007) 8t 79, Testimony of Joseph Witsch
(Scptember 4, 2007) at 95,

30 Ciomenittes staff interview of LTC Morgan Banks (Func 15, 2007).
M Army IG, Interview of MAJ Paul Burney (April 28, 2006) o 3.
43 Writtm statement of MAJ Paul Bumey (August 21, 2007).

346 3 gome from Josaph Witach to Col Moulten, Col Atldins, Lt Col Daumgertmer, Mr. Wirts, U.S. Amy Special
Operations Command (USASOC), Requirement 1o Provide Exploitation Instruction (Septamber 24, 2002).
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having some effect, he stated that the positive effect appeared limited to the “yaunger,
inexperienced” detainees.™” |

In hit after action report, Mr. Witsch expressed concerns about JFRA
involvement in GTMO operations, writing:

I highly recommend we contitue to remain in an advisory role and not get directly
involved in the actual operations - GITMO in particular. We have 10 actual
experience in real world prisoner handling. The concepts we aré most familiar
with relaie 1o our past enemies and we have developed our Code of Conduct
procedures based on those experiences. Without actual experience with current
{Designated Unlawful Combatants] we are making the assumption that
procedures we use to exploit our personnel will be effective against the current

detainees.’™

A week later, Mr. Witsch prepared a follow up memo for Mr. Wirts, JFRA’s
OS0 chief, expressing concern about JPRA's involvement with detainee exploitation, stating:

What do we bring to the table? We are Code of Conduct instructors with a vast
amount of experience training highly inelligent, disciplined, and motivated DoD
personnel to resist captivity. . . We base our role-play laboratories on what we
know our former enemies have done 10 our personnel in captivity. is based on
illegal exploitation {under the rules listed in the 1949 Geneva Convention

Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War) of prisoners over the last 50

I . Vitsch continued:

I believe the techmques and tactics that we use in training have applicability.
What I am wrestling with is the implications of using these tactics as it relates to
current legal constraints, the totally different motivations of the detainecs, and the
tack of direction of senior leadership within the [U.8. Government] on how to
uniformly treat detainees.

I think we are well within our sphere of influence if we stick to providing
methods to counter resistance trained [Designated Unlawful Combatants]. We are
out of our sphere when we begin 10 ‘profess the proper ways 1o exploit these
detamess. We are now attempting to educate lower jevel personne] in DoD and
OGAs with concepts and principles that are somewhat foreign to them and while
i all sounds good they .are not in & position nof do they have the depth of
knowledge in these matters to effect change and do it in reasonable safety.

The handling of [Designated Unlawful Combatants] is a screwed up mess and
everyone is scrambling to unscrew the mess... If we want a more profound role in -
this effort we need to sell our capabilities to the top level people in the USG and

¥ Thid.
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not spend our time trying to motivate the operators at the lower levels to sway
their bosses, This is rurning the train backwards and that is a slow method fo get
somewhere, There are a lot of people in the USG intelligence community that
atill believe in the old paradigm and wonder just what we're doing in their
business. 351
The memo concluded with the warning, “[w]e don’t have an established track
record i this type of activity and we would present an easy target for someone 1o point at as the
pﬂ:ﬂ:ulumi s;I'hlv: <takes are much higher for this than what you and [ have done in any activity
before.”

E. Delegation of Senior Government Lowyers Visits Gunnmﬁama [(4)]

{U) On September 23, 0072, less than a week after GTMO personnel retumed from the
training at Fort Bragg, Counsel to the President Alberto Gonzales, Counsel to the Vice President
David Addington, DoD General Counsel Jim Haynes, Acting CIA General Counsel John Rizzo,
Assistant Aftorney General of the Criminal Division Michael Chertoff, and other senior
administration officials travelled to Guantanamo Bay and were briefed on future plans for
detention facilities as well as on intelligence successes, failures, and problems at the JTE

According to a trip report prepared by & Deputy Staff Judge Advocate at
gQOUTHCOM, MG Dunlavey held private conversations with Mr, Haynes and a few others and -
briefed the entire group on & pumber of issues inciuding “policy constraints” affecting
interrogations at the JTF. 34 For example, MG Dunlavey told the group that JTF-170 would
wiike to take Koran away from some detainees — hold it as incentive” Dut that the issue was
undergoing a policy determination by SOUTHCOM. ™ The trip report noted that Mr. Haynes
«gpined that JTF-170 should have the authority in place to make those calls, per POTUS order,”
adding that he “[}hought JTF-170 would have more freedom to command.™*¢ MG Dunlavey

' {old the Committee that he may have told the group during their visit that JTF-170 was working
on a request for authority to use additional interrogation teuhniques.”’ M. Haynes said he did
not recall discussing specific interrogation techniques of GTMO’s work on a request for
anthority to use additional interrogation techniques.’*

% Memo from Joseph Witsch to Christopher Witts, (U) Concerns with JPRA Irvolvement in Operation
Enduring Freedom Exploitation of Detained Unlowful Combatants (October 1, 2002).

13 Thid. :

33 TF.GTMO Distinguished Visitors Roster (September 27, 2002). Col Temence Farrell; Trip Report - DoD
General Counsel Visit to GTMO (Segtember 27, 2002), Whilo ths September 27, 2007 trip repost states that the
visis oceurred on Septeraber 25%, Jack Goldsmith, another senior officisl on the trip, recouris that the visit took
place on Scptember 26, 2002. Goldsmith notes thet Patrick Philbin, tthhmoﬂ'C}ﬁafofStaffAﬁce Fisher, and
“geversl Pentagon lawyers” also went cn the trip. The Temor Presidency at 99.100. '

34 ¢l Temrence Farrell, Trip Report - DoD General Counsel Visit to GTMO (September 27, 2002).
3 thid
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37 Committee staff interview of MG Michac] Dunlsvey (Navember 30, 2007).

39 ommittee atafT interview of William J. Haynes I (April 25, 2008) at 135-42.
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F. JTF-170 BSCT Produces Interrogation Policy Memo (U)

(U) According to the Staff Judge Advocate (SJA) at GTMO, LTC Diane Beaver, there
was discussion among senior staff at GTMO asto whether or not the JTF required explicit
authorization to use interrogation approaches that had not been taught to interrogators at the U.S.
Army Intelligence Center at Fort Huachuea, Arizona. While some Telt that JTF-170 already had
the authotity to use additional interrogation techniques, MG Dunlavey directed his staff to drafta
request for new authorities to submit to SOUTHCOM for approw.l.:’

(U) The JYF-170 Director for Intelligence, LTC Jerald Phifer, told the Committce that
MG Dunlavey wanted to get new techniques on the table and that MG Dunlavey pressured him
to draft & memo requesting additional techniques.’® LTC Phifer asked the BSCT to draft an
interrogation policy that could be formally submitted up the chain of commuand for review.”®
Accerding to MAJ Burney, the BSCT psychiatrist, “by early October there was increasing
pressure to get ‘ton » with detaines interrogations but nobody was guite willing to define
what “tougher’ meant " *® MAJ Burney added that there was “a lot of pressure o use more
coercive techniques” and that if the interrogation policy memo thai LTC Phiferﬂhéd asked himto

- write did not contain coercive techniques, then it “wasn't going to go very far’

(U) According to MAJ Burney, wrote a memo of suggested detention
apd interrogation policies in the course ¢ Committee that
some of the interrogation approaches jdentified in the memo came from their JPRA training in
Fort Bragg and other approaches were simply made up by the BSCT.>® I 1 BSCT
psychologist, also iold the Commnitice that the BSCT used information from the JPRA training at
Fort Bragg to draft the memo.

I T BSCT memo, dated Octobr 2, 2002, begac:

39 (ommittee staff intarview of .TC Diane Beaver (November 9, 2007).

380 Committes staff interview of LTC Jerald Phifer (Tune 27, 2007).

30 y3ycitten statement 6fMAJ Paul Bumney (August 21, 2007). '

3 1hid, .

W prmy 1G, Interview of MAJ Paul Bumey (April 28, 2006) at 11.

¥4 Thid. .

% Committes staff intorview of MAJ Paul Bumncy (August 41, 2007). However, in testimony to the Army 1G, MAS

Bmmysnidhedidnmhmwmﬂmﬂwmcmoimorpomdtmﬁmﬁom the Fort Bragg training. Ammy IG,
Interview of MAJ Paul Bumey (April 28, 2006) ¢ i,

M6 Committes staff interview nf— {September 12, 2007).



The memo identified a sumber of conditions at GTMO that the BSCT judged to

be hindering intelligence collection and stated:

The October 2, 2002 memo proposed three categories of interrogation techniques
ufor use in the interrogation booth to develop rapport, promote cooperation, and courter
r&sistanm.”m Category ] techniques included incentives and *mildly adverse approaches” such
as telling & detainee that he was going to be at GTMO forever unless he cooperated.”” The
memorandum stated that an interrogator should be able to ascertain whether a detainee is being
cooperative by the end of the initial interrogation and said that if Category 1 approaches failed to
induce cooperation, the inferrogator could request approval for Category 11 approaches.’”

Category Il techniques were designed for “high priority” detainces, defined inthe
memo 2s “any detainee suspected of having significant information relative to the security of the
United State.s."m Category 11 techniques included siress positions; the use of isolation forup 1o
30 days (with the possibility of additional 30 day periods, if authorized by the Chief
Interrogator); depriving & detaineé of food for up to 12 hours (or as long as the interrogator B0Es
without food during an interrogation); the use of back-to-back 20 hour interrogations once per
week: removal of all comfort items mcluding religious items; forced groom;x!l%; handcuffing a

detainee; and placing 2 hood on a detainee during questioning of movement,

MAJ Faul Bumey _Mmmdm for Record, Countar-resistance Strategies {October

2, 2002) ot 1 (hereinafter *RSCT, Counter-resisiance Strategies™). '
38 Thid, ot 2.
* Thid.
™ Thid,
™ Thid,
7 Thid,
™ Toid. ot 2-3. There is evidance that stress itions wers used at GTMO prior to the BSCT memo. 11, Col.
Ronald Bv:nkmn.whuwed'atﬁmmoﬁom January 2001 nti} June 2001 aa the JTF-170 J2 and
Mnmmdmg Officar of the Joint Interagency Taterrogstion Facility (JOF) indicated in his responsc to 8 Navy 1G

mmﬂmtwmpmmmmd in some interrogations et GTMO. Emeil from Lt Col. Ron Buikema 1o
Victorse Gnibus (July 23, 2004). '
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The memo reserved Category I technigques “ONLY for detainees that have.
evidenced advanced resistance and are suspected of having significart information pertinent 10
_ pational security.”” Category III techniques included the daily use of 20 hour interrogations;
the uss of strict isolation without the right of visitation by treating medical professionals or the
International Cominittee of the Red Cross (ICRG); the use of food restriction for 24 hours once 2
week; the use of scenarios designed to convince the detainee he might experience a painful or
fatal outcome; non-injurious physical consequences; removal of clothing; and exposure to cold
weather or water until such time as the detaines began to shiver.”

- In addition to suggesting interrogation techniques, the BSCT memo made
recommendations for the treatment of detainees in the cell blocks. Specifically, i proposed that
resistant detainees might be linsited to four hours of sleep a day; that they be deprived of comfort
items such as shestz;’, blankets, mattresses, washcloths; and that interrogators control access to all
detaineas’ Korans.”'® The BSCT memo described using fens and generators to create white
noise as a form of psychological pressure and advocated that “all aspects of the [detention]
environment should enbance capture shock, dislocate expectations, foster dependence, and
support exploitation to the fullest extent possible.””

viaJ Buney and ol the Comamittee that they were 01
comfortable with the memo they were asked to produce, and therefore inchuded a statement in
the memo reflecting their concems about the techniques, including concerns about the “long term
physical and/or mental impact of the techniques.”™ They wrote:

Experts in the field of interrogation indicate the most effective interrogation
strategy i8 & rapport-building approach. Interrogation techniques thar rely on.
physical or adverse comsequences are likely to garner inaccurate information and
create an increased level of resistance. . "There is no evidence that the level of fear
ot discomfort evoked by a given techmeue has any consistent correlation to the

volume or quality of information ohtained. . .The interrogation tools outlined
could affect the short term and/or long term physical and/or mental health of the

detainee. Physical and/or emotional harm from the above techniques may emerge

months or even years after their use. 1t is impossible to determine if a particular

strategy will cause iveversible harm if employed. . Individuals employing

Category I or Category III imerrogation techniques must be thoroughly trained . .

. carefully selected, to include 2 mental health screening (such screenings are sop

for SERE and other Special Operations personnel).””

¥ RSCT, Counter-resistance Strategies et 3 (emphasis in original.
7 thid.

™ Thid at 4.

M fid at 4-5.

8 esopmitten staff interview of MAJ Pl Bumey (Augast 21, 2007); Commitice staf¥ interview of_ |
(Scptember 13, 2007). .

3™ BSCT, Counter-resistance Strategies at 6.




(U) The BSCT provided & copy
Operations Command (USASOC),

raised concerns about the suggested use
physical pressures are used with students
interrogation, not break it down. 0

(U) LTC Banks wrofe:

polential negative side effects. . .

who had helped organiz¢ their JPRA traimng.

reviewing the memo, LTC Banks praised the BSCT for their ‘
of physical pressures i interrogation, noting that
in SERE school to incréasé their resistance 10

The use of phfsicul pressures brings with
When

it a large number of

individuals are gradually exposed to

increasing levels of discomfort, it is more common for them to resist harder, That
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whatever it
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information from 2
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techniques [physical pressures] becanse they are effective at increasing resistance.

. Because of

the danger involved,
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The risk with real detainecs is increased exponentially.

and accidents do happen.
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them] you are taking 2 qubstantial rigk, with very

GTMO does decide to use
limited potential benefit.*™
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170 personncl
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_ Even with all these safeguards, injuries
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CIA Lawyer Advises GTMO on Interrogations (U)

() On October 2, 2002, the GTMO Staff Judge Advo
meeting to discuss the BSCT memo. Minutes
and the then-chief conusel 1o the CIA'S CounterTerrorist Center J onathan

from that meeting refiect the uttendance of JTF-
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Mr. Fredman’s visit took place just a week after the acting CIA General Counsel
John Rizzo and DoD General Counsel Jim Haynes's September 25, 2002 visit to GTMO. Mr.
Haynes did not recall discussing with Mr. Rizzo during their visit the possibility of having & CIA
lawyer travel to GTMO to talk to DoD personnel there. 3 Mr, Haynes seid he later found out in
a discussion with Mr. Rizzo that a CIA lawyer had gone to GTMO and discussed legal
authorities applicable to interrogations, but said he could not recall when he first learned of that
CIA lawyer’s visit.

(U) While LTC Beaver could not recall what she or others said, the minutes of the
October 2, 2002 mesting indicate that it began with a briefing by the BSCT on the JPRA training
ot Fort Bragg ™ The BSCT briefer told the group that rapport building and the “friendly
approach” wete proven methods to overcome resistance, while “fear based approaches” were
wynreliable” and “ineffective in almost all cases.™® According to the meeting minutes,
however, the BSCT did report that psychological stressors such as sleep deprivation, withholding
food, isolation, and loss of time were “extremely effective.” ** The BSCT alzo identified “camp-
wide, environmental strategies designed to disrupt cohesion and communication among
detainees” as potentially helpful to improve the effectiveness of im:.rru%ntions and explained that
the detention “environment should foster dependence and complisnce.™" -

(U7) Despite the BSCT comment on the effactiveness of rapport building, the meeting
minutes reflect little discussion of that approach. In fact, according to the meeting minutes, the
GTMO Director for Intelligence LTC Yerald Phifer questioned the BSCT assessment, stating that
«harsh techniques used on our service members have wotked and will work on some, what about
those?® hresponded that force was “risky, and may be ineffective.”*®

Nevertheless, the remainder of the meeting appears to have revolved around a discussion of
aggressive interrogation techniques and how to obtain the approval to use them.

(1) interrogation Controf Element (ICE) Chief David Becker noted at the meeting that
there were many réports sbout slecp deprivation used at Bagram in Afghanistan.”*® According to
the meeting minutes, LTC Beaver agreed but stated that agfficially it is not happening.™**"
Nevertheless, LTC Beaver suggested that sleep deprivation could be used on GTMO detainees

wwith approval.”® The group also discussed ways to manage the detainees’ sleep cycles, i.e., by

™ Committee steff interview of William J, Heynes II (April 25, 2008) at 145-47.

34 5 ASC Hearing (June 17, 2008), Counter Resistance Strategy Mesting Minutes at 3.

38 rvounter Resiciance Strategy Meeting Minutes t 3.
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letting the detaines rest “Jugt long enough to ﬁll asleep and wake him ¥p about every thirty
minutes and telt him it's time to pray again."m .

(U) According to the meeting minutes, LTC Beaver suggested that the JTF might “nced
to curb the harsher operations while [the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC?;‘is
around,” and that it would be “befter not to expose them to any controversial techniques.”

LTC Beaver explained that “[{]he ICRC is & serious concem. They will be in and out,
sorutinizing out operations, unless they are displeased and decide to protest and leave. This
would draw a lot of negative attention.™ The mimutes reflect ihat the C1A lawyer added his
view:

In the past when the ICRC has made a big deal about certain detainees, the DOD
has “moved’ them away from the attention of the ICRC. Upon questioning from
the ICRC about their whereabouts, the DOD's response has repeatedly been that
the detainoe merited no status ynder the Geneva Convention.

(U) At the meeting +he minutes reflect that CIA lawyer Jonathan Fredman also discussed
whether or not the techniques in the BSCT memo complied with applicable legal standards, Mr.
Fredman explained:

Under the Torture Convention, forture has been prohibited by international law,
but the language of the statuies is written vaguely, Severe mental and physical
pain is prohibited. The mental part is explained as poorly as the physical, Severe
physical pain [is] described as anything causing permanent damage 10 major
organs or body parts. Mental torture [is] described as anything leading t0

ent, profound damage 0 ihe sensea or personality. It is basically subject
to perception. If the detainee dies you're doing it wrong. So far the techniques
we have addressed have not proven to produce these types of results, which in a
way challenges what the BSCT paper says about not being able to prove whether
these techniques will Jead to permaneni damage. Everything in the BSCT
fmemo] is legal from & civilian atandpoint.m

(U) According tothe minutes, when the participants of the meeting discussed whether or
not to videotape the “aggressive gessions or immgﬁons.“ Mr. Fredman said that videotaping
of “even totally legal techmiques will look ‘ugly.”™™ Mr. Becker, who agreed with the clA
awyer's assegament, added that “videotapes &re subject to too much scrutiny in court.” *®

T Thid, at 5.
™ Tbid, at 3,
¥4 Thid.

B 1hid, |
= According to the mecting minuics, the CIA lawyer added “The Torture Converticsi prohibits torture and cruel,
uﬂ\wnl_nemddnmdmsmmt. The US did not sigh vp to the second patt, because of the gth amendment . .
That gives us mors license to use more controversial techniques.” Toid.

¥ Thid. at 5.
* hid st 3. - _ | o



DR

(U) When an atiendes at the meeting mentioned that law enforcement agents (presumably
referring to CITF and FBI) had concems about the use of aggressive tactics, the minutes reflect
that Mr. Fredman responded that “[w]hen CIA has wanted 10 nge more aggressive techniques in
the past, the FBI has pulled their personnel from theatre. Inthose rare instances, aggressive
techniques have proven very helpful. ™ LTC Beaver added that there was no legal reason why
jaw enforcement personnel could not participate in those operations.”” |

(U While LTC Beaver testified in 2008 that she was PHEr0 that SERE training was not -
designed for offensive use with detainees, the minutes of the October 2, 2002 meeting reflect that
she nevertheless asked about use of the “wet towe]" technique in SERE school.'® The CIA

lawyer replied:

If & well-trained individual is used to perform this technique it can feel like you’re
drowning The lymphatic system will react as if you're suffocating, but your
body will not cease to function. 1t is very effective to identify phobias and use

them (i.e., insects, snakes, claustrophobia). The level of resistance is directly
related 1o person’s tj::t:]:uafi»zu:u:c.‘“’3

(U) According to the meeting minutes, ICE Chief David Becker asked whether GTMO
could get blanket approval for the use of techniques or whether techniques would be approved on
2 case-by-case basis,*™ Mr, Fredman responded that the “CIA makes the call internally on most
of the techniques found in the BSCT” memo and referenced in their meeting, but that
ugipnificantly harsh techniques are approved through the DOJ ™Y As to whether Geneva
Conventions would apply, Mr. Fredman noted that the “C]A rallied for it not to”

(U) The meeting minutes also reflect Mr, Fredman thoughts on other interrapation

fechniques, such as threats of death. Mr. Fredman noted that such threats tghould be handled on

a case by case basis. Mock executions don’t work as well as friendly a_;pproaches, like letting
someone write a letter home, or providing them with an extra book.™°

% Thid
1 Thid,
7 g ASC Hearing (ne 17, 2008), BSCT, Counter-resistance Strategias atd.

‘“’. Counter Resistance Strategy Meeting Minutes at 4, LTC Beaver gpid that she had leamed about the wet towel
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I (#us:st 22, 2007); Travel voucher.

4 punter Resistance Strategy Meeting Mimitas &t 4,
% Thid.
7 hid, at 3.



(U) Weeks later, CITF Deputy Commander Mark Fallon wrote an email to CITF'S Chief
Legal Counsel Major Sem McCahon regarding the meeting minutes: o

Quotes from LTC Beaver regarding things that are not being reported give the .

appearance of impropriety. Other comments like wit is basically subject to

perception. If the detainee dies you're doing it wrong” and “Any of the
fechniques that lie on the harshest end of the spectrim must be performed bya
highly trained individual, Medical personnel should be present to treat any
possible accidents.” Seem 10 stretch beyond the bounds of legal propriety. Talk
of “wer towel treatment” which results in the lymphatic gland reacting as if you

~ are suffocating, would in my opinion; shoek the conscience of any legal body
jocking at using the results of the interrogations 0T possibly even the
hﬂm&gmors. Someone needs to be considering how history will Jook back at
this.

The October 2, 2002 meeting minutes indicated that the group discussed Mohammed
al Khatant, a high value detamee suspected of being connected to the September 11, 2001
attacks. A week before the meeting, JTF-170 had assumed the lead on Khatani’s |
interrogation.® By the October 2, 2002 meeting, TTF-170 had already developed an aggressive
interrogation plan for Khatani. ' ' '

Qi To days after the meeting. BSCT peychiatrist MAJ Paul Bumey settt email 10
LTC Banks, stating that “persons here at this operation are gtill interested in pursuing the
potential use of more aversive interrogation techniques . . . Were mose aversive techniques
approved for use in the future by appropriate people, the operation would like 10 have a few task
force personnel specifically trained in various techniques.“‘““ MAJ Burney asked whether LTC
Banks knew “where task force persomnel could g0 to veceive such training” and whether he knew
of “any consultanis who could assist if any of these measures are eventually approved.”‘“

LTC Banks replied “I do not envy you. 1 suspect ] know where this is coming from.
The answer is 00, 1 do not know of anyone who could provide that training... The training that
SERE instructors receive is designed to simulate that of a foreign power, and to dosoina
manner that encourages -egistance among the studerts. 1 do not believe that mﬂg

imterrogators to use what SERE instructors use would be particularly productive.
H DoD Takes Lead on the Interrogation of Mohanvned ol Khatani (U)

- According to the Department of Defense, Pakistani authorities captured
Mohammed al Khatand along the Pakistani-Afghanistan horder on December 15, 2001 and

8 Email from Mark Fallon to MAJ 5am MeCahon et al. (October 28, 2002).

<l 7G Toseph Inge, DEPSECDEF Ingury Reganding Locatiart of Interrogation FlanJor ISN 063 (Auges
24, at § (hercinafter “Inge Report™. ‘
mEmuilfmmMAJPmlemytnLTCMargmBmh (October 4, 2002).
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turned him overto 1.8, forces on December 26, 2001."** He was transferred to Guantanamo
Bay on February 13, 2002, where he was initially interrogated by JTE-170, CITF and FBI
personnel at Camp X-Ray. '

| In the summer of 2002, Khatani was identified 26 & possible “twentieth
hijacker” of the September §1 attacks.*"* From July 27, 2002 until September 19, 2002, Khatani
wag questioned by the FBLY" During this period, Khatani was held at the recently built Camp
Delta until August 8, 2002 when he was transferred to the Naval Brig at Guantanamo Bay."!®
While he was in FBI custody, JTF-170 began drafting an interrogation plan for Khatani.

(U) On September 23, 2002, the CITF Special Agent in Charge sent a memorandum to
CITF’s Deputy Commander raising ¢oncerns about JTF-170’s proposed interrogation plan for
Khatani., The memo stated: |

DoD Intelligence personnel contacted FBI [Supervisory Special Agernt] in order 1o
conduct an interview of a detainee assigned to the FBL. The DoD personnel
indicated that they intend to employ the following inerrogation techniques: drive
the hooded detainee around the- island to disorient him, -disrobe him to his
underwear, have an interrogator with an Egyptian accent (it is known among the
detainees that Egyptians are aggressive interrogators and commonly use coercion,
to include maiming) . . . -

As 2 law enforcement agency, CITF is clearly prohibited from participating in
these techniques and we also do not want to turm 4 deaf ear when we leamn of
these issues. . .7 |

A9 {famo from COL John Hadis (JTF-GTMO Chief of Staff) to SOUTHCOM Chief of Staff (March 14, 2005),
gttached as Tab 1 1o Ings Report (August 24, 2006). _

‘“lﬂ_utuiimidmﬁfiedunpum‘blatwmtiaﬂllﬁghjmkquﬂaritwudgt,urmimdthathnhaduiedtomwﬂw
U.S. in August 2001 but was detained ot the Orlando, Florida airport and later deported. When Khaterd arrived at
s Orlando airpart, Mohammed Atta was waiting. JTF-GTMO, Analyst Support Sunumary (March 18, 2003),
a:tachoduTabﬂtuhgachm(AuMN.m, '

<! Inge Report at 5. , ‘ :
6 ) fesno from COL John Hadis (JTF-GTMO Chisf of Staff) to SOUTHCOM Chief of Staff (March 14, 2005),
attsched a8 Tab 1 to Inge Report (August 24, 2006); Tnge Report at 5. :

7 \emo fom 1K, Sicber (CITF SAC) to CTTF Deputy Commander, CITF Operatians Officer, CITF 8JA, DOD
Interrogation Techriques Issue (Septomber 23, 2002). .

M ~ommittes staff intepview of David Becker (Septerber 17, 2007).



(U) While MG Dunlavey’s memo stated that the request had “been reviewed by my Staff
Judge Advocate and determined to be legally sufficient,” the 8JA, LTC Diane Beaver, told the
Committee that she had not been consulted onthe interrogation plan and did not recall reviewing
the memo or providing the Commander with guidance regarding the legal sufficiency of the
request.® Major General Dunlavey said that he did not recell whether or not he personally
consulted with LTC Beaver, that the letter would likely have been drafied by his Director for
Intelligence, LTC Jerald Phifer, and that it was possible that the statement in the letter that LTC
Beaver had been consulted was based on a representation by his staff. 4%

419 The memo Wes provided to the Comumittee as &n sppendix to the AR-15-6 Report completed by Lieutenant
Genearal Rendall Sehmidt and Brigadier General John T. Furlow into FBI allegations of abuse at Guentmeme Bay
(hereinafter “Schmidt-Furlow Report™), The memo is unsigned but contains a handwritten notation “////signed on 1
Oct Q2//i/." Committoe staff requested the Department of Defense provide a signed copy ar advisc the Committee of
any reason why the Comsmittee should not rely an the documment. The Department provided neither.

o9y g from MG Michael Dunlavey to JTF-160 Commander, Interrogation Plan for ISN 063 (October 1, 2002),
attached as exhibit 40 to Schmidt-Furlow Report, ,

2 Ihid.
“2 Ioid.
 hid,

94 Thid,
4 {id.. Commitics staff interview of LTC Diane Beaver (October 11, 2007); se¢ also Memo from 1K Sieber

" (CTTF $SAC) to CITF Depnaty Commander, CITF Operations Officer, CITF SIA, DOD Interrogation Techniques
Issus (September 23, 2002) (“the TTF 170 SJA hed not been briefed on the plan prior to her contact with the FBI
SSA When she leamed of the plan, she sought guidmce from up her chain of command and also sought guidance
from DOD legal and other intelligence agencies. She wants to ensure that even if these techniques are not legally
objectionshle, her chain of command is aware that these types of technicues are being utilized and that the personnel
on the ground are properly treined to conduct these techriigues.”)

4 (voummittee staff interview of MG Michael Dunlavey (November 30, 2007),
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' -From October 2 until October 10, 2002, JTF-170 personnel interrogated Khatani,
According to multiple witness accotnts, on or about October 5, 2002, military working dogs
were brought into the room where Khatani was being interrogated.*?’ A summarized statement
of testimony provided by one of the FBI agents present at the time indicated that the FBI
objected to the use of dogs and raised those objections to Mr. Becker, the JTF-170 ICE Chief, ™
In testimony to the Army IG, Mr. Becker acknowledged that he permitted the military working
dog to emter the interrogation in order to raise the defainee’s stress level.'®

- M. Becker told the Committee that he had authorized dogs entering the interrogation
room o two occasions and that the dog barked but was not permitted to place its paws on
Khatani®® Mr. Becker also told the Conmittee that LTC Phifer provided verbal authority for
the dogs to be used in this manner. LTC Phifer recalled discussing dogs with Mr. Becker as a
technique because Arabs “saw dogs as a dirty animal and they didn't like them,” not because
they should be “used as a fear factor.™" LTC Phifer told the Army G, however, that Mr.
Becker never told him that he had approved the use of a dog during the Khatani interrogation.
However, in written answers to questions posed by Vice Admiral Church, LTC Phifer stated that
dogs were used in the Khatani interrogation and that ““[w]e would bring the dog around to within
10 feet [of Khatani] and he wonld be somewhat unnerved by it. We did it to keep him off
balance as wel! as to enhance security.”*”? Major Genera! Dunlavey said that he did not recall

being aware that a dog was used in the interrogation of Khatani.**

In an October 8, 2002 emai! to his colleague, an FBI agent described JTF.
170’s interrogation of Khatani, stating that DoD had tried “slecp deprivation,” “loud music,
bright lights, and ‘body placement discomfort,” all with negative results” and that DoD
interrogators planned to stop the interrogation.” Mr. Becker told the Committee that the
interrogation plan did not work and that JTF-170 ceased the interrogation after approximately a
week and moved Khatani back to the Navy brig. ** :

4 gyummarized witness staiement of David Becker (March 3, 2005), exhibit 21 to Schmidt-Furlow Report,
summarized witness statement of ENS Mary Travers (February 23, 2005), exhibit 33 to Schmidt-Furlow Report,
summarized witness statement of Agent Robert Mortan (January 20, 2005), exhibit 36 to Schmidt-Furlow Report;
summarized witness statement of Agent Charles Dorsey (January 20, 2005), exhibit 41 to Schmidi-Furlow Report.

a1 g marized witness statement of Agent Charles Daraey (January 20, 2005), exhibit 41 to Schmidt-Furlow
Report '

@ Army IG, Interview of David Becker (September 20, 2005) at 30,

0 committee staff interview of David Becker (September 17, 2007).

1 Army IG, Interview of LTC Jerald Phifar (March 16, 2006) at 13.

1 Respanses of LTC Jerald Phifer to questiotaire of VADM Church (ly 16, 2004). 1t i not lear from thase
written snswers whether L'TC Phifer was referring to the use of dogs in JTF-170"s October 2002 interrogation of
Khatani or in tha subsaquent interrogation of Khatemi that began in late November.

3 committes staff interview of Major Ganeral Michael Dunlavey (November 30, 2007).
4 £mai from FBI Special Agent to FBI Special Agent (October 8, 2002).
© Committee staff interview of David Becker (Scptember 17, 2007).
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(U) Another FBI agent reflected upon the failed interrogation in his own email of Qctober
8, 2002, observing that “I think we ghould consider leaving him alone, let him get healthy again
and do something * different. ™ :

IV. GTMO Seeks Anthority to Use Aggressive Interrogation Techmiques (L)
A GTMO Requests Counter-Resistance Technigues Influenced by SERE (U)

(U) On October 11, 2002, just dys after the JTF-170 moved Khatani back to the Navy
Brig and shorfly afier meeting with the Chief Counsel of the CIA’s Counter Terrorist Center
Jonathan Fredman, LTC Phifer submitted a metnorandum to JTF-170 Commander MG Dunlavey
requesting approval to use “counter-resistance™ interrogation techniques. *’  LTC Phifer's
memo was largely drawn from the October 2, 2002 memorandum that the GTMO Behavioral
Sejence Consultation Team (BSCT) had written upon their return from the JPRA training at Fort
Bragg.*** The memo requested approval for threc categories of progressively more aggressive
interrogation techniques, many of which were similar to techniques used at SERE schools to

increase U.S. soldiers’ resistance to illegal enemy interrogation.”

(U) Of the three categories of proposed techniques, those in Category ] were the least
aggressive. Categoryl proposed yelling at the detaines and using certain “techniques of
deception,” such as using multiple interrogators or having an interrogator “jdentify himself as a
citizen of a foreign nation or a8 an interrogator from a country with a reputation for harsh
treatment of detainees.”

(U) The proposed Category II techniques were more ageressive and included several
techniques similar to those used in SERE schools, such as stress positions, isolation, deprivation
of light and auditory stimuli, using a hood during transport and questioning, removal of clothing,
and using detainees’ individual phobias to induce gtress.*!

. An August 19, 2002 email from LTC Beaver reflected discussions among JTF-170
staff about siress positions, which ghe said resulted in an agreed upon policy of “no stress

“_‘EmnilfmmFBISpecial Agant to FBI Special Agent (October 8, 2002). .

. 7 \emo from LTC Jerald Phifer to MG Michasl Dunlavey, Request for Approval of Counter-Resistance Stratagies
(October 11, 2002) (hereinafter LTC Phifer to MG Michael Dunlavey, Request for Approval aof Counter-Resistance
08 )\ (AT Bumey told the Armry IG tht the October 11, 2002 memo “wasn't the exact ssme document that we had
wﬁpmbqtﬂwamcmlmuummdmmll organization—a fot of the things did remain intect from our eriginal
brainstorn to what was eventually requestsd.” Army 1G, Interview of MAJ Paul Bumney (August 21, 2007 et 11.
“* The Qctober 11 memo als0 stated that “current guidelines for nterrogation procedurcs st GTMO limit the ability
of interroggtors to counter sdveanced resistance.” LTC Phifer to MG Michae] Dunlavey, Request for Approval of
Cowrtter-Resistance Strategies”.

M Thid |

“ mﬁmmmnm@ummmufmﬁﬁmdmmw.mmmmmm
mwmqmmtgﬁ.mth_mﬂwmdnrdimmgnﬁmbwﬂx use of 20 hour interrogations, remaval of all comfort itema
(including religious items), switching the detainee from hot raticus to MREs, and forced grooming. Thid
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positions” at GTMO.*? When asked how stress positions came to be included in LTC Phifer’s
memo, given the agreement referenced in her earlier email, LTC Beaver said that she did not
know, but added that LTC Phifer later advocated for theiruse.*”® LTC Beaver said that she
relied on Mr. Becker and LTC Phifer to decide which techniques to put in the memo and that she
never commented of changed their drafis. *

(U) The proposed Category III techniques in the October 11, 2002 request were the most
aggressive and included the use of scenarios designed to convince the detainee that death or
severely painful consequences were imminent for him and/or his family; exposure to cold
weather or water; the use of a wet towel and dripping water to induce the misperception of
suffocation; and the use of mild, non-injurious physical contact such as grabbing, poking in the
chest with the finger, and light pushing*** According to the October 11, 2002 memo, Category
ITI techniques “and other aversive technigues, such as those used in U.S. military resistance
training or by other U.S. government agencies” would be utilized 10 interrogate “exceptionally
resigtant fﬁetainecs,” which LTC Phifer estimated as “less than 3%” of the detainees held at
GTMO.

(U) Two of the Category I techmiques in L TC Phifer’s memo — the use of phobias and
the use of the wet towel and dripping water to induce the misperception of suffocation — were not
derived from the October 2, 2002 BSCT memo.*’ CIA lawyer Jonathan Fredman, however, had
reportedly discussed both of these techniques during his October 2, 2002 meeting with GTMO
personnel, noting that the use of phobias was “very effactive” and that the uss of the “wet towel
technique” makes 2 body react aa is if it’s suffocating.** Mr. Becker told the Committee that he
(the ICE Chief) may have recommended adding those two techniques to the request for
authority,*? :

(U) LTC Phifer said that he drafted his memo with Mr. Becker.**® Mr, Bocker, however,
told the Committes that he was provided a draft only after it was nearly complete. He said that

- 2 Yice Admiral Albert T. Church, Review of Departmant of Defense Detention Operations and Dstaines
Intsrrogation Techmiques (March 7, 2005) (hersinafter “Church Report™) at 109 {citing email from LTC Beaver
(Augnst 19, 2002)).

49 1,7C Beaver told the Committee that LTC Phifer advocated the uae of stress positions in the imerrogetion of
Mohammed &l Khatani (discussed below). Commitiee staff interview of LTC Diunc Beaver (November 9, 2007).

“ hid ‘

4 1 TC Phifer to MG Michaol Dunlavey, Reguest for Approval of Counter-Resistance o,
hid :

7 The use of a wet towel and dripping water to induce the misperception of drowning sppesrs 10 describe

waterboarding. The Navy is the only service that used weterbosrding in SERE training, which it cessed in
November 2007, '

“8 Counter Rasistance Strategy Mesting Minutes a5 (The CTC Chief Counsel axplained that if & “well-trained
individual is used to perform™ the “wet-towel technique,” it can “feel like you're drowning. The lymphatic system
will react as if you're suffocating but your body will not cease to fimetion.™) ‘

4 Commitiee staff interview of David Becker (September 17, 2007).

* Cammittes staff interview of LTC Jerald Phifer (func 27, 2007).
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he thought the techniques memo was “stupid,” though he did not share his view with LTC Phifer
at the time.*$" LTC Phifer told the Committee that he was uncomfortable with the idea of using
some of the techniques in his memo but that MG Dunlavey pressured him to finish the request. 52

B. GTMO Staff Judge Advocate Conducts “Legal Review of Aggressive
Interrogation Technigues” (U) ‘

. (U) The October 11, 2002 tec iques Mmemo was accompanied by a cover memo and
legal brief written by GTMQ’s Staff Judge Advocate (SJA) LTC Diane Beaver, The cover
memo stated simply that “the proposed strategies do not violate applicable federal faw. ™

(U) LTC Beaver told the Compmittee that she drafted the legal brief with her staff over the
course of the 2002 Columbus Day weekend**  She told the Committes that she had not seen
either of the legal memoranda produced by the Department of Justice Office of Legal Counsel on
August 1, 2002 and that she did not receive input on the legal brief from anyone outside of
GTMO. The minutes of the October 2, 2002 meeting with CIA lawyer Jonathan Fredman,
however, reflect that LTC Beaver was present when he discussed the Torture Convention {(and
the federal law implementing the ireaty). In that discussion, Mr. Fredman described “severe
physical pain” as “anything causing permanent damage to major organs or body parts.™*** The
idea that “severe physical pain” constituting torture had to rise to the level of “organ failure,
irnpairment of bodily fimctions or even death”™ had been discussed in the OLC legal memo of
August 12002, known as the First Bybee metno. ¢

(U) LTC Beaver began her analysis of the “aggressive” techniques by stating that the
wJetainees currently held at Guantanamo Bay . . . are not protected by the Geneva
Convemtions.™*! LTC Beaver stated that the Office of the Secretary of Defense “had not
adopted specific guidelines regarding interrogation techniques for detaince operations at GTMO”
and she dismissed the Jongstanding gnidance ont intesrogation of detainees contained in the Army
Field Manual (FM) 34-52 as not binding'** .

1 Copmittes staff interview of David Becker (September 17, 2007).
A7 Committes staff interview of LTC Jarald Phifer (Tune 27, 2007).

49} femo from LTC Diane Beaver for Commander, Joint Task Force 170, Lagal Review of Aggressive Intsrrogation
Technigues (October 11, 2002).

084~ mmittee staff interview of L'TC Diane Besver (Novembar 9, 2007).

4% Counter Resistance Strategy Maeting Minutes et 3,

46 ) forno from Assistant Atiomey General Jay Bybee to White House Counsel Alberto Gonzales, Standards
Conduct for Interrogation wxier 18 U.5.C. §§ 2340-23404 (August 1, 2002). ‘

7 ) femo from LTC Disne Beaver for Comsiander, Joint Task Faree 170, Legal Brigf on Proposed Counter-
Revisunce Strategies (October 11, 2002) (hereinafter “ LTC Beaver, Lagal Brief on Proposed Counter-Resistance
Stratagies™). ‘
“MSIAcmdudedmmhmuﬂlemhniqummﬁrAmyFM34—52m“muninudby.mdmfo:mtnﬂw
Geneva Conventicns nd applicable intemational law,” and that the Genave Conventions do not apply 83 @ matter of
lav;. the Field Manus! wes “not binding.” See LTC Beaver, Lagal Brief on Proposed Counter-Resistance Strategies
at 1. '

63



(U) In her memo, LTC Beaver stated that U.S. obligations under the Convention Against
Torture restricted only those cruel, inhuman, or degrading acts that were also prohibited by the
“eyrrent standard articulated in the Eighth Amendment” against “cruel and unusual B
punishment.***® The memo concluded that the proposed interrogation techniques would be
consistent with the Eighth Amendment standard so long as any force used could “plausibly have
been thought necessary . . . to achieve a legitimate governmentsl objective and it was applied ina
good faith effort and not maliciously or sadistically for the very purpose of causing harm.™®

(U) LTC Beaver also concluded that the proposed interrogation techniques would not
violate the federa] anti-torture statute so long as they were not specifically intended to cause
severe physical pain or suffering or prolonged mental harm. LTC Beaver conducted her analysis
with the “assum[ption] that severe physical pain {would not be] inflicted” and “absent any
evidence that any of these strategies [would] in fact cause prolonged and long lagting mental
harm.™ LTC Beaver told the Committee that she did not conduct any research to determine
whether the use of the techniques described in the accompanying request for authority would, in
fact, result in long-term mental harm.*®

The October 2, 2002 BSCT memo, however, had specifically cautioned that
the techniques “could affect the short term and/or long tetm physical and/or mental health of the
detainee . . . [and that] physical and/or emotional harm from the . . . techniques may emerge
months or even years after their use M

(U) LTC Beaver also found that some of the proposed tactics would constitute a “per se
violation” of the Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMYJ) Article that prohibits military
personnel from committing assault, and could violate the Article that prohibits military personnel
from communicating a threat.** As a result, L'TC Beaver said it would be “advizable to have
permission or immunity in advance from the convening authority for military members utilizing
these methods.™® In a November 4, 2002 letter to the Joint Staff J.5, the Marine Corps
commented on the SJA’s recormendation to convey “permission or immunity in advance,”
noting that “[w}e are unaware of any authority that would allow a convening authority to give
‘permission or immunity’ in advance to commit a criminal violation."*® Likewise, military
lawyers from the Judge Advocate General’s Legal Center and School later said that LTC
Beaver's “proposal to immunize intetrogators, given that & number of the proposed techniques in

9 1 TC Beaver, Legal Brief on Fropased Counter-Resistance Strategies at 2.
4 Thid. at 5. ' :

*1 hid,

%3 (ommmittas staff interview of LTC Diane Beaver (November 9, 2007).

40 BSCT, Counter-Resistance Strategies (October 2, 2002).

41 1C Beaver, Legal Briaf on Proposed Counter-Resistance Strategies at 5.

5 Thid, _

* \Memo from Masine Corps Service Planner to Director, J-5, The Joint Staff, Counter-Resistence Techriques
(November 4, 2002) ser alse Section IV D, infra,
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insua"oonstitutud violations of the UCMI, was not only unprecedented, but lacked any basis in
law.’

(U) Based on her legal review, LTC Beaver recommended that the “proposed methods of
interrogation be approved,” but that interrogators be trained to use the methods and that
“interrogations involving category II and T1T methods” undergo & legal, medical, behavioral
science, and intelligence review prior to commencement.*

(U) LTC Beaver told the Committee that she called the SOUTHCOM Staff Judge
Advocate COL Manny Supervielle, likelg‘y on Sundzy, October 10, 2002 and sent SQUTHCOM a
draft of the legal memo that same day.*® She said that she told COL Supervielle that she “really
needed some help” but that she received no comments Fom SOUTHCOM prior to submitting the
final memo the next day. "™ LTC Beaver said that she also tatked to the Legal Counsel to the
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff CAPT Jane Dalton and asked for her help, but was told that
oho should talk to COL Supervielle.*! CAPT Dalton said that she did not recall that
conversation with L.TC Beaver.*”? LTC Beaver also told the Committee that MG Dunlavey did
not comment on drafts of the memo and that she did not discuss it with him after it was
completed.*™

C Chain of Conumand Considers the Request for Interrogation Techniques a1
CITF and FBI Raise Objections (U)

(U) On October 11, 2002, MG Dunlavey submitted LTC Phifer’s memo and LTC
Beaver's legal analysis to General James Hill, the Commander of the United States Southern
Command (SOUI'HCQM?. He also sent his own memo requesting approval fo use the
interrogation techniques,"”! MG Dunlavey wrote:

[ am fully aware of the techniques currently employed to gain valnable
intelligence in support of the Global War on Terrorism Although these
techniques have resulted in significant exploitable intelligence, the same methods
have become less effective over time. 1 believe the methods and techniques
delineated in the accompanying J-2 memorandum will enhance our efforts to
extract additional information, Based on the analysis provided by the JTF-170

%714 Col Kantwill et sl., Improving the Fighting Position, A Practitionar’s Guidé to Opsrational Law Suppart o
the Interragation Procers, 2005 Army Lawyer (July 2005) at 12, 14. .

4t | 16 Beaver, Legal Brief on Proposed Counter-Resistance Strategies gt 7.

8 oo mittee staff interview of LTC Diane Beaver (November 9, 2007).

% § ASC Hearing (June 17, 2008); Committes staff intarview of LTC Diane Beaver (November 9, 2007).
1 SASC Hearing (Juns 17, 2008).

“7 Ihid,

™ Committes staff interview of LTC Dimne Beaver (November 9, 2007) .

74 Memo from MG Miches! Dunlsvey o USSOUTHCOM Commender GEN James Hill CounterRasistance
Strategies (October 11, 2002) (hereinaftar “"MG Dunlavey to GEN Hill, Counter-Resistance Strategies.”)
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SIA, }1$have concluded that these techniques do not violate U.S. or international
laws." ™.

(U) On October 25, 2002, GEN Hill forwarded the JTF=170 request to Chairman of the
Joint Chiefs of Staff, Gen Richard Myers, with a memorandum stating that “despite our best
efforts, some detainees have tenaciously resisted our current interrogation methods, "¢ He
continued: “[o]ur respective staffs, the Office of the Secretary of Defense, and Joint Task Force
170 have been trying to identify counter-resistant techniques that we can lawfully employ.”™"
When later asked, GEN Hill could not recall whether SOUTHCOM rroduced a written opinion
analyzing the GTMO request separate from LTC Beaver's opinion,*’*

(U) Asto techniques in the GTMO request for interrogation techniques, GEN Hill said
that he “did discuss the topic of SERE training in a general manner with MG Dunlavey.™”
Years later, in a June 3, 2004 press briefing, GEN Hill noted the influence of the Fort Bragg trip
and SERE school techniques on the request, stating:

The staff at Guantanamo working with behavioral scientists, having gone up to
our SERE school and developed a list of techniques which our lawyers decided

. and looked at, said were OK. I sent that list of technigues up to the Secretary and
said, in order for us to get at some of these very high-profile, high-value targets
who are resistant to techniques, | may need greater flexibility. But I want a legal
review of it and you to tell me that, policy-wise, it’s the right way to do
business, *®

(U) In his October 25, 2002 mema, GEN Hill stated that, although he believed Categorics
I and 1] techniques were “legal and humane,” he was uncertain about techniques in Category III
and was “particularly troubled by the use of implied or expressed threats of death of the detainee
or his family.”™ Nevertheless, GEN Hill said that he “desire[d] 1o have as many options as
possible at [his] disposal” and asked that Departments of Defense and Justice attorneys review
the Category III techniques. *®

7 MG Dimlavey to GEN Hill, Counter-Resistance Strategies,

% Mamo from GEN James Hill to Chairman of the Joint Chicfs of Staff GEN Richerd Myers, Counter-Resistance
Techmiques, (October 25, 2002) (hersinafter "GEN Hill to CICS, Counper-Resistance Techvigues. ")

7 GEN Hill to CICS, Counter-Resistance Techoriques.

™ GEN James T. Hill answers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Senstor Carl Levin (August 20, 2008).
® bid, _ '

“ June 3, 2004 Media Availability with Commander U.S. Southemn Command.

*! GEN Hill to CICS, Counter-Resistance Techniques,

m' GEN B!l tos CICS, Connter-Resistance Techodgues; In testimomy 1o the Army IG, the SOUTHCOM Commander
said that he thought the request “wes importent enough to where there ought to be & high level look at it... There
ought to be o mejor policy discussion of this and everybady cught to be involved.” Army IG, Interview of GEN
James T. Hill {October 7, 2005), at 7.
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(U) One SOUTHCOM Assistant Staff Judge Advocate LTC Mark Gingras testified to the

Army 1G that lawyers for SOUTHCOM had concems about Category Il and Category 111
tec}nﬁquan.m Regarding the GTMO request for techniques, LTC Gingras told the Army IG:

As lawyers we're talking about adherence to the rule of law being important, and
that's what we're trying to tell everybody as we travel around the world to these
other countries. That's paramount t0 democracy. And so suddenly we Took like
we're brushing this aside or we’ro twisting the law. The feeling was that decision
rakers within the Pentagon didn’t much care about that. They cared about
winning the War on Terrorism, And if thet meaﬁ you had to pull out fingernails

you'd pull out fingermails, figuratively speaking.”
D.  Miliary Services React to GTMO Requet for Interropation Techniques (U)

(U) On October 30, 2002, after receiving Gen Hill's memo and the GTMO request, the
Joint Staff J-3 requested that the military - rvices comment on the request.

On November 1, 2002, the Air Force responded, expressing “geriols CONCEINS
regarding the legality of many of the proposed techniques” and stating that “some of these
techniques could be construed as ‘torture,’ a3 that crime is defined by 18 U.5.C. 2340.7% The
Air Force memorandum added that, with respect to potential prosecutions, the use of Category
T techniques would “almost certainly” result in any statements obtained being inadmissible.
The memotandum stated that admissibility of evidence obtained using Categories Tand I
techniques, the latter of which included stress positions, the use of dogs, removal of clothing, and
deprivation of light and auditory stimuli, among other techniques, would be “fact specific, but
the same concerns remain.™*® The Air Force memo contimed: “Additionally, the techniques
described may be subject to challenge as failing to meet the requirements outlined in the military
order to treat detainees humanely. .. Tmplementation of the proposed techniques would require a
change in Presidential policy.™*® The memo stated that the Air Force “concurs in the need to
conduct an in-depth legal and policy assessment, a8 recommended by [the SOUTHCOM
Oammanderl;&:rior to implementation of the proposed counter-resistance interrogation
techniques.” ‘

(U) On November 4, 2002, the Navy. responded to the Joint Staff"s request for comment,
stating that it “concurfred] with developing a range of advanced counter-resistance techniques,”

= Army 1G, Interview of LTC Mk Gingras (Octaber 11, 2005) 8t 20.

™ Thid. . :

a2 5oin Staff Action Processing Form (SIS 02-06697), Counter-Ragistance Techniques (October 30, 2002).

5 [yergriment of the Air Force Memo for UN and Multilatars) Affair Division (-5), Joint Staff, Counter-Resisiaricé
Techmiques (November 1, 2002). :

#Thid ot 1.
2 Thid,

9 Thid, ot 2.
0 thid. st 1.



but recommending “‘a more detailed interagency legal and policy review be conducted on the...
proposed techniques, ™! '

(U) That same day, the Marine Corps submitted its writien comments, which concluded
that “several of the Category II and I techniques arguably violate faderal law, and would
expose our service members to possible prosecution.”™? The Marine Corps memo stated that the
use of the techniques would also create *exposure to criminal prosecution under the UCMI,***
Again, Category 1Tl techniques included the use of scenarios designed to convince the detainee
that death or severely painful consequences were imminent for him or his family, exposure to
cold weather or water, use of a wet towel and dripping water to induce the misperception of
suffocation, and non-injurious physical contact such as grabbing, poking and light pushing.***
Category Il included such techniques as stress positions, deprivation of light and auditory
stimuli, the use of a hood during questioning, 20 hour interrogations, removal of clothing, and
the use of detainee phobias, such as dogs, to induce stress. The memo also stated the Marine
Corps “disagree[d] with the position that the proposed plan is legally sufficient.”*

(U) A few days later, the Army submitted comments from both the Office of the Judge
Advocate General (OTJAG) and the CITF.**¢ The Army’s cover memo stated that “Army
interposes significant legal, policy and practical concerns regarding most of the Category II and
alj of the Category II1 techniques proposed” and that the Army “concurs in the recommendation
for a comprehensive legal review of this proposal in its entirety by the Department of Defense
and the Department of Justice,””’ The OTJAG’s memorandum, which was attached, stated that
Category Il techniques “violale the President’s order {on humane treatment] and various UUCM]J
articies” and that the use of scenarios designed to convince the detainee that death or severely
painful consequences are imminent for hitn and/or his family and the use of a wet towe! and
dripping water to induce the misperception of suffocation “appear to be clear violations of the
federal torture statute.”™*® The OTJAG memorandum also stated that Category I techniques of
stress positions, deprivation of light and auditory stimuli, and using individual phobias to induce
stress “crosses the line of ‘humane’ treatment, would likely be considered maltreatment under

! Department of the Navy Memo fer the Dircctor for Strategic Plans and Policy Directorate (J-5) Joint Staff, Navy
Flarmer's Memo WRT Counter-Resistance Techniques (SIS 02-06697) (November 4, 2002).

*2 Memo from Marine Corps Service Planner to Director, -5, The Joint Staff, Cownter-Resistance Techniques
(November 4, 2002), ‘

2 Ibid
“ LTC Phifer to MG Dunlavey, Request for Approval of Countar-Resistance Strategies,

** Memo from Marine Corps Service Planner to Director, J-5, Tha Jaint Staff. Counter-Resistance Techmigues
(November 4, 2002), '

N Memo from the Atmy Deputy to the Assistant Deputy Chief of Staff for Operations and Plans (JToint Affairs) to
the Joint Staff, J-5/UNMA [UN end Muttilaters] Affairs Division], SIS 02-06697 (November 7, 2002); Memo from
Departmert of the Army, Offiee of the Judgs Advocate (International end Operational Law) 1 The Office of the
Army General Counsel, Review--Propased Counter-Resistance Technigues (undated) (hereinafter “DAJA(IO)
Memo for Army General Counsel, Proposed Commter-Resiztance Techmiques.™) ' ‘

“7 DAJACIO) Memo for Army General Counsel, Proposed Counter-Resistance Tachniques.
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Asticle 93 of the [Uniform Code of Military Justice], and may violate the Federal torture
statute.”™ The memo continued that that removal of clothing and forced grooming “may be
considered inhumane” if done only for interrogation purposes and stated “if we mistreat

detainees, we will quickly lose the moral high ground.”™" The Army concurred with GEN
Hill’s request for a legal review before techniques were adopted.** :

(U) Military lawyers were not the only personnel to object to GTMO’s request for
aggressive techniques, CITF Deputy Comander Mark Fallon told the Committee that it was
CITF"s view that the techniques proposed by TTF-170 would actually strengthen, rather than
weaken, detainee resistance. He explained: .

Our view was that employing techniques that validated [the detainees] prior
training end adverse views would serve to harden resistance and reinforce what
they had been told to expect... We pointed out that SERE school tactics were
developed to better prepare U.S. military personnel to resist interrogations and not
a5 @ means of obtaining reliable information. CITF was troubled with the
rationale that techniques used to harden resistance o ilﬂmsoogations would be the
basis for the utilization of techniques to obtain information.

 (U) CITF's legal view was reflected in 2 November 4, 2002 memo from CITF Chief
Legal Advisor MAJ Sam MecCahon, which was also attached 10 the Army's response to the Jont
staff MAJ McCahon wrote:

[Category] NI and certain [Category] I techniques may subject service members
to punitive articles of the UCMJ... CITF personnel who are awars of the use or
abuse of certain techniques may be exposed to lisbility under the UCMJ for
failing 10 intercede or report incidents, if an inquiry later determines the conduct
10 be in violation of either the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, the
Uniform Code of Military Justice or 13 U.8.C. §2340.°% .

(U) MAJ McCahon also raiséd concerns about the impact of the techniques on
evidentiary proceedings: :
One detainee subjected to these techniques could taint the voluntary nature of all
other confessions and information derived from detainces not subjected to the
aggressive techniques.*™ ‘ :

9 Thid
500 i,
! Thid,
% R eaponses of Mr. Mark Fellan 1o questionneiro of Senstor Car] Levin (September 15, 2006) at 7.

M5 forni> from CITF Chief Legal Advisor MAJ Sam MoCahon: to CITF Commendet, Assessment of JTF-170
C.'mm_tenﬂmstmw Strategies and the Potential Impact on CITF Mission and Persormal (ovember 4, 2002)
(hereinafver “MeCahon to CDR CTTF, Assessmient of JTF-170 Counter-Resistance Strategies.”)

34 \fcCahar to CDR CITF, Assessment of JTF-170 Counter-Resistance Strategies.
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(U} MAT McCahon added that “[b]oth the utility and legality of applying certain |
techniques” in the October 11, 2002 memo are “cquestionable,” and recommended that CITF
personne] not participate in or even observe the use of aggressive techniques.”® MAJ McCahon
concluded:

I cannot advocate any action, interrogation or otherwise, that is predicated upon
the principle that all is well if the ends justify the means and others are not aware
of how we conduct our business.”

(U) MAJ McCahon told the Committee that his memorandum prompted a subsequent
meeting at the Pentagon.’”’

(U) When the October 11, 2002 GTMO request amrived in the DoD) General Counsel’s
office, DoD) Associate Deputy General Counsel for International Affairs Eliana Davidson said
that she was asked 10 provide her thoughts on the request. Ms. Davidson said that she had a brief
conversation with Mr. Haynes where she told hirn that the GTMO request needed further
assessment.*® Mr, Haynes stated that he did not “recall that specifically.”*®

E, Department of Defense General Counsel Quashes Joint Staff Legal Review (U)

(U) When the October 11, 2002 GTMO request arrived af the Joint Staff, CAPT Jane
Dalton, the Legal Counse] to the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, said it was “obvious to
[her] that there were sorne legal issues” with the request.”!? She said that techniques in Category
11 of the request “needed to be looked at closely” and that Category III techniques “had
significant, significant concerns.” ! CAPT Dalton found LTC Beaver's lega] analysis
“woefislly inadequate” and said it relied on 8 methodology and conclusions that were “very
strained.1* Rather than simply deny the request, however, CAPT Dalton said that “she owed it
to the combatant commander to do 2 full and complete review.”** She subsequently directed her
staff to set up a secure video teleconfererice with represemtatives from the Defense Intelligence
Agency (DIA), the Army’s intelligence school at Fort Huachuca, U.S. Southern Command
(SOUTHCOM), and GTMO to find out more information about the techniques m the request and
to “lbegin dli“scussing the legal issies to see if we could do ... our own independent legal
analysis. :

* Thid

** Thid | ‘

7 Committee naff interview of MAJ Sarn McCahon (Tune 15, 2007).

% Committec staff interview of Eliana Davidsen (May 23, 2008).

- " SASC Hewring (June 17, 2008),

9 Committee staff interview of RADM Jane Daltoss (April 10, 2008) at 33.
U hid ar 45,

2 Thid. at 41.

1 Toid., ar 33,

M hid at 34,
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(U) CAPT Dalton recalled making Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff General Richard
Myers aware of the concerns expressed by the military services.””® The Chairman said, however,
that he did “not specifically recall the objections of the Services being raised” to his attention at
that time. '

(U) CAPT Dalton; also recalled that her staf? briefed the Dol General Counsel’s office
about the concerns submitted by the military services and that the General Counsel himself “was
awars of the concems.”” In a February 2008 interview, DoD Associate Deputy General
Counsel for International Affairs Eliana Davidson recalled that the service comments were made
available to the General Counsel’s office.”® Dol General Counsel Jim Haynes stated, however,
that he “did not recall secing” the memos 2t that time and “didn’t know they sxisted.”* He
stated that he did not recall being informed by anyone that the military services had concerns
about the legality of Category II techniques in the request and that he did not have a “specific
recollection” of CAPT Dalton making him aware that there were concems about the legality of
techniques in the GTMO request.”*

(U) According to CAPT Dalton, after she and her staff initiated their analysis, CJCS GEN
Myers directed her to stop that review. CAPT Dalton said that GEN Myers returned froma
meeting and “advised me that [DoD General Counsel] Mr. Haynes wanted me. . . to cance] the
video teleconference and 1o stop™” conducting the review because of concerns that “people were
going to see” the GTMO request and the military services’ analysis of it.’? According to CAPT
Dalton, Mr. Haynes “wanted to keep it much more close hold.” % When CAPT Dalton “leamed
that jthe DoD General Counsel] did not want that broad based legal and policy rsview to take
place,” she and her staff stopped their review,’” This was the oply time that CAPT Dalton had
ever been asked 1o stop analyzing a request that came to her for her review. "¢

-CAPT Dalton recalled that prior to bein& directed to stop the review, her staff had
begun writing draft comments on the GTMO request.”> An undated drafl of 2 memorandum
from GEN Myérs to SOUTHCOM Comrmander GEN Hill, analyzing the October 11, 2002

15 SASC Hearing (June 17, 2008).
516  exnonses of Generel Richard Myers to written questions from Senstor Car] Levin (April 30, 2008).
17 g ASC Hearing (June 17, 2008).

3 ~ommittes staff interview of Bliana Davidson (February 21, 2008). Ms. Davidson said in 8 subsequent interview
that she was riot swere of the military services’ comments before discussing the October 11, 2002 GTMO request
with the DoD General Counsel. Commitise staff interview of Eliens Davidson (May 23, 2008).

1% & ASC Hearing (fune 17, 2008).

" Committes steff interview of William J. Haynes I (April 25, 2008) at 163-65.
2 Copmittee staff interview of RADM Jane Dalton (April 10, 2008) at 34,

2 hid. at 35.

0 SASC Hearing (June 17, 2008).

M ihid,

7 Cammittee staff interview of RADM Jane Dalton (April 10, 2008) at 37,
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GTMO request, stated “We do not believe the proposed plan is legally sufficient.”* The draft
memo stated that “several of the Category ITI techniques arguably violate federal law, and could
expose interrogators to possibla prosecution” under the federal anti-torture laws, >’ The draft
stated that techniques in the request *'may be subject to challenge as failing to meet the
requirements outlined in the military order to treat detainees humanely” and recommended an

“in-depth technical, policy, and legal assessment” of the techniques prior to their
implementation. ¥

{U) GEN Myers said that he had “no specific recollection” of discussing with CAPT
Dalton her efforts to conduct an analysis of the October 11, 2002 GTMO request. *® He said
that while he “did not dispute™ asking her to stop working on her analysis and acknowledged that
Joint Staff records indicated that she did stop work ot her analysis, he had "no recollection or
doing so” and did “not recall anyone suggesting” to him that she stop her review.”® DoD
General Counsel Jim Haynes said that while it was “possible” that the issue could have come up
in a conversation with the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, he did not “recall that specific
conversation” or expressing any opinion of any kind with respect to CAPT Dalton's review.”!

F.  GIMO and JFRA Plan for Additional Interrogation Training (U)

. While GTMO’s request for approval to use aggressive interrogation tebhniques was
pending, JPRA staff was developing an agenda for possible follow-up training for interrogation
personnel at GTMO.

. In mid-October 2002, JPRA developed a plan of instruction to provide training on the
techniques to GTMO interrogators.**? The training plan was virtually identical to a draft agenda
developed for the Fort Bragg training of GTMO personnel that took place in September, which
included instruction of the “use of physiological pressures."*

Il (FOUO) David Becket, the GTMO ICE Chief, told the Committec that once they
received authority to use the techniques in the October 11, 2002 memo, GTMO interrogators
would need training on the techniques. ™ A draft message order circulated between GTMO and
JPRA staff in late October requested “mission critical training support” for "approximately|

¥ Draft memo from CJCS Richard Myers to Commander, United States Southern Ceommend, Counter-Resistance
Techrigues (mqu;).

2 id

% 1hid, .
;Olg;upnmm of GEN (Ret.) Richard Myers to April 16, 2008 written questions fram Senator Carl Lavin (April 30,
20 mhid,

! Committee staff interview of William J. Haynes I (Agpril 25, 2008) at 168.

2 Memorandum From Joseph Witach to JPRA/CC, JFRA/CD, JFRA/COS, JPRA/OSO, Plan of Instruction (PO
Jor TE.170 Training Support (October 16, 2002). .

1 See Soction Tl D, supra; Plan of Instruction (PO) for TF.1 70 Training Support (October 16, 2002).
™ Cammittee staff interview of David Becker (Ssptember 17, 2007).
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personnel” at GTMO.** The drafl message order stated that the training would “provide the
necessary tools JTF-GTMO interrogators require to accomplish their mission critical tasks,**

A November 15, 2002 staff memo to the Joint Staff J-2 stated that JTF-
GTMO had requested training on the SERE school techniques and that the rainers were
expected to arrive in the first week of December.> The JPRA Operational Support Office
(0S0) Chief Christopher Wirts told the Committee that the requirement for JPRA to provide the
training was never approved and that his agency never conducted the training,”® However, in

. January 2003, two instructors from the Navy SERE school, John Rankin and Christopher Ross,
travelled to GTMO to train interrogators on the use of physical pressures, including slapping,

walling, and stress positions.””

V.  Command Change at Gaantanumo as Dispute over Agpressive Techniques
Continues (U)

A Major General Geoffrey Miller Takes Command of JTF-GTMO (U)

(1) In November 2002 a new Commandet, MG Geoffrey Miller, took command of JTF-
GTMO. At the time, MG Miller had no first-hand experience with detainces or
interrogations.**’

(U) MG Miller told the Committee that prior to taking command, he met with
SOUTHCOM Commander GEN Hill and his aff.*" During those meetings, MG Miller got the
impression that MG Dunlavey, the previous Commander, had bypassed the chain of compand
by raising issues directly with the Joint Chiefs of Staff and Department of Defense staff,. MG
Miller told the Committee that GEN Hill authorized him to speak directly with the Joint Staff
and the Office of the Secretary of Defense, but that he told SOUTHCOM he would keep
SOUTHCOM informed of those communications.**

(U) MG Miler said that, while he was in Cotmmand at GTMO, he had direct discussions
with the Dol> General Counsel's office and the Office of the Assistant Secretary of Defense for
Special Operations and Low Intensity Conflict (ASD SO/LIC)® MG Miller also testified 1o the
Army IG that he and Deputy Secretary of Defense Paul Wolfowitz “talked once a week when I

295 iongil from Chris Wirta Richard Driggers, Joseph Witsch, SN -3 Gary Percival
(October 25, 2002) (hercinafter ™ Chris Wirts (October 29, 2002).™)

26 Email from Chris Wirts (Oeteber 29, 2002).
97 [F.170 and JTF-160 were combinad to form JTF-GTMO in October 2002; Meme om [

" [Joint Staff), GTMO Detainee (November 15, 2002).

% Committes stafY interview of Chris Wirts (Janusry 4, 2008).

2 549 Section VI C, infra. |

4 Army IG, Interview of MG Geoffray Miller (October 20, 2005) at 5.
1 (ommittee staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (December 6, 2007),
*8 Thid.

€ Tid,
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was in Guantanamo,”* Lt Col Ted Moss, the JTF-GTMO ICE Chief who began his tour of
duty st GTMO in December 2002, said that Deputy Secretary Wolfowitz was in phone contact
with MG Miller “a 1ot.”** However, M3 Miller told the Committee that he misspoke when he
testified tothe Army IG and that, to the best of his knowledge, he did not speak to Deputy

Secretary Wolfowitz on the phone while he was at GTMO, but only briefed him quartetly, in
person, on GTMO operations.**

(U) Shortly after MG Miller arrived at GTMO, the Director for Intelligence (J.2) LTC
Phifer informed him of the October 11, 2002 request. ™’ . Although he later approved an
interrogation plan that included reference to Category 11l techniques, MG Miller told the Army
IG that he believed that the techniques in Category Il and some techniques in Category Il were
“overly aggressive™ and that he had not intended to use them.**® MG Miller said he had concerns
with stregs positions, removal of clothing, and use of dogs, among other techniques,
Nevertheless, there is evidence that those techniques were used at GTMO while he was in
command. MG Miller told the Committee that he thought he discussed his concerns about the
techniques with LTC Beaver in early November before the Secretary approved their use, but that
he did not raise it with SOUTHCOM because he wanted to see which techniques would be
approved.*® |

(U) MG Miller told the Army IG that when he arrived at GTMO, there was significant
tension between JTF<GTMO, CITF, and FBI and that he sought to get all three organizations to
work in concert. **® Despite MG Miller’s stated intent, his decision to approve an interrogation
plan for Mohatuned al Khatani that was opposed by the CITF and FBI, drove a deeper wedge
between his organization and both CITF and FBL

B Khatani Interrogation Plan Fuels Dispute Over Aggressive Techniques (U)

(U) After their unsuccessful interrogation of Khateni in October 2002, JTTF-GTMO staff
spent several weeks drafting an extensive new interrogation plan. The plan was the first “Special
Interrogation Plan* at GTMO and it would encounter strong resistance from both CITF and the
FBI One FBI Special Agent told the Committee thet he thought Khatani’s intesrogation would
define the conduct of future interrogations at GTMO and therefore they “had to get it right. "

. Several drafis of JTF-GTMO’s interrogation plan for Khatani were circulated at
GTMO in November 2002, The discussion below focuses primarily on two of those drafis, one
circulated on November 12, 2002 and another which was drafted about a week later and appears

W Army 1G, Intarview of MO Geoffrey Miller {fune 28, 2005).

3 Committes staff interview of Lt. Col. Ted Moss (October 17, 2007),
% Committer staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (December 6, 2007).
7 Army 1G, Interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (October 20, 2005) at 11,
4 hid. .

? Committes staff intarview of MG Geoffray Miller (December 6, 2007).
0 Army 1G, Interview of MG Geoffray Miller (October 20, 2005) at 7.

M Committee staff interview of FBI Special Agent (Novamber 8, 2007).
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1o have been finalized on November 22, 2002. Both drafts are discussed here because each
provides insight on the range of inferrogation techniques considered by senior officials at
GTMO. In addition, there is evidence that both draft plans were approved by MG Miller.
Finally, there is evidence that techniques which were included in the “draft” circulated on

November 12, 2002 but removed fiom the purported “final” plan, were nevertheless used during
Khatani's interrogation.

1. JTF-GTMO Staff Circulate Khatani Interrogation Plan (U)

Il According to the repost completed by Vice Admiral (VADM) Church, “afier
discussing the matter in early November 2002 with the Secretary of Defense, SOUTHCOM
Commander GEN Hill gave verbal approval on November 12, 2002 for use of all Category [ and
11 counter resistance techniques against Khatani.™*** GEN Hill told the Committee that he had
no recollection of that.™? That same day, November 12, 2002, LTC Phifer sent an email and a
four page interrogation plan to MG Miller stating “[h]ere is the Interrogation Plan for [Khatani]
as approved by you.”*** .

The next day, GTMO ICE Chief David Becker emailed the plan, which he referred to
as the “11 |atest approved by MG Miller,” to a GTMO interrogator.™** According to the plan, the
interropation was scheduled to begin on November 15, 2002.°% Mr. Becker told the Committee
that the plan was developed by his interrogators with input from him and LTC Phifer.* In
2005, MG Miller testified to the Army IG that he thought the plan circulated on November 12,
2002 was part of the final version of the plan that he approved.*** However, in a subsequent
investigation, MG Miller identified a later version as the final plan.’** He told the Committee
that he never approved the version of the plan circulated on November 12, 2002°% However,
contemporaneous documents indicate that others believed the plan circulated on November 12,
2002 had been spproved by both MG Miiler and SOUTHCOM and expected it to be
implemented on November 15, 2002;

2 Church Report st 115.
39 Gencral James Hil} answers to July 28, 2008 writkm questions from Senator Carl Levin (August 20, 2008).
* Ermail from LTC Jerald Phifer to MG Geaffrey Miller (November 12, 2002).

%3 BEmail from David Becker to [Interrogtion Centrol Element Staff Sergeant] (Noventber 13, 2002). Both the
plan attached to those emuils und the subsequent plan identified by the JTF-GTMO Commander a3 the “final”™ plan
contained the JITF-GTMO Commander's [Miller] signaturs block. However, the Committee hes not seen any
version of the plan that contained the JTF-GTMO Commander’s sighature.

 Interrogation Plen for ISN— [Khatani] (November 12, 2002).

7 Committee staff interview of David Becker (September 17, 2007). One FBI agent who was 8 member of the
FRT's Behaviarsl Analysis Unit told the Committee that multiple versions of the plan were actually circulated ot
GTMO during this petiod. Committes Staff interview of FBI Special Agent (November 8, 2007).

' Army 1G, Interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (October 20, 2005) at 7.
" Tnge Report. '
3 Committes staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (Decomber 6, 2007).
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I S T November 12, 2002 email from the Director for Intelligence LTC Phifer

to MG Miller stated, “fh]ere is the Interrogation Plan for ISN: 063 as approved by you.
Request you fwd to Gen Hill, info J2/J3/COS. We will begin at 0001 15 Nov per your

guidance.

Ml 11 November 13, 2002 email from the GTMO ICE Chief David Becker referred to
the Novemnber 125 2002 plan, which was attached to his email, a3 the “[1]atest approved
by MG Miller.”

o I A November 14, 2002 email from the GTMO Staff Judge Advocate LTC

- Diane Beaver to CITF lawyer || <t:tct. “lcjoncerning 63
{Khatani] my understanding is that NSC has weighed in and stated that intel on
this guy is ulmost matier of national security.,.We are dn‘vin% a[brward with
support of SOUTHCOM. Not sure anything else needs to be said.”

M A November 15, 2002 staff mermorandum for the J-2 of the Joint Staff stated that
"fntarraﬁgtars were preparing 1o interrogate [Khatani] beginning at 15 0001 November
2002..

According to the November 12, 2002 plan, the purpose of the interrogation
was to “break the detaines and establish his role in the attacks of Septfember] 11, 2001."°% The
interrogation would be conducted for “20-hour sessions™ and at the completion of each session,
Khatani would be permitted four hours of rest, and then “another 20 hour interrogation session
[would] begin."*¢’

*! Email from LTC Jerald Phifer to MG Geofirey Miller (November 12, 2002) (emphasis added), ttached g3
exhibit 7 to the Inge Report _ |

*© Email from David Becker to [Interrogation Control Element Staff Serpeant] (Novernber 13, 2002),

* Notea of FBI Specisl Agent, Timeline Regarding Interrogation Plans for Detaines 063, entry at *11/12/2002"
(cmphasis sdded). :

* Ermail from LTC Diane Beaver to$ (November 14, 2002) (cmphasis added). Then-Naticnal
Security Advisor Condolesz2a Rice aai was nejther briefed on, nor did she review, the Khstani
interrogation plan. Similarly, then-NSC Legs] Advisor John Bellingar said that, to the best of his recollection, he
too was neither briefed on, nor did he review the plan. Secretary of Stats Condoleezzn Rice and John Bellinger
enswers 10 July 31, 2008 written questions from Senator Carl Levin (September 12, 2008),

Z" Mormo s;::_. to [oirt Statr), GTMO Datainee RN ¥ovember 15, 2002)

¢ mnterrogation Plan for 1SN [ I cstani) vovemver 12, 2002).
*7 Tid. ' :

76



Prior to the first interrogation, we would like to have the detainee’s head and
g H . . - for both 1

chological and hygiene purposes.
During the
interrogations the detaince will at times be placed in stress positions and
Blindfolded. If necessary the detainee may have his mouth taped shut in order to
keep him from talking. Written approval for the tape and for the presence of dogs
will be submitted and obtained prior to implementation *®

. The November 12, 2002 plan went on to describe four phases for the interrogation. ™
During Phase I, interrogators would increase the pressure on Khatani while not permitting him to
speak, with the expectation that Khatani, when later presented with the opportunity to speak to
an interrogator, would “provide his whole story.

=371

Phase I1I of the plan, which was entitled “Level III techniques,” was to utilize
' techniques based on those used at SERE school. The pltn stated:

The third phase of the plan to exploit 063 requires OSD approval for the SERE
interrogation technique ftraining and approval of the level three counter
interrogation resistance training submitted by JTF-GTMO. Once the approvals
are in place, those interrogation techmiques will be i lemented to enc 063

K

Thid.
 Ihid, A third draft of the plan which appears to have been produced after November 12 stated that “written
epproval for use of gauze and for the presence of doga have been approved by [MG Miller]” and wes sent from an

attomey in the DoD Genersl Counsel's office to an sttomey at the Department of Justice’s Office of Legal Counsel
in May 2003, January 31, 2008 SASC staff notes on Veughn declaration documents.

M pterrogation Plan for 1SN I (eteni] @November 12, 2002).
7 Thid,
7 Thid,
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Il The pian’s final phase, Phase IV, was entitled “Coalition Exploitation” and stated
that: S

The fourth phase of the plan to exploit 063 requires that he be sent off island either
temporarily or permanently to either [two specified third countries], or another country to
allow those countries to en}ploy interrogation techniques that will enable them to obtain
the requisite information.*”

2 CITF and FBI Object to Proposed Interrogation Techniques (U)

(U) On November 14, 2002, CITF Commander COL Britt Mallow sent an email to MG
Miller raising concerns about both the Khatani interrogation and the October 11, 2002 request
for authority to use aggressive interrogation tachniques.”” He stated:

I strongly disagree with the use of many of the proposed [Category] 3 and some
[Category] 2 techniques. I feel they will be largely ineffective, and that they will
have serious negative material and legal effects on our investigations. I also am
extremely concemned that the use of many of these techniques will open any
military members up for potential criminal charges, and that my agents, as well as
other [military personnel] will face both legal and ethical problerns if they become
aware of their uge.”®

(U) COL Mallow told the Comumittee that in addition to his email, he raised concerns
about the Khatani interrogation in conversations with MG Miller and in “several meetings with
the DoD [General Counsel].”*”’ COL Mallow eaid that MG Miller told him in a mesting that “if
[CITF] did not want to participate in interrogations with the intelligence community because of
our objections to methods, that [CTTF] would not have the benefit of information resulting from
any of those interrogations, ™

(U) M@ Miller told the Committee that, while he did niot recal! the CITF Commander's
November 14, 2002 email specifically, he did recall communications from COL Mallow to that
effect.’” DoD General Counsel Jim Haynes stated that he did not recall seeing a copy of the
Khatani imterrogation plan at that time and did not “specifically” recall his staff advising him that
CITF and FBI had concerns with intetrogation techniques in the Khatani interrogation plan,*®

A CITF Legal Advisor, . » 5o raised objections to JTF-
GTMO’s interrogation plan for Khatani, In a November 15, 2002 memo for MG Miller, Il

™ fhid,
* Email from COL Britt Mallow to MG Geoftrey Miller (November 14, 2002),
Thid,
*7 Responses of COL (Ret.) Brigt Mallow to questionnairs of Senater Caz] Levin (September 15, 2006).
™ Mid .
" Committee staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller {(Decerber 6, 2007).
** Committes staff intesview of William J. Haynea I (April 25, 2008) st 221, 228.
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I

said that “the reliability of any infermation gained from aggressive techniques will be
highly questionable” and objected to all “physical stresses intended for use” in Phase IIl of the
interrogation plan.*" also objected to Phase IV of the plan, stating that it implied
“that third courtry nationals with harsher imerrogation standards could be used to convey threats

to persons of family or inflict harm contrary to the Convention Against Torture.”

The Khatani interrogation did not proceed on-November 15, 2002 as
planned A November 15, 2002 staff memo 1o the Joint Staff J-2 indicated that the interrogation
was delayed while MG Miller ugonsiderfed] COL Mallow’s Objections.“m MG Miller denied
that the Khatani interrogation was delayed becausa of COL Mallow’s concems, instead telling
the Committee that the interrogation was delayed because he had not received SOUTHCOM's
approval ™ However, as noted above, GTMO Staff Judge Advocate LTC Diane Beaver
indicated in a November 14, 2002 email that JT F-GTMO planned to move forward “with support
* of SOUTHCOM."™ |

(U) In his November 14,2002 email to MG Miller, COL Mallow praposed that JTF-
GTMO and CITF develop a mutually acceptable interrogation plan for Khatani.*® On
November 20, 2002, FBI personnel, who were working closely with CITF, met with JTF-GTMO
staff to discuss developing such a plan. 581 ‘

3 JTR.GTMO Briefs DoD General Counsel’s Office on Interrogation
Plan (U) ' ' :

1 Memo ﬁmw for Major General Geoffrey Millr, Objection 2 Aggressive Interrogation
Techmiques (Novem A \

=2 Thid, . : -

5 \gero from | ST to J-2, Joint Staff, GTMO Detainee -Oﬁsl'movambn' 15, 2002).
M Committes staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (December 6, 2007. :

3 Emeil from LTC Diane Beaver wil T (Vovember 14, 2002) (emphasis added),

% il from COL Britt Mallow 10 MG Geotliey Miller (November 14, 2002).

%7 FBI memo to Major General Miller, PTC 21 November 2002 (undated).

5% committes staff interview of FBI Spacial agent (November 8, 2007).

3\ vemal FBI Email, Intarview Plang (November 21, 2002).

0 Thid, \
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IOR November 21, 2002, MG Miller, LTC Phifer, and representatives from the FBI,
CITF, SOUTHCOM, and the DoD General Counsel's office all participated in « video
teleconference (VTC) to discuss the Khatani interrogation.™ '

LTC Phifer told the Committee that he and MG Miller briefed the group on the
Khatani plan and that during the VTC, DoD Associate Deputy General Counsel for International
Affairs Eliana Davidson stated that the Department was comfortable with what JTF-GTMO had
planned.** MG Miller tofd the Committe that he did not recali the VTC.%* Ms. Davidson said
that she recalled participating in VTCs where the Khatani interrogation was discussed, but she
did not recall if she had a copy of the interrogation plan itself and did not recall saying that the
D of Defense was comfortable with what JTF-GTMO proposed for the inferrogation.**

the psychiatrist with the GTMO Behavioral Science Consultation Team, said that

in the context of the Khatani interrogation, “we were routinely told that the interrogation strategy
was approved up to [the Secretary of Defense] level, %

(U) Subsequent to the VTC, the FBI sent 8 memo to MG Miller alerting him to FBI
“misgivings about the overall coercive nature and possible illegality” of the Khatani
interrogation plan and informing him that the FBI had presented JTF-GTMO stafT with “ani
alternative interrogation approach based on long-term rapport building. ™ A draft of that
alternative approach, which was the product of both the FBI and CITF, stated that Khatani's

negative interactions with interrogators “only reinforces Al-Qaeda sterectypes about evil .
Americans and validates their expectation of harsh treatment and potential torture,™”

(U) On Novetnber 22, 2002, Naval Criminal Investigative Service (NCIS) Chief
Peychologist Michael Gelles drafted & formal review of a JTF-GTMO draft plan.*® Dr. Gelles
concluded that the interrogation plan “lack{ed] substantive and thoughtful consideration.”**
Among other concerns, Dr, Gelles stated:

U Notes of FBI Special Agent, Timeling Reganding Interrogation Plans for Detaines #063, enizy st “11/21/2002.7

1 ommittee staff interview of LTC Jerry Phifer (fune 27, 2007). Notes taken by an FBI Special Agent who
participated in the VTC indicate that, in briefing the Defanse HUMINT Service (DHS) plan, LTC Phifer
“portray[cd] the DHE Intetrogation Plan to SOUTHCOM and the General Counset ot the Pentagon es 8 unified
FBUDHS Interrogation Plan.” The FBI Special Agent's notes state that the LTC Phifer charactarization was “in
direct contradiction” 1o what the Special Agent had told Phifer the previous day. Sec notes of FBI Special Agent,
Timeline Regarding Interrogation Plans for Détatnes #063, entry st “11/21/2002."

¥ Committes staff intarview of MG Geoffray Miller (December 6, 2007).

4 Committes staff interview of Elians Davidson (February 21, 2008).

% Written statamont or—(m 21,2007 at 8.

%6 FBI memo to Major General Miller, PTC 21 November 2002 (undated).
* FBI and CITF Draft Intarrogstion Plan (November 22, 2002).

% ) femo from Michael G. Gelles, Psy.D. to Mark Fallon, Review of JTF.GIMO Interrogation Flan Detaines 063,
(November 22, 2002) (hersinafter “Raview of JTF-GTMO Interrogation Plan Detainee 063 (November 22, 2002)™).

*® Review of JTF-GTMO Interrogation Plan Detaines 063 (November 22, 2002). -




Sh'attgies articulated in the later phases reflect techniques used to train US forces
in resisting interrogation by foreign enemies... [These techniques] would prove
not only 1o be ineffective but also border on techmquas and strategies deemed
unacceptable by law enforcement prufesaionals

(U) Dr. Gelles noted that “the choice to use force with this adversary in an interrogation
may only reinforce his resistance” and stated that if the plan were implemented he would “have
trouble not finding myself from a profess:onal perspective, being forced info an advmu?(
position through cross examination in a military tribunal as an expert in interrogation.”

(U) Notwithstanding the CITF and FBI concerns, MG Miller authorized interrogators to
proceed with the Khatani interrogation beginning November 23, 2002,

4. “Final” Khatani Interrogation Plan (U)

MG Miller identified a version of the Khatani plan that had been written on
November 22, 2002 as the “final” plan that he authorized to be implemented on November 23,
2002.°% While similar to the plan circulated on November 12, 2002, the November 22, 2002
plan comained notable differences from the earlier version that contemporaneous documents
indicated had also been approved.

- - Although there is evidence that both stress positions and dogs were
used in the Khatani interrogation, the November 22, 2002 plan does not mention cither of these
two techniques.*® MG Miller said the atress pozitions and use of doge were removed from the

plan at his direction. %

With respect to dogs, MG Miller said that neither LTC Phifer, nor LTC
Beaver objected to the use of dogs and that his ICE Chief, Mr, Becker, actually favored the use
of dogs in interrogations.® MG Miller said, however, that he only approved the use of dogs for
security around the perimeter of Camp X-Ray, where the interrogation was to take place, and
that he made that view absolutely clear to Mr. Becker. CAPT Jane Dalton, the Legal Counsel to
the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff said, however, that she met with MG Miller in early
November and discussed the use of dogs for interrogation purposes.”™ She said that the “theory
was that certein individuals are afraid of dogs™ and that, while MG Miller talked about dogs

0 Thid,
0 Thid
2 Ingr Report at 9.

2 Interrogation Plan for ISN- [Khateni] (November 22, 200Z) (hmmnftnr *Khatani mtmnguuun
plan (November 22, 2002).7).

* Committee staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (Dmcmbnr &, 2007),
3 Thid. '
& Comumittee staff interview of RADM Jane Dalton (April 10, 2008) at §4.



being outside the interrogation room, they discussed the purpose of the dogs’ presence during
interrogations was that it “exploits [the detainee’s] fear.” ? ‘

. m Mr. Becker told the Committee that MG Miller told him to remove dogs
from the plan.™ Nevertheless, 2 document describing interrogation techniques vsed in the
Khatani interrogation and a witness account (both discussed below) suggest that dogs were used
during the interrogation to shock and agitate Khatani,

w‘& With respect to stress positions, Mr. Becker told the Committee that,

notwi ing the fact that they were included in the easlier plan, there was never an intent to
use stress positions with Khatani,®'’ A document that appears 10 have been produced during the
Khatani interrogation, however, stated that stress positions would “be employed,”™"! In addition,
2 2005 memo from the JTTF-GTMO Chief of Staff referencing the 2002 interrogation stated that
Khatani had “slight abrasions caused by stress positions and shackle restraints. ™"

. The November 22, 2002 plan identified by MG Miller as the final plan
described five phases to the interrogation.”® Phase I, which was added afier November 12,
called for the interrogators to “Induce and exploit Stockholm Syndrome” by establishing “an
isolated, austere environment where the detainee becomes completely dependent on the
interrogators and the irterrogator presents himself as a *caretaker’ of the detainee.”™ Dr. Gelles
‘said that the ides of inducing the Stockholm syndrome implied that “the subject feels that he is to
be killed and the information provided may in fact be distorted. ™™ ‘

Phase II of the November 22, 2002 plan (which is largely the same as Phase
[ of the earlier plan) stated that prior to the start of the first Phase II interrogation session,
Khatani’s head and beard would be shaved for “safety, hygiene and psychological purposes. 16
In addition, the plan stated that MG Miller had approved the use of hospital ganze to restrain the
detainee’s mouth to prevent him from becoming argumentative and verbally abusive.

** Comuiitice staff interview of David Becker (September 17, 2007).

had Methods Employed X-Ray Interrogation ISN 63(5) (Jarnsery 17, 2003). Army 1G, Interview of
(April 28, 2006). | .

" Contmittce staff interview of David Becker (Septomber 17, 2007).

3 Memo, 063 Plan of Attack: Phase I Bravo (mdated).

¥ Memo from COL John i Lo Staff, USSOUTHCOM, Executive Summary on Information
Concerning Detaines ISN- (Mareh 14, 2008). |

" Khatani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002),

M Khatani interroggtion plan (November 22, 2002). The Stockholm Syndrome refers to 8 peychological avent
where hostages begin o identify with and grow sympathetic to their captors. The syndrome draws its name from a
bank robbery and hostage situation in Stockholm, Sweden in 1973,

“! Review of JTF-GTMO Interrogation Plan Detainee 063 (November 22, 2002).
¢ Khatani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002).



Phase 111 of the November 22, 2002 plan was largely the same as Phase I of
the earher plan and proposed hnvmg a native linguist translator play the role of a detainee to
elicit information from Khatani.®

Phase IV of the November 22, 2002 plan —~ which described ﬂlﬁ use of
interrogation techniques based on thosé used in SERE school to increase U.S. personnel’s
resistance to illegal enemy interrogations — was virtually identical to the earlier plan and stated:

The fourth phase of the plan to exploit 063 [Khatani] requires [Office of the
Secretary of Defense] approval for the SERE interrogation technique training and
approval of the level three counter unm'ogahon resistance iraining submitted by
JTF-GTMO. Once the approvals are in placs, those interrogation techniques will
be implemented to encourage 063 to cooperate. The intent of raising the stakes to
this level is to convince 063 that it is futile to resist. Success of Fhase Il is when
his sense of futility is raised to a high enough level that source gives in and
provides the necessary information. Phase Il ends w:th success or a standstill,

after the exhaustion of all tools JTF GTMO has to offer.!

I Despite having approved the plan, MG Miller testified to the Army IG that he know
“little about SERE” and “wasn’t comfortable™ with SERE techniques.®"® However, MG Miller
acknowledged to the Committee that these techniques were included in the approved plan and
that, if the first three phases of the Khatam plan were unsuccessful, that he was willing to
consider the use of SERE teohmques

.'I‘he plan’s final phase, Phase V, maintained the same title “Coalition Exploitation™ as
Phase IV of the earlier plan but dxd not explicitly state an intention to render Khatani to a third
country, as did the carlier plan.®' Instead, under “Coslition Exploitation” the November 22,
2002 plan stated that:

The fifth phase of the plan to exploit 063 will be determined at the national,
interagency level where the future dispesition of 063 will be determined, ™

%7 Interrogation Pten for ISN: [N [Khstari] (November 15, 2002) (hereinafter “Khati interrogation
plan (Noverber 15, 2002)"); Khatani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002).

% hatani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002),

€ Army 18, Interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (March 26, 2006).

0 Committes staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (Decaraber 6, 2007).
! ¥hmani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002),

% Committes staff interview of MG Geoffrey Milter (Decetber 6, 2007).



q‘“ Nevertheless, the idea of transferring Khatani to a third

country was digcussed,

3 FBI and CITF Continue to Objéct to Khatani Interrogation Plan (U)

(U) On November 22, 2002 the FBI sent MQ Miller a memo that outlined FBI's
continuing concerns about JTF-GTMO interrogation techniques. The FBI also requested a
meeting with the Commander,® The memo stated:

Many of [JTF-GTMO’s] methods are considered coercive by Federal Law
Enforcement and UCMJ standards. Not only this,  but reports from those
knowledgeable about the use of these coercive techniques are highly skeptical as
to their effectiveness and reliability. ™’

(U) The memo stated further that the “FBCITF strongly beticves that the contiaued use
of diametrically opposed interrogation stratogies in GTMO will only weaken our efforts to obtain

valiable information "¢

(U) In late November, FBI agents at GTMO asked that their concerns about JTF-GTMO
interrogation techniques be relayed to Marion “Spike” Bowman, & senior attomey in the FBI's
Office of General Counsel.®®! Mr, Bowman said that “[a]s soon as ] heard from the [the FBI
agents] I talked with (now retired) Executive Asgistant Director Pat D’ Amuro who immediately
said we (the FBI) would not be a party to actions of any kind that were contrary to FBI policy
and that individuals should distance themselves from any such actions.”* Mr, Bowman also
recommended to FBI General Counsal Kenneth Wainstein that FBI relay the concerns to the
DoD General Counsel’s office. Mr. Bowman subsequently called the acting Dol) Deputy
General Counsel for Intelligence and believes he also spoke with the DoD Principal Deputy
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8 Khatani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002).

87 hid.; Committes ataff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (December 6, 2007). |

4 FRI Memorandum to ITF-170 Commendsr MG Geoffrey Miller (November 22, 2002). Despite the heading on
the memorandum, JTF-GTMO had replaced JTF-170 by the time this memo wes written. :
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General Counsel. DoD General Counsel Jim Has‘nes said that he did not recall being awere that
the FBI had contacted his office with concerns.®

(U) On December 2, 2002, an FBI Special Agent, who was also an attorney, sent his own
lepal analysis of the October 11, 2002 GTMO request to another Special Agent for forwarding to
Mr. Bowman® The FBI Special Agent referred to several techniques - such as all the Category
III techniques and several Category II techniques, including stress positions, hooding, removal of
clothing, 20 hour interrogations, and use of individual phobias (such as fear of dogs) to induce
siress — a8 “coercive interrogation techniques which are not permitted by the U.S.
Constitition.”™* The Special Agent's analysis also identified several techniques — including all
Category III techniques and two Category II techniques, i.e. hooding and use of phobias — as
“examples of coercive interrogation techniques which may violate 18 U.S.C. § 2340, (Torture
Statute)” and warned that “it is possible that those who employ these techniques may be indicted,
prosemxgﬁd, and possibly convicted if the trier of fact determines that the user had the requisite
intent.™ - :

(U) The following day, Mr. Bowman sent an email to another FBI Special Agent, stating
“[i]t is irrelevant whether these detainees are considered prisonera of war, they are still entitled to
minimal conditions of treatment — many of the techniques addressed appear to move well beyond
the minimal requirements . . . I concur that we can't control what the military is doing, but we
need to stand well clear of it and get as much information as possible to D' Amuro, Gebhart, and
Mueller as soon as possible.” Director MueHer said that he was not aware of the FBI's
concerns with DoD interrogation techniques at GTMO until May 2004.9

3 Committes staff interview of William J. Heynes I {April 25, 2008) at 236.
©4 Emgil from FBI Spacial Agent (December 2, 20072).
‘;;OFZ?I Memo, Legal Issues Re Intervogation Techmigues, attached 1o Email from FBI Special Agent (December 2,

€ Ihid.
©7 Bmail from Marion Bowman (December 3, 2002),

©¥ Current and Projected National Security Threats to the United States, Senate Select Committes on Intelligence,
109* Cong. (February 16, 2005).
 Committee staff interview of FHI Specinl Agent (Novernber 8, 2007).

0 Bmai] from FBI Special Agent (May 10, 2004).



The DoD Associate Deputy General Counse] for

International Affairs, Eliana Davidson, said that the FBI’s Unit Chief believed that efforts at
GTMO were not bem ductive and that he advocated for Khatani’s transfer during the

DoD General Counsel Jim Haynes said he did not
remember dxscussmg the possible rendition of Khatani, but that “it may have been
considered, ™

(U) CITF Deputy Commander Mark Fallon said that FBI proposed to CITF the idea of
rendering Khatani to a third conntry but that CITF “considered it possibly unlawful” and
opposed the proposal.®® He said CITF staff made Mr. Cobb aware of their concerns and that
Mr. Cobb supported the CITF position.

! Committee staff interview of FEI Special Agent (Novamber §, 2007).

“ Committec staff interview of Eliana Davidsan (May 23, 2008).

5° Committee staff interview of FEI Unit Chief (May 17, 2008)
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7 Committec staff interview of FBI Special Agent (November 8, 2007).

** Committee staff interview of William J. Haynes I (April 25, 2008) st 232, .
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(U) The same day the VTC took place, FBI's on-site supervisor and two Special Agents
met with MG Miller whete they again raised their concerns about JTF-GTMO interrogation
techniques. & One FBI Special Agent told the Committee that MG Miller thanked the FBI
personnel for their views, but told them that JTF-GTMO staff knew what they were doing.*”

(U) On December 9, 2002, another FBI Special Agent who attended the mecting sent an
email stating, “when I return to D'C'z’ 1 will bring a copy of the military’s interview plan [for
Khatani]... You won't believe it"®? Several months later he characterized the December 5,
2002 meeting with MG Miller: | '

Although [MG] Miller acknowledged positive aspects of [the FBI's approach to
interrogations] it was apparent that he favored [JTF-GTMO’s} interrogation
methods, despite FBI assertions that such methods conld easily result in the
elicitation of unreliable and legally inadmissible information. 65

I 117-G MO ICE Chief David Becker told the Committee that MG Miller asked him
at one point why the JTF was not using the FBI's approach, to which Mr. Becker replied that the
JTF had already tried the FBI approach, that it did not work, and that he wanted to be more
aggrcssive.m '

6 Khatani Interrogation Begins, CITF Directed To *Stand Clear” (U)

(U) On November 23, 2002, JTF-GTMO personnel took Khatani to Camp X-Rayto
begin Phase I of the intetrogation,®* Two days later, CITF attorney sent the
GTMO Staff Judge Advocate, LTC Diane Beaver, an email indicating that *CITF is not on board
with aggressive techniques including 20 hour [plus] interrogations. Therefore, according to our
policy, we will *stand clear’ and not offer participation, advisements, support of
racommendations as 1o its implementation.”™* CITF later drafted formal guidance for its agents
stating that “Detainees will be treated humanely. Physical torture, corporal punishment and
mental torture are not acceptable interrogation tactics and are ot allowed under any
circumstances... CTTF personnel will not participate in any interrogation that employs tactics
inconsistent with or in divect violation of this policy.™*"' .

0 o ormminss staff interview of FBI Special Agents (November 8, 2007).

&1 ~ommities staff interview of FBI Special Agent (November 8, 2007).

%% Email from FBI Special Agent (Decsmber 9, 2002).

9 Blectranic Communication from FB1 Behavioral Analysis Unit (RAU) (May 30, 2003).
&% ommittes staff imerview of David Becker (Scptember 17, 2007)

5 Army Regulstion 15-6; Final Report: Investigation Into FBI Allegations of Detainee Abusa At Guantanamo Bay,
gul:;n Wwﬁty prepared by Lt Gen. Randsl] Schrmidt and Brig. Gen. John Furlow (hereinafier “Schmidt-

%6 5onait o NNI] o 1.C Diane Beaver (November 25, 2002).

857 D CITF Memo for All Persenne! Assigned to the Dab Criminal Investigation Task Force, ALCITF
Memorandum 004-02, Intervogation Procedyras (Devember 16, 2002).
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